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The Directors are required by the Companies Act 2006 to prepare 
financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at the 
end of the financial year and of the profit or loss of the Group for the 
financial year. Under that law the Directors are required to prepare the 
Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) as adopted by the European Union 
(‘EU’) and have elected to prepare the Parent Company financial 
statements in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (UK Accounting Standards and applicable law).

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:

•	select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently;

•	make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent;

•	state whether IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and 
applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, 
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in 
the Group and Parent Company financial statements 
respectively; and

•	prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the 
Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records 
that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position 
of the Group and the Company and which enable them to ensure that 
the financial statements and the Directors’ Remuneration Report 
comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group 
financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They also have 
general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open  
to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and the Company  
and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the 
Company’s website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation 
and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation 
in other jurisdictions. 
 
The Directors consider that the Annual Report and Financial 
Statements, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable  
and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the 
Group’s and the Company’s performance, business model and strategy. 

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are set out  
on pages 28 and 29 confirm that, to the best of their knowledge:

•	 the Group financial statements, which have been prepared  
in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU, give a true  
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and loss 
of the Group; and

•	 the Strategic report contained within this document includes a 
fair review of the development and performance of the business  
and the position of the Group, together with a description of the 
principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.
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Our opinion
In our opinion, Tesco PLC’s Group financial statements (the 
‘financial statements’):
•	 give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s affairs  

as at 28 February 2015 and of its loss and cash flows for  
the 53 week period (the ‘period’) then ended;

•	 have been properly prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as adopted by the 
European Union; and

•	 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

What we have audited
Tesco PLC’s financial statements comprise:
•	 the Group balance sheet as at 28 February 2015;
•	 the Group income statement and the Group statement  

of comprehensive income for the period then ended;
•	 the Group cash flow statement for the period then ended;
•	 the Group statement of changes in equity for the period then 

ended; and
•	 the notes to the financial statements, which include a 

summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

Certain required disclosures have been presented elsewhere  
in the Annual Report, rather than in the notes to the financial 
statements. These are cross-referenced from the financial 
statements and are identified as audited.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the 
preparation of the financial statements is applicable law and  
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union.

Our audit approach

Overview
Materiality
Overall Group materiality for 2014/15 was £50 million, which  
was based on applying professional judgement, taking into 
consideration a number of profit based measures and the overall 
scale of the business. Overall Group materiality in 2013/14 was 
£150 million.

Audit scope
We conducted audit work over the complete financial information 
for 13 components across the UK, Europe and Asia. In addition 
specified procedures were carried out at the Group’s shared 
service centre in Bangalore.
 
The components that were part of our audit scope as set out 
above accounted for 99% (2013/14: 92%) of Group profit before 
tax before restructuring and other one off items and the reversal 
of commercial income recognised in previous periods.

Areas of focus
The following were areas of focus for our audit:
•	 recognition of commercial income; 
•	 commercial income – impact on prior years;
•	 impairment of property, plant and equipment;
•	 inventory;
•	 impairment of investments in associated undertakings;
•	 provisions and reserves in Tesco Bank;
•	 management override of controls; and
•	 compliance with laws and regulations.

The scope of our audit and our areas of focus
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (‘ISAs (UK and Ireland)’).

We designed our audit by determining materiality and assessing 
the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements.  
In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective 
judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting 
estimates that involved making assumptions and considering 
future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, 
we also addressed the risk of management override of internal 
controls, including evaluating whether there was evidence of bias 
by the directors that represented a risk of material misstatement 
due to fraud.
 
The risks of material misstatement that had the greatest effect  
on our audit, including the allocation of our resources and effort,  
are identified as ‘areas of focus’ in the table below. We have also  
set out how we tailored our audit to address these specific areas  
in order to provide an opinion on the financial statements as a 
whole, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures 
should be read in this context. This is not a complete list of all risks 
identified by our audit.
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Area of focus How our audit addressed the area of focus

Recognition of commercial income

Refer to page 37 (Audit Committee Report), page 88 (Accounting 
Policies).

Tesco has agreements with suppliers whereby discounts and rebates 
are received retrospectively according to the quantity of goods 
bought and promotional and marketing activity performed in stores 
and online.
 
We focused on this area as this income contributes a significant 
amount to the Group results and also due to the fact that these 
agreements can include a number of characteristics that require 
judgement to be applied in determining the appropriate 
accounting based on the terms of the agreement. There may  
also be incentives for buyers to manipulate the timing of when 
commercial income is recognised to meet internal targets.
 
Our audit procedures focused, in particular, on the following 
judgements:
•	 the period which the agreements cover and hence the correct 

period for recognition;
•	 the determination of volume achieved and the applicable 

rebate income earned; and
•	 the appropriate recognition of income related to one off 

agreements and marketing and promotional activity. 

This risk was heightened during the period following the  
Group’s announcement on 22 September 2014 relating to  
the misstatement of commercial income. As a result of this 
announcement our audit in 2014/15 also considered the impact 
on prior period financial statements of the issues identified 
during the current period.

As with any significant audit risk, we understood and evaluated  
the controls that the Group has in place around commercial 
income. Given the announcement in September 2014 we did not 
seek to place any significant reliance on the operating effectiveness 
of the controls and our work in 2014/15 in the UK and around the 
world principally comprised substantive testing.
 
Our response to this risk included an understanding of the work 
carried out by Tesco Internal Audit and also the scope and results  
of the work carried out by Deloitte, who were appointed by the 
directors to perform an independent review of the commercial 
income misstatement.

In the UK we also used our specialist forensic knowledge to help 
corroborate the misstatement of commercial income announced 
by the Group, provide information relating to prior periods and 
assess the reliability of support provided by management.

Our audit approach and results of our work on Commercial Income 
were discussed on a number of occasions with the Audit Committee. 

As part of our review of component teams’ audit work, the Group 
engagement team was specifically involved in determining the audit 
approach in this area in order to be satisfied that sufficient focus  
was placed on the more judgemental areas. As a result of this 
involvement we were satisfied that, whilst complex, this area was 
well understood and there was sufficient focus on this area of risk. 

Our audit procedures across individual countries included a 
combination of the following substantive testing, on a sample basis:

•	 detailed testing of commercial income recognised in the 
period, with particular attention to whether the income was 
recognised in the correct period and the appropriateness of 
accrued commercial income at the period end. This involved 
selecting a sample of amounts invoiced and accrued in the 
period and agreeing them to supporting documentation and 
third party evidence. Where available we inspected underlying 
contractual terms and/or related third party correspondence  
for a selection of arrangements. We also held a number of 
discussions with members of Tesco’s commercial buying team 
to understand the nature of individual agreements;

•	 confirming the quantum and nature of a sample of individual 
commercial income agreements directly with suppliers. Where 
confirmations were not received from suppliers we examined 
alternative supporting documentation;

•	 testing that amounts have been recognised in the correct 
period through examining active promotional deals in-store 
and online either side of the period end and ensuring that the 
related income was recognised in the correct period;

•	 testing credit notes issued during the period and post period 
end to determine whether the income to which they related has 
been appropriately reversed;

•	 testing supplier statement reconciliations prepared by 
management for a sample of suppliers; and

•	 inspecting the ‘Groceries Supplier Code of Practice’ (GSCOP) 
reporting and any complaints from suppliers. 

The above audit procedures did not identify any matters that 
resulted in a significant audit adjustment. 
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Area of focus How our audit addressed the area of focus

Commercial income – impact on prior periods

Refer to page 37 (Audit Committee Report), page 88 (Accounting 
Policies) and page 99 (notes).

The Group has stated in its financial statements that commercial 
income recognised in previous periods was overstated by £53 
million in 2013/14 and by £155 million in the periods prior to 
2013/14. The directors have concluded that it is not possible to 
determine the exact amounts relating to prior periods and exactly 
which periods are affected. Management has however produced 
a quantitative and qualitative estimate of the amounts relating  
to prior periods.

Having estimated the amounts of potential misstatement relating 
to prior periods, the directors then assessed whether these 
amounts are material such that the prior period financial 
statements would require restatement. The directors concluded 
that the amounts relating to prior periods, whilst significant, were 
not, from an accounting perspective, material and consequently 
that it is not necessary to restate the 2013/14 financial statements.

We challenged and evaluated management’s quantitative and 
qualitative analysis of amounts relating to prior periods and, whilst 
judgemental, we considered that assessment to be reasonable.  
The estimated impact on 2013/14 profits was £53 million, which was 
below our profit based materiality of £150 million that we 
determined applicable for the 2013/14 audit. The estimated impact 
on the 22 February 2014 and 23 February 2013 balance sheets was 
£208 million and £155 million respectively, both of which are less 
than 0.5% of the Group’s total assets at each respective period end. 
The basis on which we considered materiality relating to prior period 
items is explained further below.

After considering carefully the nature and the quantum of the 
estimated amounts relating to prior periods we concurred with the 
directors that these amounts, whilst significant, were not material 
and the prior period financial statements did not require restating. 
The estimated impact on prior periods has been charged to the 
income statement in the current period and the Group has 
separately identified this as a one-off item. We concurred with this 
accounting treatment and are supportive of the detailed disclosures 
made in the Annual Report about the impact of the misstatement on 
the prior periods’ financial statements. 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Refer to page 37 (Audit Committee Report), page 88 (Accounting 
Policies) and page 108 (notes).

The directors have recorded an impairment charge of £4,292 
million against the carrying value of property, plant and 
equipment across the Group.

We focused on this area because the determination of whether  
or not an impairment charge for property, plant and equipment 
was necessary involved significant judgements by the directors 
about the future results of the business and assessment of future 
plans for the Group’s property portfolio in a number of territories.

In particular we focused on the reasonableness and impact of key 
assumptions including:
•	 the cash flow forecasts derived from internal forecasts and 

the assumptions around the future performance;
•	 the discount rate and the long term growth rate including  

the assessment of risk factors and growth expectations  
of the relevant territory; and

•	 the assumptions used in the valuations prepared to support 
the fair value of certain assets and also the assessment of  
the external valuers as management’s expert. 

We evaluated management’s impairment calculations in local 
territories, assessing the future cash flow forecasts used in the 
models, and the process by which they were drawn up, including 
comparing them to the latest Board approved budgets, and  
we tested the mechanics of the underlying calculations. We 
understood and challenged:
•	 the assumptions used in the Group’s five-year Plan and the 

long term growth rates by comparing them to economic and 
industry forecasts;

•	 the discount rate by assessing the cost of capital and other 
inputs and comparable organisations; and

•	 the assumptions used by the external valuers to determine  
the fair market value of the assets.

 
In performing the above work we utilised our specialist forecasting 
and valuations knowledge to provide challenge and external market 
data points to assess the reasonableness of the assumptions used  
by management.
 
We performed sensitivity analysis around the key drivers of growth 
rates within the cash flow forecasts to ascertain the extent of 
change in those assumptions that either individually or collectively 
would be required for the assets to be further impaired and also 
considered the likelihood of such a movement in those key 
assumptions arising.

Whilst recognising that cash flow forecasting, impairment modelling 
and property valuations are all inherently judgemental, we concluded 
that the assumptions used by management were within an acceptable 
range of reasonable estimates.
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Area of focus How our audit addressed the area of focus

Inventory

Refer to page 37 (Audit Committee Report), page 88 (Accounting 
Policies) and page 113 (notes).

The Group held inventory of £2,957 million at 28 February 2015. 
The valuation of inventory was a focus of our audit for the 
following reasons:
•	 the Group has changed its provisioning methodology for 

slow moving inventory from an approach based on inventory 
ageing to one based on forecast inventory usage. The new 
method of estimating provisions for realisable value requires 
judgement as it applies provisioning percentages to estimates 
of future sales. The impact of this ‘change in estimate’ has 
been charged to the income statement in the current period 
and, at £323 million, is material; and

•	 the Group has also revised its methodology for including 
directly attributable overheads within its determination of  
the cost of inventory. These overheads relate to additional 
costs incurred through the distribution and in-store processes 
of bringing inventory to its final destination. This change  
has involved both a ‘change in accounting policy’ in respect  
of the type of overheads included and also a ‘change in 
estimate’ of the quantum of costs to include. The directors 
have determined that the element relating to the type of 
overheads included, which, as a change in accounting policy 
would normally be reflected retrospectively in the prior period 
financial statements, is not material. The directors have 
therefore recorded the impact of this change in accounting 
policy (£59 million) in the current period income statement 
along with the impact of the change in estimate of the 
quantum of costs to include (£109 million).

In addition, given the value of the inventory balance in the  
UK retail business (£1,637 million) our UK component team 
identified the existence of inventory to be a particular area  
of focus for its audit. 

We examined the basis of the new methodology with respect to 
slow moving inventory provisions and the appropriateness of the 
provisioning percentages applicable to individual categories of 
inventory. We determined that the new methodology of estimating 
inventory provisions was acceptable. This change in methodology 
represents a change in estimate and consequently recording the 
impact in the current period income statement is appropriate. We 
also agreed that the disclosure of the impact of this change as a 
‘one-off’ cost is appropriate.

We examined the changes the Group has made to its assessment  
of costs directly related to bringing inventory to its final destination 
(and hence included in the cost of inventory). The new methodology 
remains compliant with Accounting Standards. We concurred with 
the directors that the amounts relating to the changes made to the 
types of costs which are capitalised in inventory are not material  
to the Group’s financial statements and consequently recording 
the impact of this change in accounting policy along with the 
impact of the change in estimate in the current period income 
statement is acceptable. We also agreed that the disclosure of  
the impact of these changes as a ‘one-off’ cost is appropriate.

We attended physical inventory counts in all countries within the 
scope of our audit. In the UK we attended 93 physical inventory 
counts during the period, performing our own sample counts and 
checking that the accounting records reflected these physical 
counts. The counting differences identified, which were immaterial, 
were adjusted in the accounting records and these differences were 
at a level consistent with the normal shrinkage provisions held  
by Tesco UK. 

Impairment of investment in associated undertakings

Refer to page 37 (Audit Committee Report), page 88 (Accounting 
Policies) and page 112 (notes).

During the period the Group completed the transaction with 
China Resources Enterprises Limited (CRE) to combine their 
respective Chinese retail operations. The Group holds a 20% 
equity interest in the enlarged retail operations and accounts  
for this interest as an associated undertaking.

Following a reduction in the trading performance of the 
combined business in China management has performed  
an impairment review of the carrying value and recorded  
an impairment charge in the current period of £630 million. 

We focused on this area due to the significant and complex 
judgements (both valuation techniques and underlying internal 
and external assumptions) required over determining the fair 
value of the Group’s associate in China. 

We assessed and challenged the valuation approach and 
assumptions used by the third party valuer commissioned by  
the directors. This included understanding and challenging the 
independence, scope of work, growth rate and discount rate 
assumptions of the directors’ third party valuation expert.

We have considered the historic and forecast macro-economic and 
food retail sector performance and conditions in China.

We have also considered the implied revenue and profit multiples 
generated by the external valuation and compared them to other 
comparable companies operating in the food retail sector in China. 

Whilst recognising that valuing businesses is inherently judgemental 
we concluded that the valuation determined by the directors from 
the third party valuation was within an acceptable range.
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Area of focus How our audit addressed the area of focus

Provisions and reserves in Tesco Bank

Refer to page 37 (Audit Committee Report), page 88 (Accounting 
Policies) and page 125 (notes).

We focused on this area because the directors make complex  
and subjective judgements over both timing of recognition  
of provisions for impairment and other regulatory matters  
and the estimate of the quantum of any such amounts. 

The areas we particularly focused on were:
•	 loan and credit card impairment provisions which are judgemental 

and material. Judgement is required to assess factors such as the 
loss given default, probability of default and loss emergence period 
before arriving at an impairment provision;

•	 provisions for customer redress (PPI and Consumer Credit Act) 
which is an area where there continues to be a high level  
of judgement with changes to key assumptions as actual 
experience is taken into consideration having the potential  
to materially alter the level of provision recognised; and

•	 Tesco Underwriting Limited insurance reserving which 
continues to be an area of judgement, with a number of 
assumptions inputting into the overall reserve amounts. 

We assessed and challenged management’s assumptions for loan 
and credit card impairment, particularly the level of recovery on 
historically defaulted receivables and the level of more recent 
defaults, testing whether they are supportable by reference to  
internal historical financial information, external market data  
or robust management rationale.
 
We assessed and challenged the assumptions made by management 
in calculating the provisions for customer redress. We examined 
historical data to assess whether trends in customer claims have  
been appropriately reflected in the provisions. We read legal advice 
received by Tesco Bank to corroborate the basis on which the 
provisions were calculated.

We evaluated the work performed by independent actuaries  
and challenged the key assumptions the directors have made  
for insurance reserving by using our market knowledge of the  
UK Motor and Household insurance products.

As a result of our work we considered the above provisions  
and reserves in Tesco Bank to be within an acceptable range  
of reasonable estimates.

Management override of controls

Refer to page 37 (Audit Committee Report).

As described in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 32 
and 33, matters surrounding the commercial income issue are 
now the subject of an investigation by the Serious Fraud Office 
(SFO) in the UK. We considered the impact of the override of 
controls relating to those matters. As explained above we focused 
on this area and our testing was designed to ensure we 
appropriately addressed the risk of material misstatement.

The challenges faced by the Group this year have caused the 
directors to examine closely those areas of the financial 
statements where higher levels of management judgement  
are required. There is a risk that an undue level of conservatism 
could have been applied when drawing conclusions from this 
examination. We considered this risk when auditing judgemental 
areas, and in our overall review of whether the financial 
statements presented a true and fair view. 

We assessed the overall control environment of the Group, with  
a particular focus on changes introduced since the Group’s 
announcement in September 2014 relating to the commercial 
income misstatement. Our procedures included: 
 
•	 understanding the overall governance and oversight process 

including the independence and objectivity of those charged  
with governance and the quality and timeliness of the information 
provided to them. In particular we considered how the oversight 
process had been impacted by the several recent changes in Board 
and senior management positions;

•	 consideration of the Group’s code of conduct and whistle-blowing 
processes and the communication of these across the Group. Since 
the September 2014 announcement, the Board has initiated a 
Group wide communication programme emphasising the 
importance of culture, integrity and ethics. We read the associated 
communications and considered the impact of the programme;

•	 examining the scope and results of the work carried out by Internal 
Audit. Following the September 2014 announcement, Internal Audit 
completed its scheduled programme of work to perform a review  
of the UK commercial income process, and to examine controls 
around other areas of significant accounting judgement. We took 
account of the results of this work when planning and performing 
our audit procedures; and

•	 evaluating the specific changes made to the commercial income 
processes and controls, and the staff training used to launch  
these changes. These changes were made mid-way through the 
accounting period and did not operate fully throughout the period. 
We therefore did not place any significant reliance on these controls 
as part of our 2014/15 audit of commercial income. 

We also tested manual journal entries and incorporated an element 
of unpredictability in the timing of our work and the selection of our 
samples into our testing plans.

We examined the significant accounting estimates and judgements 
relevant to the financial statements for evidence of bias by the directors 
that represented a risk of material misstatement. These estimates 
included the areas of impairment and provisioning as set out in the 
areas of focus above. As shown by our overall opinion on the financial 
statements, we were satisfied that the level of conservatism remains 
within an acceptable range. 
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Area of focus How our audit addressed the area of focus

Compliance with laws and regulations

Refer to page 37 (Audit Committee Report).

Tesco is currently under investigation by the SFO in the UK 
following the September 2014 announcement relating  
to the commercial income misstatement. The outcome  
of this investigation will not be known for some time. However 
should fines be levied as a result, these could be material. 

We focused on this area given the level of judgement required  
by the directors in assessing whether a provision for future fines  
is required at this time.

We met with Tesco internal and external legal teams to understand 
and discuss the status of any legal claims.

We read the minutes of Board meetings and the Executive 
Committee to consider whether the directors are aware of  
amounts that should be provided for.

We read the disclosures made in the Annual Report relating to the 
SFO investigation. 

We obtained confirmation from the directors (via the management 
representation letter) that no provisions are required at this stage.

How we tailored the audit scope
In identifying these areas of focus and in ensuring that we 
performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the 
financial statements as a whole, we took into account: the 
geographic structure of the Group; the accounting processes and 
controls; and the industry in which the Group operates, and 
tailored the scope of our audit accordingly. 

The Group’s accounting process is structured around a local 
finance function in each geographical location and a shared 
service centre in Bangalore, India that carries out shared services 
activities for some of the locations. Each of the local finance 
functions report into the central Group finance function. The  
local finance functions consist of 19 operating and head office 
reporting units and a number of joint ventures and associates.  
The geographical locations and the shared service centre maintain 
their own accounting records and controls and report to the  
Group finance team through an integrated consolidation system. 

In establishing the overall approach to the Group audit, we 
determined which locations were significant to the Group’s results 
either due to size or their risk characteristics. Accordingly we 
identified six trading units and the head office reporting unit for 
which we determined that we needed to conduct audit work over 
the complete financial information. These seven reporting units 
were the UK, Turkey, Korea, Thailand, Tesco Bank, Dunnhumby  
and the Group head office and accounted for 99% of the Group’s 
profit before tax before restructuring and other one-off items and 
the reversal of commercial income recognised in previous periods,  
of which the main UK trading business contributed 20%. Audits  
of the complete financial information were also performed for a 
further six trading units where there are local statutory reporting 
requirements. These trading units were Republic of Ireland, Czech 
Republic, Slovakia, Poland, Hungary and Malaysia. In each 
geographical location we used PwC component auditors to audit 
and report on the complete financial information of the unit in that 
location. In relation to the shared service centre in Bangalore each 
component auditor instructed specified audit procedures be 
performed over the balances and transactions processed that were 
relevant to their reporting location and required for the purposes  
of auditing the complete financial information for that location. 

Where the work was performed by component auditors, under  
our instruction, we determined the level of involvement we 
needed to have in the audit work at those reporting locations  
to be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on  
the Group financial statements as a whole.

The Group consolidation, financial statement disclosures and 
financial statement items accounted for centrally, including 
derivative financial instruments, hedge accounting, goodwill 
impairment, and share based payments were also audited by  
the Group engagement team at the head office. 

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of 
materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. 
These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to 
determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and 
extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of 
misstatements, both individually and on the financial statements 
as a whole. In addition, we used our quantitative assessment of 
materiality when assessing the impact of identified misstatements 
arising during the period that could have an impact on the current 
period and/or the prior period.

•	 where misstatements were identified which related to the 
current period income statement the quantitative materiality 
set out in the table below (£50 million) was used to determine 
whether misstatements should be adjusted. For misstatements 
that did not impact profits and only affected the balance sheet 
we did not consider it appropriate to use a standard, profit 
based measure of materiality and our quantitative assessment 
had regard to whether the misstatement was above 5% of  
the balance sheet line to which it related and/or 1% of total 
assets; and

•	 where misstatements were identified in the current period 
which related to financial statements issued in prior periods 
(for example the commercial income issue described above) 
we considered the quantitative materiality of these items in 
two ways – by considering the impact on previously reported 
profits against the profit based materiality we determined in 
the previous period (in 2013/14 this was £150 million) and also 
the impact on the previously reported balance sheet using the 
balance sheet metrics referred to in the previous bullet.

For all misstatements we also considered whether their nature  
or other qualitative factors meant that they were material.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality 
for the financial statements as a whole as follows:
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Overall Group Materiality £50 million (2013/14: £150 million).

How we determined it Professional judgement having applied benchmark percentages to a number of profit measures  
and considering the overall scale of the business.

Overall Group materiality in 2013/14 was £150 million, which represented approximately 5% of profit 
before tax adjusted for restructuring and one-off items.

Rationale for benchmark 
applied

Given the significant reduction in the Group’s profits compared to the prior period we considered 
materiality in a number of different ways, including:
•	 the methodology we used in the prior period, namely 5% of statutory profit before tax adjusted 

for restructuring and one-off items. This would have resulted in an indicative overall materiality  
of £22 million; and

•	 our standard benchmark of 5% applied to a three period average of statutory profit before  
tax adjusted for restructuring and one-off items. This would resulted in an indicative overall 
materiality of £117 million. 

In our professional judgement, we concluded that the higher end of the range (£117 million) would 
encompass amounts which, if impacting reported profits, could influence decisions made by 
 the company’s members as a body, and which therefore would be considered material. We also 
concluded, in our professional judgement that amounts at the lower end of the range (£22 million) 
would not influence such decisions, given the scale of Tesco’s operations. We therefore determined 
that an appropriate level of materiality for performing the 2014/15 audit would be within this range, 
whilst at neither the upper nor lower ends. Based on our professional judgement, we selected an 
overall materiality level of £50 million.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report  
to them misstatements identified during our audit above  
£2.5 million (2013/14: £7 million) as well as misstatements  
below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting  
for qualitative reasons.

Going concern
Under the Listing Rules we are required to review the directors’ 
statement, set out on page 71, in relation to going concern.  
We have nothing to report having performed our review.

As noted in the directors’ statement, the directors have concluded 
that it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements using  
the going concern basis of accounting. The going concern basis 
presumes that the Group has adequate resources to remain  
in operation, and that the directors intend it to do so, for at least 

one year from the date the financial statements were signed.  
As part of our audit we have concluded that the directors’  
use of the going concern basis is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be 
predicted, these statements are not a guarantee as to the  
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Other required reporting

Consistency of other information
Companies Act 2006 opinion
In our opinion, the information given in the Strategic Report and  
the Directors’ Report for the financial period for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

ISAs (UK and Ireland) reporting

Under ISAs (UK and Ireland) we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

•	 information in the Annual Report is:
−− materially inconsistent with the information in the audited financial statements; or
−− apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, our 
knowledge of the Group acquired in the course of performing our audit; or

−− otherwise misleading.

We have no exceptions to report arising 
from this responsibility.

•	 the statement given by the directors on page 74, in accordance with Code Provision 
C.1.1, that they consider the Annual Report taken as a whole to be fair, balanced and 
understandable and provides the information necessary for members to assess the 
Group’s performance, business model and strategy is materially inconsistent with  
our knowledge of the Group acquired in the course of performing our audit.

We have no exceptions to report arising 
from this responsibility.

•	 the section of the Annual Report on pages 37 to 39, as required by Code Provision  
C.3.8, describing the work of the Audit Committee does not appropriately address 
matters communicated by us to the Audit Committee.

We have no exceptions to report arising 
from this responsibility.
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Adequacy of information and explanations received
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you  
if, in our opinion, we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit. We have no exceptions  
to report arising from this responsibility.
 
Directors’ remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you  
if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration 
specified by law are not made. We have no exceptions to report 
arising from this responsibility.

Corporate governance statement
Under the Listing Rules we are required to review the part  
of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the parent 
company’s compliance with ten provisions of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code. We have nothing to report having performed 
our review.

Responsibilities for the financial statements  
and the audit

Our responsibilities and those of the directors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities 
Statement on page 74, the directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied  
that they give a true and fair view.

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and ISAs 
(UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the 
Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. This 
report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for 
the company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 
of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. 
We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility 
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report  
is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly 
agreed by our prior consent in writing.

What an audit of financial statements involves
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts  
and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This 
includes an assessment of:

•	 whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s 
circumstances and have been consistently applied  
and adequately disclosed;

•	 the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made 
by the directors; and

•	 the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing the 
directors’ judgements against available evidence, forming  
our own judgements, and evaluating the disclosures in the 
financial statements.

We test and examine information, using sampling and other 
auditing techniques, to the extent we consider necessary to 
provide a reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtain 
audit evidence through testing the effectiveness of controls, 
substantive procedures or a combination of both.
 
In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information 
in the Annual Report to identify material inconsistencies with  
the audited financial statements and to identify any information 
that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially 
inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course  
of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent 
material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the 
implications for our report.

Other matter
We have reported separately on the parent company financial 
statements of Tesco PLC for the 53 week period ended  
28 February 2015 and on the information in the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited.

Mark Gill (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London
5 May 2015
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53 weeks ended 28 February 2015 Notes

53 weeks
2015

£m

52 weeks
2014

£m

Continuing operations

Revenue 2 62,284 63,557

Cost of sales (64,396) (59,547)

Gross (loss)/profit (2,112) 4,010

Administrative expenses (2,695) (1,657)

(Losses)/profits arising on property-related items (985) 278

Operating (loss)/profit (5,792) 2,631

Share of post-tax (losses)/profits of joint ventures and associates 13 (13) 60

Finance income 5 90 132

Finance costs 5 (661) (564)

(Loss)/profit before tax 3 (6,376) 2,259

Taxation 6 657 (347)

(Loss)/profit for the year from continuing operations (5,719) 1,912

Discontinued operations

Loss for the year from discontinued operations 7 (47) (942)

(Loss)/profit for the year (5,766) 970

Attributable to:

Owners of the parent (5,741) 974

Non-controlling interests (25) (4)

 (5,766) 970

(Losses)/earnings per share from continuing and discontinued operations
Basic 9 (70.82)p 12.07p

Diluted 9 (70.82)p 12.06p

(Losses)/earnings per share from continuing operations
Basic 9 (70.24)p 23.75p

Diluted 9 (70.24)p 23.72p

Non-GAAP measure: underlying profit before tax

Notes

53 weeks
2015

£m

52 weeks
2014

£m

(Loss)/profit before tax (6,376) 2,259

Adjustments for:

Total restructuring and other one-off items 3 6,814 801

Reversal of commercial income recognised in previous years:

Recognised in 13/14 3 53 –

Recognised in years prior to 13/14 3 155 –

Other items 3 315 (6)

Underlying profit before tax 961 3,054

The notes on pages 88 to 138 form part of these financial statements.
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53 weeks ended 28 February 2015 Notes

53 weeks
2015

£m

52 weeks
2014

£m

Items that will not be reclassified to income statement

Remeasurements on defined benefit pension schemes 26 (1,473) (713)

Tax on items that will not be reclassified 6 291 67

(1,182) (646)

Items that may subsequently be reclassified to income statement

Change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets and investments (8) (4)

Currency translation differences:

Retranslation of net assets 5 (1,102)

Movements in foreign exchange reserve and net investment hedging on subsidiary disposed, reclassified and reported in the 
Group Income Statement

 (17) –

Gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges:

Net fair value losses (2) (235)

Reclassified and reported in the Group Income Statement 102 61

Tax on items that may be reclassified 6 (7) 97

73 (1,183)

Total other comprehensive loss for the year (1,109) (1,829)

(Loss)/profit for the year (5,766) 970

Total comprehensive loss for the year (6,875) (859)

Attributable to:

Owners of the parent  (6,850) (848)

Non-controlling interests  (25) (11)

Total comprehensive loss for the year (6,875) (859)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to owners of the parent arises from:

Continuing operations (6,794) 138

Discontinued operations (56) (986)

(6,850) (848)

The notes on pages 88 to 138 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes

28 February
2015

£m

22 February
2014

£m

Non-current assets

Goodwill and other intangible assets  10 3,771 3,795

Property, plant and equipment  11 20,440 24,490

Investment property  12 164 227

Investments in joint ventures and associates  13 940 286

Other investments  14 975 1,015

Loans and advances to customers 17 3,906 3,210

Derivative financial instruments  21 1,546 1,496

Deferred tax assets  6 514 73

  32,256 34,592

Current assets

Inventories 15 2,957 3,576

Trade and other receivables 16 2,121 2,190

Loans and advances to customers 17 3,814 3,705

Derivative financial instruments  21 153 80

Current tax assets 16 12

Short-term investments 593 1,016

Cash and cash equivalents  18 2,165 2,506

 11,819 13,085

Assets of the disposal groups and non-current assets classified as held for sale  7 139 2,487

 11,958 15,572

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables  19 (9,922) (10,595)

Borrowings  20 (2,008) (1,910)

Derivative financial instruments and other liabilities  21 (89) (99)

Customer deposits and deposits from banks 23 (7,020) (6,858)

Current tax liabilities (95) (494)

Provisions 24 (671) (250)

(19,805) (20,206)

Liabilities of the disposal groups classified as held for sale 7 (5) (1,193)

Net current liabilities (7,852) (5,827)

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings  20 (10,651) (9,303)

Derivative financial instruments and other liabilities  21 (946) (770)

Post-employment benefit obligations  26 (4,842) (3,193)

Deferred tax liabilities  6 (199) (594)

Provisions  24 (695) (183)

  (17,333) (14,043)

Net assets  7,071 14,722

Equity

Share capital  27 406 405

Share premium  5,094 5,080

All other reserves (414) (498)

Retained earnings  1,985 9,728

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 7,071 14,715

Non-controlling interests – 7

Total equity 7,071 14,722

The notes on pages 88 to 138 form part of these financial statements.

Dave Lewis 
Alan Stewart

Directors
The financial statements on pages 83 to 138 were authorised for issue by the Directors on 5 May 2015 and are subject to the approval of the shareholders  
at the Annual General Meeting on 26 June 2015.
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All other reserves

Share
capital

£m

Share
premium 

£m

Other
reserves

£m

Capital
redemption

reserve 
£m

Hedging 
reserve

£m

Translation
reserve

£m

Treasury 
shares 

£m

Retained 
earnings 

£m
Total 

£m

Non-
controlling 

interests 
£m

Total 
equity 

£m

At 22 February 2014 405 5,080 40 16 (44) (490) (20) 9,728 14,715 7 14,722

Loss for the year – – – – – – – (5,741) (5,741) (25) (5,766)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income

Change in fair value of available-for-sale 
financial assets and investments – – – – – – – (8) (8) – (8)

Retranslation of net assets – – – – – 5 – – 5 – 5

Movements in foreign exchange reserve and 
net investment hedging on subsidiary 
disposed, reclassified and reported in the 
Group Income Statement – – – – – (17) – – (17) – (17)

Remeasurement losses on defined benefit  
pension schemes – – – – – – – (1,473) (1,473) – (1,473)

Gains on cash flow hedges – – – – 100 – – – 100 – 100

Tax relating to components of other 
comprehensive income – – – – (21) 14 – 291 284 – 284

Total other comprehensive (loss)/income – – – – 79 2 – (1,190) (1,109) – (1,109)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income – – – – 79 2 – (6,931) (6,850) (25) (6,875)

Transactions with owners

Purchase of treasury shares – – – – – – (15) – (15) – (15)

Share-based payments – – – – – – 18 102 120 – 120

Issue of shares 1 14 – – – – – – 15 – 15

Dividends – – – – – – – (914) (914) – (914)

Changes in non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – – 18 18

Tax on items charged to equity – – – – – – – – – – –

Total transactions with owners 1 14 – – – – 3 (812) (794) 18 (776)

At 28 February 2015 406 5,094 40 16 35 (488) (17) 1,985 7,071 – 7,071

All other reserves

Share
capital

£m

Share
premium 

£m

Other
reserves

£m

Capital
redemption

reserve 
£m

Hedging 
reserve

£m

Translation
reserve

£m

Treasury 
shares 

£m

Retained 
earnings 

£m
Total

£m

Non-
controlling 

interests 
£m

Total 
equity 

£m

At 23 February 2013 403 5,020 40 16 91 547 (9) 10,535 16,643 18 16,661

Profit for the year – – – – – – – 974 974 (4) 970

Other comprehensive (loss)/income

Change in fair value of available-for-sale 
financial assets and investments – – – – – – – (4) (4) – (4)

Retranslation of net assets – – – – – (1,095) – – (1,095) (7) (1,102)

Remeasurement losses on defined benefit  
pension schemes – – – – – – – (713) (713) – (713)

Losses on cash flow hedges – – – – (174) – – – (174) – (174)

Tax relating to components of other 
comprehensive income – – – – 39 58 – 67 164 – 164

Total other comprehensive (loss)/income – – – – (135) (1,037) – (650) (1,822) (7) (1,829)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income – – – – (135) (1,037) – 324 (848) (11) (859)

Transactions with owners

Purchase of treasury shares – – – – – – (12) – (12) – (12)

Share-based payments – – – – – – 1 58 59  – 59

Issue of shares 2 60 – – – – – – 62 – 62

Dividends – – – – – – – (1,189) (1,189) – (1,189)

Tax on items charged to equity – – – – – – – – – – –

Total transactions with owners 2 60 – – – – (11) (1,131) (1,080) – (1,080)

At 22 February 2014 405 5,080 40 16 (44) (490) (20) 9,728 14,715 7 14,722

The notes on pages 88 to 138 form part of these financial statements.
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53 weeks ended 28 February 2015 Notes

53 weeks
2015

£m

52 weeks
2014

£m

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 29 1,467 4,316

Interest paid (613) (496)

Corporation tax paid (370) (635)

Net cash generated from operating activities 484 3,185

Cash flows from investing activities 

Acquisition/disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired/disposed 31 (243) (13)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment, investment property, intangible assets and non-current assets  
classified as held for sale 244 570

Purchase of property, plant and equipment, investment property and non-current assets  
classified as held for sale (1,989) (2,489)

Purchase of intangible assets (329) (392)

Net repayment of loans by joint ventures and associates 21 61

Investments in joint ventures and associates (382) (12)

Net proceeds from sale of/(investments in) short-term investments 423 (494)

Net proceeds from sale of/(investments in) other investments 48 (268)

Dividends received from joint ventures and associates 88 62

Interest received 104 121

Net cash used in investing activities (2,015) (2,854)

Cash flows from financing activities 

Proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital 27 15 62

Increase in borrowings 4,883 3,104

Repayment of borrowings (3,185) (1,912)

Repayment of obligations under finance leases (3) (9)

Rights issue to non-controlling interests 18 –

Dividends paid to equity owners 8 (914) (1,189)

Net cash from financing activities 814 56

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (717) 387

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 2,813 2,531

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 78 (105)

Cash and cash equivalents including cash held in disposal groups at the end of the year 2,174 2,813

Cash held in disposal groups 7 (9) (307)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 18 2,165 2,506

The notes on pages 88 to 138 form part of these financial statements.
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Critical estimates and assumptions that are applied in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements include:

Depreciation and amortisation
The Group exercises judgement to determine useful lives and residual values 
of intangibles, property, plant and equipment and investment property.  
The assets are depreciated down to their residual values over their estimated 
useful lives. 

Impairment
a) Impairment of goodwill
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment.  
The recoverable amount of the cash-generating units are based on the higher 
of value in use and fair value less cost of disposal. These calculations require 
the use of estimates as set out in Note 10.

b) Impairment of assets
The Group has determined each store as a separate cash-generating unit for 
impairment testing. Where there are indicators of impairment, the Group 
performs an impairment test. Recoverable amounts for cash-generating 
units are based on the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of 
disposal. Value in use is calculated from cash flow projections generally  
over five years using data from the Group’s latest internal forecasts, and 
extrapolated beyond five years using estimated long-term growth rates. 
These calculations require the use of estimates as set out in Note 11. Fair 
value is determined by independent, professional valuers where appropriate.

c) Impairment of loans and advances to customers and banks
The Group’s loan impairment provisions are established to recognise incurred 
impairment losses in its portfolio of loans classified as loans and receivables  
and carried at amortised cost. These calculations require the use of estimates  
as set out in the accounting policy note for impairment of loans and 
advances to customers.

Commercial income
Accounting for the amount and timing of recognition of commercial income 
may require the exercise of judgement. The key estimates and judgements 
made in the recognition of commercial income are as follows:

•	 volume-related allowances relate to amounts receivable by the Group  
for achieving agreed purchase or sales targets within a set period. Where 
volume-related allowances span different accounting periods, the amount 
of income recognised in each period is estimated based on the probability 
that the Group will meet contractual target volumes based on historical  
and forecast performance; and

•	 promotional, marketing and other allowances cover amounts receivable  
by the Group to support the promotion, marketing and advertising of 
specific items including promotional pricing discounts, in-store displays, 
margin protection and cost reimbursements. There is limited judgement  
or estimation involved in recognising income for these allowances. The 
group assesses its performance against the obligations conditional on 
earning the income, with the income recognised either over time as the 
obligations are met, or recognised at the point when all obligations are  
met, dependent on the contractual requirements.

Refer to Note 3, Note 15, Note 16 and Note 19 for additional income statement 
and balance sheet disclosure.

Provisions
Provisions have been made for property contracts, dilapidations, restructuring, 
post-employment benefits and customer redress. These provisions are estimates 
and the actual costs and timing of future cash flows are dependent  
on future events. The difference between expectations and the actual future 
liability will be accounted for in the period when such determination is made.

Property provisions
Property provisions comprise onerous lease provisions, including leases  
on unprofitable stores and vacant properties, and other onerous contracts 
related to property. These provisions are based on the least net cost of 
fulfilling or exiting the contract.

The calculation of the value in use of the leased property to the Group  
is based on the same assumptions for discount rates, growth rates and expected 
change in margins as those for Group owned properties, as discussed in detail  
in Note 11. The calculations also assume that the Group can sublet properties  
at market rents. For some leases, termination of the lease at the break clause 
requires the Group to either purchase the property or buy out the equity 
ownership of the property at fair value. No value is attributed to the purchase 
conditions since they are at fair value. It is also assumed that the Group  
is indifferent to purchasing the properties.

Note 1 Accounting policies

General information
Tesco PLC (‘the Company’) is a public limited company incorporated 
and domiciled in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006 
(Registration number 445790). The address of the registered office is  
Tesco House, Delamare Road, Cheshunt, Hertfordshire, EN8 9SL, UK.

The financial year represents the 53 weeks ended 28 February 2015  
(prior financial year 52 weeks ended 22 February 2014). For the UK,  
the Republic of Ireland and the US, the results are for the 53 weeks ended  
28 February 2015 (prior financial year 52 weeks ended 22 February 2014). 
For all other operations, the results are for the calendar year ended  
28 February 2015 (prior calendar year ended 28 February 2014).

The main activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (together, ‘the Group’) 
are those of retailing and retail banking.

Basis of preparation
The consolidated Group financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) as 
endorsed by the European Union (‘EU’), and those parts of the Companies Act  
2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The consolidated Group 
financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling, generally rounded  
to the nearest million. They are prepared on the historical cost basis, except  
for certain financial instruments, share-based payments, customer loyalty 
programmes and pensions that have been measured at fair value.

Discontinued operations
In accordance with IFRS 5 ‘Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued 
operations’, the net results of the Chinese and US operations for the 13 weeks 
ended 28 May 2014 and the 53 weeks ended 28 February 2015, respectively, 
are presented within discontinued operations in the Group Income Statement 
and the assets and liabilities of these operations are presented separately in 
the Group Balance Sheet. See Note 7 for further details.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all 
periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated Group financial statements consist of the financial 
statements of the ultimate Parent Company (‘Tesco PLC’), all entities 
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) and the Group’s share of  
its interests in joint ventures and associates. 

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are consolidated in the Group’s financial statements from  
the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and losses or income and 
expenses arising from intragroup transactions are eliminated in preparing  
the consolidated financial statements.

Joint ventures and associates
The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangements under IFRS 11 
‘Joint arrangements’ and determined them to be joint ventures. This 
assessment required the exercise of judgement as set out in Note 13.

The Group’s share of the results of joint ventures and associates is included in  
the Group Income Statement and Group Statement of Other Comprehensive 
Income using the equity method of accounting. Investments in joint ventures  
and associates are carried in the Group Balance Sheet at cost plus post-acquisition 
changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the entity, less any impairment 
in value. The carrying values of investments in joint ventures and associates 
include acquired goodwill. 

If the Group’s share of losses in a joint venture or associate equals or exceeds  
its investment in the joint venture or associate, the Group does not recognise 
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations to do so or made payments  
on behalf of the joint venture or associate. 

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with joint ventures and associates  
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the entity.

Use of assumptions and estimates
The preparation of the consolidated Group financial statements requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect  
the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income 
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates 
and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
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Note 1 Accounting policies continued

Provisions relating to Tesco Bank
The Group has provisions for potential customer redress. In 2010/11,  
the Financial Conduct Authority (‘FCA’) formally issued Policy Statement 
10/12 (‘PS 10/12’), which introduced new guidance in respect of Payment 
Protection Insurance (‘PPI’) customer redress and evidential provisions to  
the FCA Handbook with an implementation date of 1 December 2010. 
The Group continues to handle complaints and redress customers in 
accordance with PS 10/12. 

During the course of the prior financial year the Group instigated a review  
of certain historic operational issues that had resulted in instances where 
certain of the requirements of the Consumer Credit Act (‘CCA’) for post 
contract documentation had not been fully complied with. In November 2013 
the Office of Fair Trading (‘OFT’) wrote to lenders in the industry seeking 
confirmation of their compliance with the requirements of the CCA. The 
Group extended its earlier investigation to undertake further assurance work 
relating to compliance with the CCA. As a result, the Group determined that 
it was appropriate to redress certain customers affected by these breaches.

Extensive analysis has been undertaken of the relevant issues to identify where 
customers have been affected and to determine if the Group should take 
further action. The requirements of the CCA in respect to these issues are not 
straightforward and have not been subject to significant judicial consideration 
to date. In arriving at the provision required, the Group considered the legal  
and regulatory position with respect to these matters and has sought legal 
advice which it took into account when it made its judgement. The provision 
represents management’s best estimate at the reporting date of the cost  
of providing redress to those loan and credit card customers. In making the 
estimate, management have exercised judgement as to both the timescale  
for implementing the redress campaign and the final scope of any amounts 
payable. The OFT and the FCA have been advised of the Group’s approach 
to determining the proposed customer redress. Oversight of CCA-related 
matters passed from the OFT to the FCA on 1 April 2014. Customer redress 
payments commenced in October 2014 and it is expected that these will 
continue into the first half of the next financial year.

The Group is part of an industry-wide Scheme of Arrangement established 
with the support of the relevant regulatory and customer protection bodies  
to address customer redress relating to the historic sale of certain cardholder 
protection products (‘CPP’) to credit card customers. Another industry-wide 
Scheme of Arrangement has been established to compensate those customers 
who were sold a similar product in earlier years. The level of provision held  
is based on assumptions relating to the number and value of cases for which 
compensation may be paid. In arriving at these assumptions management 
have exercised their judgement based on earlier redress programmes 
(including the CPP Scheme of Arrangement) and historic customer payment 
information. The level of the provision allows for the repayment of charges 
paid by the customer together with simple interest of 8.0%.

Inventories
An inventory provision is booked for cases where the realisable value from sale 
of the inventory is estimated to be lower than the inventory carrying value. The 
inventory provision is estimated taking into account various factors, including 
prevailing sales prices of inventory item, the seasonality of the item’s sales 
profile and losses associated with slow moving inventory items.

Post-employment benefit obligations
The present value of the post-employment benefit obligations depends on  
a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a number 
of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) 
for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions  
will impact the carrying amount of post-employment benefit obligations. 
Key assumptions for post-employment benefit obligations are disclosed  
in Note 26.

Adoption of new and amended International Financial Reporting 
Standards
The Group has adopted the following new and amended standards as of  
23 February 2014:

•	 IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated financial statements’ builds on existing principles 
by identifying the concept of control as the determining factor in whether 
an entity should be included within the consolidated financial statements 
of the parent company. It also provides additional guidance to assist in the 
determination of control where this is difficult to assess; 

•	 IFRS 11 ‘Joint arrangements’ gives a more realistic reflection of joint 
arrangements by focusing on the rights and obligations of the 
arrangement rather than its legal form. There are now only two types  
of joint arrangements: joint operations and joint ventures;

•	 IFRS 12 ‘Disclosures of interests in other entities, includes the disclosure 
requirements for all forms of interests in other entities, including 
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structured entities; 

•	 IAS 32 (Amended) ‘Financial instruments: Presentation’ clarifies some  
of the requirements for offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 
on the balance sheet; and

•	 IAS 36 (Amended) ‘Impairment of assets’ removed certain disclosures  
of the recoverable amount of cash generating units which had been 
included by the issue of IFRS 13.

Revenue
Revenue comprises the fair value of consideration received or receivable for  
the sale of goods and services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities.

Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership  
of the goods have transferred to the buyer and the amount of revenue  
can be measured reliably. 

Revenue is recorded net of returns, discounts/offers and value added taxes. 

Provision of services
Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the service is 
provided and the revenue can be measured reliably, based on the terms  
of the contract. 

Where the Group acts as an agent selling goods or services, only the 
commission income is included within revenue. 

Financial services
Revenue consists of interest, fees and income from the provision of insurance. 

Interest income on financial assets that are classified as loans and 
receivables is determined using the effective interest rate method. 

Calculation of the effective interest rate takes into account fees receivable 
that are an integral part of the instrument’s yield, premiums or discounts  
on acquisition or issue, early redemption fees and transaction costs.

Fees in respect of services (credit card interchange fees, late payment and 
ATM revenue) are recognised as the right to consideration accrues through 
the provision of the service to the customer. The arrangements are generally 
contractual and the cost of providing the service is incurred as the service  
is rendered.

The Group generates commission from the sale and service of motor and 
home insurance policies underwritten by Tesco Underwriting Limited, or in  
a minority of cases by a third party underwriter. This is based on commission 
rates which are independent of the profitability of underlying insurance 
policies. Similar commission income is also generated from the sale of  
white label insurance products underwritten by other third party providers.

Clubcard, loyalty and other initiatives
The cost of Clubcard and loyalty initiatives is part of the fair value of the 
consideration received and is deferred and subsequently recognised over the 
period that the awards are redeemed. The deferral is treated as a deduction 
from revenue.

The fair value of the points awarded is determined with reference to the fair 
value to the customer and considers factors such as redemption via Clubcard 
deals versus money-off-in-store and redemption rate. 

Rental income
Rental income is recognised in the period in which it is earned, in accordance 
with the terms of the lease.

Commercial income
Consistent with standard industry practice, the Group has agreements with 
suppliers whereby volume-related allowances, promotional and marketing 
allowances and various other fees and discounts are received in connection  
with the purchase of goods for resale from those suppliers. Most of the income 
received from suppliers relates to adjustments to a core cost price of a product, 
and as such is considered part of the purchase price for that product. 
Sometimes receipt of the income is conditional on the Group performing 
specified actions or satisfying certain performance conditions associated  
with the purchase of the product. These include achieving agreed purchases  
or sales volume targets and providing promotional or marketing materials  
and activities or promotional product positioning. Whilst there is no standard 
definition, these amounts receivable from suppliers in connection with  
the purchase of goods for resale are generally termed commercial income.
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Note 1 Accounting policies continued

Commercial income is recognised when earned by the Group, which  
occurs when all obligations conditional for earning income have been 
discharged, and the income can be measured reliably based on the terms  
of the contract. The income is recognised as a credit within cost of sales. 
Where the income earned relates to inventories which are held by the Group 
at period ends, the income is included within the cost of those inventories, 
and recognised in cost of sales upon sale of those inventories.

Amounts due relating to commercial income are recognised within other 
receivables, except in cases where the Group currently has a legally enforceable 
right of set-off and intends to offset amounts due from suppliers against amounts 
owed to those suppliers, in which case only the net amount receivable or payable  
is recognised. Accrued commercial income is recognised within accrued income 
when commercial income earned has not been invoiced at the balance sheet date.

Finance income
Finance income, excluding income arising from financial services, is 
recognised in the period to which it relates using the effective interest 
rate method. 

Finance costs
Finance costs directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of 
qualifying assets are capitalised. Qualifying assets are those that necessarily 
take a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use. All other 
borrowing costs are recognised in the Group Income Statement in finance 
costs, excluding those arising from financial services, in the period in which 
they occur. For Tesco Bank, finance cost on financial liabilities is determined 
using the effective interest rate method and is recognised in cost of sales.

Business combinations and goodwill
The Group accounts for all business combinations by applying the acquisition 
method. All acquisition-related costs are expensed. 

On acquisition, the assets (including intangible assets), liabilities and 
contingent liabilities of an acquired entity are measured at their fair value. 
Non-controlling interest is stated at the non-controlling interest’s proportion 
of the fair values of the assets and liabilities recognised. 

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the consideration 
transferred over the net fair value of the Group’s share of the net assets,  
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired subsidiary, joint venture  
or associate and the fair value of the non-controlling interest in the acquiree.  
If the consideration is less than the fair value of the Group’s share of the net 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired entity (i.e., a discount 
on acquisition), the difference is credited to the Group Income Statement in  
the period of acquisition. 

At the acquisition date of a subsidiary, goodwill acquired is recognised as an 
asset and is allocated to each of the cash-generating units expected to benefit 
from the business combination’s synergies and to the lowest level at which 
management monitors the goodwill. Goodwill arising on the acquisition of joint 
ventures and associates is included within the carrying value of the investment. 
On disposal of a subsidiary, joint venture or associate, the attributable amount  
of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal. 

Intangible assets
Acquired intangible assets
Separately acquired intangible assets, such as software, pharmacy licences, 
customer relationships, contracts and brands are measured initially at cost. 
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair 
value at the acquisition date. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are 
carried at cost and are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
useful lives, at 2%–100% of cost per annum.
 
Internally generated intangible assets – research and  
development expenditure
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditure incurred 
on an individual project is capitalised only if specific criteria are met including 
that the asset created will probably generate future economic benefits. 

Following the initial recognition of development expenditure, the cost 
is amortised over the asset’s estimated useful life at 10%–25% of cost 
per annum.

Property, plant and equipment	
Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any recognised impairment in value. Property, plant and 
equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis to its residual value over its 
anticipated useful economic life. The following depreciation rates are applied 
for the Group:

•	 freehold and leasehold buildings with greater than 40 years unexpired – at 
2.5% of cost; 

•	 leasehold properties with less than 40 years unexpired are  
depreciated by equal annual instalments over the unexpired  
period of the lease; and

•	 plant, equipment, fixtures and fittings and motor vehicles – at rates 
varying from 9%-50%.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful 
lives on the same basis as owned assets or, when shorter, over the term  
of the relevant lease.

Impairment of non-financial assets
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least annually by assessing the 
recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit to which the goodwill 
relates. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of 
disposal, and value in use. When the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss  
is recognised. Any impairment is recognised immediately in the Group  
Income Statement and is not subsequently reversed.

For all other non-financial assets (including intangible assets and property,  
plant and equipment) the Group performs impairment testing where there are 
indicators of impairment. If such an indicator exists, the recoverable amount of 
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss  
(if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent  
from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and fair value less  
costs of disposal. If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating 
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount  
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.  
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Group Income Statement. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount  
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate  
of the recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does  
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined if no 
impairment loss had been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) 
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately  
as a credit to the Group Income Statement.

Investment property
Investment property assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
any recognised impairment in value. The depreciation policies for investment 
property are consistent with those described for owner-occupied property.

Short-term and other investments
Short-term and other investments in the Group Balance Sheet comprise 
receivables, loan receivables and available-for-sale financial assets.

Receivables and loan receivables are recognised at amortised cost.  
Available-for-sale financial assets are recognised at fair value.

Refer to the financial instruments accounting policy for further detail.

Inventories
Inventories comprise goods and development properties held for resale. 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and fair value less costs to sell  
using the weighted average cost basis. Directly attributable costs and  
incomes (including applicable commercial income) are included in the  
cost of inventories.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the Group Balance Sheet consist of cash at 
bank, in hand, demand deposits with banks, loans and advances to banks, 
certificate of deposits and other receivables together with short-term 
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as assets held for sale 
when their carrying amount is to be recovered principally through a sale 
transaction and a sale is considered highly probable. They are stated at the 
lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease 
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee.  
All other leases are classified as operating leases. Refer to Note 34 for 
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Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary 
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance  
sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the assets 
to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset against each other when there  
is a legally enforceable right to set off current taxation assets against current 
taxation liabilities and it is the intention to settle these on a net basis.

Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate on the 
date of the transaction. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and 
liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 
rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. All differences are taken to the Group 
Income Statement. 

The assets and liabilities of overseas subsidiaries denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated into Pounds Sterling at exchange rates prevailing  
at the date of the Group Balance Sheet; profits and losses are translated 
at average exchange rates for the relevant accounting periods. Exchange 
differences arising are recognised in the Group Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and are included in the Group’s translation reserve. Such translation 
differences are recognised as income or expenses in the period in which the 
operation is disposed of. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign 
entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated 
at the closing rate.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group Balance 
Sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of  
the instrument.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are non interest-bearing and are recognised initially at fair 
value, and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method, less provision for impairment.
 
Investments
Investments are recognised at trade date. Investments are classified as  
either held for trading or available-for-sale, and are recognised at fair value. 
For available-for-sale investments, gains and losses arising from changes in 
fair value are recognised directly in other comprehensive income, until the 
security is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time the 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
is included in the Group Income Statement for the period. Interest calculated 
using the effective interest rate method is recognised in the Group Income 
Statement. Dividends on an available-for-sale equity instrument are recognised 
in the Group Income Statement when the entity’s right to receive payment  
is established.

Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances are initially recognised at fair value plus directly related 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these assets are carried 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment 
losses. Income from these financial assets is calculated on an effective yield 
basis and is recognised in the Group Income Statement.

Impairment of loans and advances to customers
At each balance sheet date the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its 
loans and advances to determine whether there is any indication that those 
assets have suffered an impairment loss. 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on a financial asset 
or group of financial assets classified as loans and advances has been incurred, 
the Group measures the amount of the loss as the difference between the 
carrying amount of the asset or group of assets and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows from the asset or group of assets discounted at 
the effective interest rate of the instrument at initial recognition. Impairment 
losses are assessed individually for financial assets that are individually 
significant and collectively for assets that are not individually significant. In 
making collective assessments of impairment, financial assets are grouped 
into portfolios on the basis of similar risk characteristics. Future cash flows 
from these portfolios are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows 
and historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. 

additional disclosures on judgements made relating to operating leases 
including those arising from sale and leasebacks.

The Group as a lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at 
the amount of the Group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is 
allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return 
on the Group’s net investment in the lease. Rental income from operating leases 
is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

The Group as a lessee
Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group  
at their fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease 
payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. The corresponding 
liability is included in the Group Balance Sheet as a finance lease obligation. 
Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and a reduction 
of the lease obligations so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged to the Group 
Income Statement. Rentals payable under operating leases are charged  
to the Group Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the term  
of the lease. 

Sale and leaseback
A sale and leaseback transaction is one where the Group sells an asset  
and immediately reacquires the use of the asset by entering into a lease  
with the buyer. 

The accounting treatment of the sale and leaseback depends upon the 
substance of the transaction (by applying the lease classification principles 
described above) whether or not the sale was made at the asset’s fair value  
and the relationship with the buyer which is based on levels of control and 
influence (the buyer may be an associate, joint venture or an unrelated party).

For sale and finance leasebacks, any profit from the sale is deferred and 
amortised over the lease term. For sale and operating leasebacks, generally 
the assets are sold at fair value, and accordingly the profit or loss from the 
sale is recognised immediately in the Group Income Statement.

Post-employment and similar obligations
For defined benefit plans, obligations are measured at discounted present value 
(using the projected unit credit method) whilst plan assets are recorded at fair 
value. The operating and financing costs of such plans are recognised separately 
in the Group Income Statement; service costs are spread systematically over  
the expected service lives of employees and financing costs are recognised  
in the periods in which they arise. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised 
immediately in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Payments to defined contribution schemes are recognised as an expense  
as they fall due.

Share-based payments
The fair value of employee share option plans is calculated at the grant date 
using the Black-Scholes model. The resulting cost is charged to the Group 
Income Statement over the vesting period. The value of the charge is 
adjusted to reflect expected and actual levels of vesting.

Taxation
The tax expense included in the Group Income Statement consists of current 
and deferred tax. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year,  
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.  
Tax expense is recognised in the Group Income Statement except to the extent 
that it relates to items recognised in the Group Statement of Comprehensive 
Income or directly in the Group Statement of Changes in Equity, in which case  
it is recognised in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income or directly  
in the Group Statement of Changes in Equity, respectively.
 
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method,  
providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts  
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts  
used for taxation purposes. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is charged 
or credited in the Group Income Statement, except when it relates to items 
charged or credited directly to equity or other comprehensive income, in which 
case the deferred tax is also recognised in equity, or other comprehensive 
income, respectively. 
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Note 1 Accounting policies continued

gain or loss from remeasuring the derivative instrument is recognised directly 
in other comprehensive income. 

The associated cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from other 
comprehensive income and recognised in the Group Income Statement  
in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects  
the Group Income Statement. The classification of the effective portion when 
recognised in the Group Income Statement is the same as the classification  
of the hedged transaction. Any element of the remeasurement of the 
derivative instrument which does not meet the criteria for an effective  
hedge is recognised immediately in the Group Income Statement within 
finance income or costs. 

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or  
is sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting.  
At that point in time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument 
recognised in equity is retained in the Group Statement of Changes in Equity 
until the forecasted transaction occurs or the original hedged item affects  
the Group Income Statement. If a forecasted hedged transaction is no longer 
expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognised in the Group 
Statement of Changes in Equity is reclassified to the Group Income Statement.

Net investment hedging
Derivative financial instruments are classified as net investment hedges 
when they hedge the Group’s net investment in an overseas operation.  
The effective element of any foreign exchange gain or loss from remeasuring 
the derivative instrument is recognised directly in other comprehensive 
income. Any ineffective element is recognised immediately in the Group 
Income Statement. Gains and losses accumulated in other comprehensive 
income are included in the Group Income Statement when the foreign 
operation is disposed of.

Treatment of agreements to acquire non-controlling interests
The Group has entered into a number of agreements to purchase  
the remaining shares of subsidiaries with non-controlling interests. 

The net present value of the expected future payments are shown as a 
financial liability. At the end of each period, the valuation of the liability  
is reassessed with any changes recognised in the Group Income Statement 
within finance income or costs.

Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in  
the balance sheet when there is a current legally enforceable right to offset 
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis  
or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Provisions
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to  
be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is 
recognised as interest expense.

Provisions for onerous leases are recognised when the Group believes that 
the unavoidable costs of meeting or exiting the lease obligations exceed the 
economic benefits expected to be received under the lease. 

Historical loss experience is adjusted, on the basis of current observable  
data, to reflect the effects of current conditions not affecting the period  
of historical experience. 

Impairment losses are recognised in the Group Income Statement and 
the carrying amount of the financial asset or group of financial assets  
is reduced by establishing an allowance for impairment losses. If in a 
subsequent period the amount of the impairment loss reduces and the 
reduction can be ascribed to an event after the impairment was recognised, 
the previously recognised loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance.  
Once an impairment loss has been recognised on a financial asset or group  
of financial assets, interest income is recognised on the carrying amount 
using the rate of interest at which estimated future cash flows were 
discounted in measuring impairment. 

Loan impairment provisions are established on a portfolio basis taking into 
account the level of arrears, security, past loss experience, credit scores and 
defaults based on portfolio trends. The most significant factors in establishing 
these provisions are the expected loss rates. 
 
The portfolios include credit card receivables and other personal advances. 
The future credit quality of these portfolios is subject to uncertainties  
that could cause actual credit losses to differ materially from reported 
loan impairment provisions. These uncertainties include the economic 
environment, notably interest rates and their effect on customer spending, 
the unemployment level, payment behaviour and bankruptcy trends.

Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially recorded at fair value, 
net of attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-
bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference between 
proceeds and redemption value being recognised in the Group Income 
Statement over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

Trade payables
Trade payables are non interest-bearing and are recognised initially at fair 
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure 
to foreign exchange, interest rate and commodity risks arising from 
operating, financing and investing activities. The Group does not hold 
or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes; however, 
if derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting they are accounted  
for as such. 

Derivative financial instruments are recognised and stated at fair value. 
Where derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or losses on 
remeasurement are immediately recognised in the Group Income Statement. 
Where derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, recognition of any resultant 
gain or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship and the item 
being hedged. In order to qualify for hedge accounting, the Group is required 
to document from inception the relationship between the item being hedged 
and the hedging instrument. The Group is also required to document and 
demonstrate an assessment of the relationship between the hedged item 
and the hedging instrument, which shows that the hedge will be highly 
effective on an ongoing basis. This effectiveness testing is performed at  
each period end to ensure that the hedge remains highly effective. 

Derivative financial instruments with maturity dates of more than one year 
from the balance sheet date are disclosed as non-current.

Fair value hedging
Derivative financial instruments are classified as fair value hedges when  
they hedge the Group’s exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised 
asset or liability. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated 
and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the Group Income Statement 
together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged item that is 
attributable to the hedged risk. 

Cash flow hedging
Derivative financial instruments are classified as cash flow hedges when  
they hedge the Group’s exposure to variability in cash flows that are either 
attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability, 
or a highly probable forecasted transaction. The effective element of any 
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•	 IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ – non-cash Group Income Statement charge 
for pensions. Under IAS 19, the cost of providing pension benefits in the 
future is discounted to a present value at the corporate bond yield rates 
applicable on the last day of the previous financial year. Corporate bond 
yield rates vary over time which in turn creates volatility in the Group 
Income Statement and Group Balance Sheet. IAS 19 also increases the 
charge for young pension schemes, such as the Group’s, by requiring the 
use of rates which do not take into account the future expected returns on 
the assets held in the pension scheme which will fund pension liabilities as 
they fall due. The sum of these two effects can make the IAS 19 charge 
disproportionately higher and more volatile than the cash contributions 
the Group is required to make in order to fund all future liabilities. 
Therefore, within underlying profit the Group has included the ‘normal’ 
cash contributions for pensions but excluded the volatile element of IAS 19 to 
represent what the Group believes to be a fairer measure of the cost of 
providing post-employment benefits;

•	 IAS 17 ‘Leases’ – impact of annual uplifts in rent and rent-free periods. 
Some operating leases have been structured in a way to increase annual 
lease costs as the businesses expand. IAS 17 requires the total expected cost 
of a lease to be recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease, irrespective of the actual timing of the cost. This adjustment also 
impacts the Group’s operating profit and rental income within the share  
of post-tax profits of joint ventures and associates;

•	 IFRS 3 (Revised) ‘Business Combinations’ – intangible asset amortisation 
charges and costs arising from acquisitions. Under IFRS 3 intangible assets 
are separately identified and fair valued. The intangible assets are required 
to be amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives and as such is  
a non-cash charge that does not reflect the underlying performance of the 
business acquired. Similarly, the standard requires all acquisition costs to be 
expensed in the Group Income Statement. Due to their nature, these costs  
have been excluded from underlying profit as they do not reflect the 
underlying performance of the Group; 

•	 IFRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’ – fair value of awards.  
The interpretation requires the fair value of customer loyalty awards  
to be measured as a separate component of a sales transaction.  
The underlying profit measure removes this fair value allocation  
to present underlying business performance, and to reflect the 
performance of the operating segments as measured by management; 

•	 restructuring and other one-off items. These relate to certain costs 
associated with the Group’s restructuring activities and certain one-off 
costs including costs relating to fair valuing the assets of a disposal group. 
These have been excluded from underlying profit as they do not reflect  
the underlying performance of the Group; and

•	 profits/losses from property-related items. These relate to the Group’s 
property activities including gains and losses on disposal of property assets, 
development property built for resale and property joint ventures; costs 
resulting from changes in the Group’s store portfolio and distribution 
network, including pre-opening and post closure costs; and income/
(charges) associated with impairment of non-trading property and related 
onerous contracts. These have been excluded from underlying profit  
as they do not reflect the underlying performance of the Group.

Standards issued but not yet effective
As of the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following 
standards were in issue but not yet effective. The Group has not applied 
these standards in the preparation of the financial statements, and has  
not adopted any new or amended standards early:

•	 IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’ is effective for periods commencing  
on or after 1 January 2018 subject to endorsement by the EU. IFRS 9 is  
a replacement for IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ and covers three distinct 
areas. Phase 1 contains new requirements for the classification and 
measurement of financial assets and liabilities. Phase 2 relates to the 
impairment of financial assets and requires the calculation of impairment 
on an expected loss basis rather than the current incurred loss basis. Phase 
3 relates to less stringent requirements for general hedge accounting; and

•	 IFRS 15, ‘Revenues from Contracts with Customers’, replaces IAS 18, 
‘Revenues’, and introduces a five step approach to revenue recognition 
based on performance obligations in customer contracts. The International 
Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’) has proposed to issue some clarifications 
and to defer the standard’s effective date of 1 January 2017 to 1 January 
2018. The effective date for the Group is also subject to EU endorsement. 

The impact on the Group’s financial statements of the future adoption  
of these standards is still under review. 

Use of non-GAAP measures
Free cash flow
Free cash flow is net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities  
less capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment, investment 
property and intangible assets.

Net debt
Net debt excludes the net debt of Tesco Bank but includes that of the 
discontinued operations. Net debt comprises bank and other borrowings, 
finance lease payables, net derivative financial instruments, joint venture 
loans and other receivables and net interest receivables/payables, offset  
by cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments.

Trading profit
Trading profit is an adjusted measure of operating profit and measures  
the performance of each segment before profits/(losses) arising on 
property-related items, the impact on leases of annual uplifts in rent and 
rent-free periods, intangible asset amortisation charges and costs arising 
from acquisitions, and goodwill impairment and restructuring and other 
one-off items. The IAS 19 pension charge is replaced with the ‘normal’  
cash contributions for pensions. An adjustment is also made for the fair  
value of customer loyalty awards. 

Underlying net interest
Underlying net interest, as included in underlying profit, excludes  
net pension finance costs and IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ – fair  
value measurements.

Underlying profit before tax
The Directors believe that underlying profit before tax and underlying diluted 
earnings per share measures provide additional useful information for 
shareholders on underlying trends and performance. These measures are 
used for performance analysis. Underlying profit is not defined by IFRS and 
therefore may not be directly comparable with other companies’ adjusted 
profit measures. It is not intended to be a substitute for, or superior to,  
IFRS measurements of profit. Tax impact on non-GAAP measures is included 
within Note 9. The adjustments made to reported profit before tax are:

•	 IAS 32 and IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ – fair value remeasurements. 
Under IAS 32 and IAS 39, the Group applies hedge accounting to its various 
hedge relationships when allowed under IAS 39 and when practical to  
do so. Sometimes the Group is unable to apply hedge accounting to the 
arrangements but continues to enter into these arrangements as they 
provide certainty or active management of the exchange rates and interest 
rates applicable to the Group. The Group believes these arrangements 
remain effective and economically and commercially viable hedges despite 
the inability to apply hedge accounting. Where hedge accounting is not 
applied to certain hedging arrangements, the reported results reflect the 
movement in fair value of related derivatives due to changes in foreign 
exchange and interest rates. In addition, at each year end, any gain or loss 
accruing on open contracts is recognised in the Group Income Statement 
for the financial year, regardless of the expected outcome of the hedging 
contract on termination. This may mean that the Group Income Statement 
charge is highly volatile, whilst the resulting cash flows may not be as 
volatile. The underlying profit measure removes this volatility to help  
better identify the underlying performance of the Group;
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Note 2 Segmental reporting

The Group’s reporting segments are determined based on the Group’s internal reporting to the Chief Operating Decision Maker (‘CODM’). The CODM has 
been determined to be the Executive Committee as it is primarily responsible for the allocation of resources to segments and the assessment of performance 
of the segments.

The CODM considers the principal activities of the Group to be:

•	 retailing and associated activities (‘Retail’) in:
−− the UK;
−− Asia – India, Malaysia, South Korea, Thailand; and
−− Europe – Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, the Republic of Ireland, Slovakia, and Turkey. 

•	 retail banking and insurance services through Tesco Bank in the UK (‘Bank’).

The CODM uses trading profit, as reviewed at monthly Executive Committee meetings, as the key measure of the segments’ results as it reflects the 
segments’ underlying trading performance for the financial year under evaluation. Trading profit is a consistent measure within the Group. 

The Group’s Chinese operations up to 28 May 2014 (previously reported as part of the Asia segment) and US operations have been treated as discontinued as 
described in more detail in Notes 1 and 7. The segment results do not include any amounts for these discontinued operations. 

Inter-segment revenue between the operating segments is not material.

The segment results, the reconciliation of the segment measures to the respective statutory items included in the Group Income Statement, the segment assets and 
other segment information are as follows:

53 weeks ended 28 February 2015
At constant exchange rates*

UK
£m

Asia
£m

Europe
£m

Tesco
Bank

£m

Total at
constant

exchange
£m

Foreign
exchange

£m

Total
at actual

exchange
£m

Continuing operations

Sales including VAT (excluding IFRIC 13) 48,237 10,850 10,750 1,024 70,861 (1,207) 69,654

Revenue (excluding IFRIC 13) 43,579 10,217 9,245 1,024 64,065 (1,069) 62,996

Effect of IFRIC 13 (640) (33) (42) – (715) 3 (712)

Revenue 42,939 10,184 9,203 1,024 63,350 (1,066) 62,284

Trading profit 466 586 166 194 1,412 (22) 1,390

Trading margin*** 1.1% 5.7% 1.8% 18.9% 2.2% 2.2%

53 weeks ended 28 February 2015
At actual exchange rates**

UK
£m

Asia
£m

Europe
£m

Tesco
Bank

£m

Total
at actual

exchange
£m

Continuing operations

Sales including VAT (excluding IFRIC 13) 48,231 10,501 9,898 1,024 69,654

Revenue (excluding IFRIC 13) 43,573 9,884 8,515 1,024 62,996

Effect of IFRIC 13 (640) (33) (39) – (712)

Revenue 42,933 9,851 8,476 1,024 62,284

Trading profit 467 565 164 194 1,390

Trading margin*** 1.1% 5.7% 1.9% 18.9% 2.2%

52 weeks ended 22 February 2014
At actual exchange rates**

UK
£m

Asia
£m

Europe
£m

Tesco
Bank

£m

Total
at actual

exchange
£m

Continuing operations

Sales including VAT (excluding IFRIC 13) 48,177 10,947 10,767 1,003 70,894

Revenue (excluding IFRIC 13) 43,570 10,309 9,267 1,003 64,149

Effect of IFRIC 13 (513) (33) (46) – (592)

Revenue 43,057 10,276 9,221 1,003 63,557

Trading profit 2,191 692 238 194 3,315

Trading margin*** 5.0% 6.7% 2.6% 19.3% 5.2%
*	 Constant exchange rates are the average actual periodic exchange rates for the previous financial year.
**	 Actual exchange rates are the average actual periodic exchange rates for that financial year.
***	 Trading margin is based on revenue excluding the accounting impact of IFRIC 13.
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Note 2 Segmental reporting continued

Reconciliation of trading profit to operating (loss)/profit
2015

£m
2014

£m

Trading profit 1,390 3,315

Adjustments:

IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ – non-cash Group Income Statement charge for pensions (68) (11)

IAS 17 ‘Leases’ – impact of annual uplifts in rent and rent-free periods (19) (28)

IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ – intangible asset amortisation charges and costs arising from acquisitions (13) (14)

IFRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’ – fair value of awards – (10)

Total restructuring and other one-off items (Note 3) (6,814) (801)

Reversal of commercial income recognised in previous years:

Recognised in 13/14 (53) –

Recognised in years prior to 13/14 (155) –

Other (losses)/profits arising on property-related items (60) 180

Operating (loss)/profit (5,792) 2,631

The following tables showing segment assets and liabilities exclude those balances that make up net debt (cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, 
joint venture loans and other receivables, bank and other borrowings, finance lease payables, derivative financial instruments and net debt of the disposal 
groups). Net debt balances have been included within the unallocated segment to reflect how the Group manages these balances. Intercompany transactions 
have been eliminated, other than intercompany transactions with Tesco Bank in net debt.

At 28 February 2015
UK
£m

Asia
£m

Europe
£m

Tesco
Bank

£m

Other/
unallocated

£m
Total

£m

Goodwill and other intangible assets 1,636 835 77 1,223 – 3,771

Property, plant and equipment and investment property 10,683 6,148 3,687 86 – 20,604

Investments in joint ventures and associates 89 771 – 80 – 940

Other investments – – – 827 148 975

Loans and advances to customers – non-current – – – 3,906 – 3,906

Deferred tax asset 421 38 55 – – 514

Non-current assets(a) 12,829 7,792 3,819 6,122 148 30,710

Inventories and trade and other receivables(b) 2,696 1,131 808 235 – 4,870

Trade and other payables (6,733) (1,979) (965) (245) – (9,922)

Loans and advances to customers – current – – – 3,814 – 3,814 

Customer deposits and deposits from banks – – - (7,020) (7,020)

Total provisions (1,044) (143) (89) (90) – (1,366)

Deferred tax liability – (148) (10) (41) – (199)

Net current tax (91) 4 3 5 – (79)

Post-employment benefits (4,604) (65) (173) – – (4,842)

Assets held for sale and of the disposal groups(c) 61 51 18 – – 130 

Liabilities of the disposal groups(c) – – – – (5) (5)

Net debt(d) – – – (539) (8,481) (9,020)

Net assets 3,114 6,643 3,411 2,241 (8,338) 7,071

At 22 February 2014			 
UK
£m

Asia
£m

Europe
£m

Tesco
Bank

£m

Other/
unallocated

£m
Total

£m

Goodwill and other intangible assets 1,662 786 94 1,253 – 3,795

Property, plant and equipment and investment property 13,696 5,904 5,024 93 – 24,717

Investments in joint ventures and associates 122 87 – 77 – 286

Other investments – 40 – 850 125 1,015

Loans and advances to customers – non-current – – – 3,210 – 3,210

Deferred tax asset – 25 48 - – 73

Non-current assets(a) 15,480 6,842 5,166 5,483 125 33,096

Inventories and trade and other receivables(b) 3,002 1,204 1,132 174 – 5,512

Trade and other payables (6,995) (2,140) (1,224) (236) – (10,595)

Loans and advances to customers – current – – – 3,705 – 3,705 

Customer deposits and deposits from banks – – – (6,858) – (6,858)

Total provisions (223) (78) (28) (104) – (433)

Deferred tax liability (373) (158) (39) (24) – (594)

Net current tax (393) (89) – – – (482)

Post-employment benefits (3,053) (52) (88) – – (3,193)

Assets held for sale and of the disposal groups(c) 196 131 – – 1,990 2,317 

Liabilities of the disposal groups(c) – – – – (1,184) (1,184)

Net debt(d) – – – 28 (6,597) (6,569)

Net assets 7,641 5,660 4,919 2,168 (5,666) 14,722
(a)	 Excludes derivative financial instrument non-current assets of £1,546m (2014: £1,496m).
(b)	 Excludes loans to joint ventures of £207m (2014: £252m) and interest and other receivables of £1m (2014: £2m).
(c)	 Excludes net debt of the disposal groups of £9m (2014: £161m).
(d)	 Refer to Note 30.
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Note 2 Segmental reporting continued

Other segment information

53 weeks ended 28 February 2015
UK
£m

Asia
£m

Europe
£m

Tesco
Bank

£m

Total
 continuing
operations

£m

Discontinued
operations

£m
Total

£m

Capital expenditure (including acquisitions through  
business combinations):

Property, plant and equipment 1,071 378 179 14 1,642 – 1,642

Investment property – – – – – – –

Goodwill and other intangible assets 350 19 21 45 435 – 435

Depreciation:

Property, plant and equipment (693) (347) (235) (18) (1,293) – (1,293)

Investment property – (1) – – (1) – (1)

Amortisation of intangible assets (150) (16) (23) (68) (257) – (257)

Impairment of intangible assets (45) – (4) (4) (53) – (53)

Impairment of goodwill (116) – – – (116) – (116)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment  
and investment property (3,071) (293) (949) – (4,313) – (4,313)

Reversal of prior year impairment charge of property,  
plant and equipment and investment property 132 36 28 – 196 – 196

52 weeks ended 22 February 2014
UK
£m

Asia
£m

Europe
£m

Tesco
Bank

£m

Total
 continuing
operations

£m

Discontinued
operations*

£m
Total

£m

Capital expenditure (including acquisitions through  
business combinations):

Property, plant and equipment 1,370 737 253 16 2,376 86 2,462

Investment property – – – – – – –

Goodwill and other intangible assets 303 22 28 86 439 5 444

Depreciation:

Property, plant and equipment (642) (320) (307) (17) (1,286) (26) (1,312)

Investment property – (10) (9) – (19) – (19)

Amortisation of intangible assets (122) (15) (24) (66) (227) (4) (231)

Impairment of goodwill – – – – – – –

Impairment of property, plant and equipment  
and investment property (87) (39) (761) – (887) – (887)

Reversal of prior year impairment charge of property,  
plant and equipment and investment property 135 8 11 – 154 – 154

*	 Discontinued operations in this table represents amounts up until the point a disposal group is classified as such and comprise those of China in the first six months of the 	
	 year ended 22 Febuary 2014.
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The following tables provide further analysis of the Group Cash Flow Statement, including a split of cash flows between Retail and Bank as well as continuing 
operations and discontinued operations. 

Retail Tesco Bank Tesco Group
2015

£m
2014 

£m
2015

£m
2014 

£m
2015

£m
2014 

£m
Operating (loss)/profit of continuing operations (5,973) 2,489 181 142 (5,792) 2,631

Operating loss of discontinued operations (10) (925) – – (10) (925) 

Depreciation and amortisation 1,466 1,483 86 84 1,552 1,567

Losses/(profits) arising on one-off property-related items 805 (98) – – 805 (98)

Losses/(profits) arising on other property-related items 44 (134) – – 44 (134)

Losses arising on property-related items from discontinued operations 5 162 – – 5 162

Losses/(profits) arising on sale of non property-related items 39 (1) 7 – 46 (1)

Loss arising on sale of subsidiaries and other investments 41 1 – – 41 1

Impairment of goodwill 116 540 – – 116 540

Impairment of other investments – 42 – – – 42

Impairment of investments in/loans to joint ventures and associates 712 – – – 712 –

Net charge of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets  
not included in property-related items 3,316 715 4 – 3,320 715

Adjustment for non-cash element of pensions charges 68 11 – – 68 11

Additional contribution into pension scheme (13) (4) – – (13) (4)

Share-based payments 99 46 6 1 105 47

Tesco Bank non-cash items included in profit before tax – – 58 76 58 76

Cash flow from operations excluding working capital 715 4,327 342 303 1,057 4,630

Decrease/(increase) in working capital 1,145 280 (735) (594) 410 (314)

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 1,860 4,607 (393) (291) 1,467 4,316

Interest paid (609) (490) (4) (6) (613) (496)

Corporation tax paid (347) (612) (23) (23) (370) (635)

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 904 3,505 (420) (320) 484 3,185

Purchase of property, plant and equipment, investment property  
and non-current assets classified as held for sale (1,977) (2,473) (12) (16) (1,989) (2,489)

Purchase of intangible assets (267) (301) (62) (91) (329) (392)

Non-GAAP measure: Free cash flow (1,340) 731 (494) (427) (1,834) 304

Acquisition/disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired/disposed (243) (13) – – (243) (13)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment, investment property, 
intangible assets and non-current assets classified as held for sale 244 570 – – 244 570

Net repayment of loans by joint ventures and associates 21 54 – 7 21 61

Investments in joint ventures and associates (382) (12) – – (382) (12)

Net proceeds from sale of/(investments in) short-term investments 423 (494) – – 423 (494)

Net proceeds from sale of/(investments in) other investments 5 (207) 43 (61) 48 (268)

Dividends received from joint ventures and associates 81 47 7 15 88 62

Interest received 104 121 – – 104 121

Net cash used in investing activities (1,991) (2,708) (24) (146) (2,015) (2,854)

Proceeds from issue of share capital 15 62 – – 15 62

Increase in borrowings 4,385 3,104 498 – 4,883 3,104

Repayment of borrowings (3,185) (1,912) – – (3,185) (1,912)

Repayment of obligations under finance leases (3) (9) – – (3) (9)

Rights issue to non-controlling interests 18 – – – 18 –

Dividends paid to equity owners (914) (1,189) – – (914) (1,189)

Net cash from financing activities 316 56 498 – 814 56

Intra-Group funding and intercompany transactions (77) 104 77 (104) – –

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (848) 957 131 (570) (717) 387

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 2,328 1,476 485 1,055 2,813 2,531

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 78 (105) – – 78 (105)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 1,558 2,328 616 485 2,174 2,813

Cash held in disposal groups (9) (307) – – (9) (307)

Cash and cash equivalents not held in disposal groups 1,549 2,021 616 485 2,165 2,506

Note 2 Segmental reporting continued
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Note 2 Segmental reporting continued

Continuing operations Discontinued operations Retail
2015

£m
2014

£m
2015

£m
2014

£m
2015

£m
2014

£m

Operating (loss)/profit (5,973) 2,489 (10) (925) (5,983) 1,564

Depreciation and amortisation 1,466 1,448 – 35 1,466 1,483

Losses/(profits) arising on one-off property-related items 805 (98) – 150 805 52

Losses/(profits) arising on other property-related items 44 (134) 5 12 49 (122)

Losses/(profits) arising on sale of non property-related items 37 (1) 2 – 39 (1)

Loss arising on sale of subsidiaries and other investments 41 1 – – 41 1

Impairment of goodwill 116 – – 540 116 540

Impairment of other investments – 42 – – – 42

Impairment of investments in/loans to joint ventures and associates 712 – – – 712 –

Net charge of impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
not included in property-related items 3,316 708 – 7 3,316 715

Adjustment for non-cash element of pensions charge 68 11 – – 68 11

Additional contribution into pension scheme (13) (4) – – (13) (4)

Share-based payments 104 41 (5) 5 99 46

Cash flow from/(used in) operations excluding working capital 723 4,503 (8) (176) 715 4,327

Decrease/(increase) in working capital 1,322 243 (177) 37 1,145 280

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 2,045 4,746 (185) (139) 1,860 4,607

Interest paid (605) (475) (4) (15) (609) (490)

Corporation tax paid (343) (594) (4) (18) (347) (612)

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 1,097 3,677 (193) (172) 904 3,505

Purchase of property, plant and equipment, investment property and non-current 
assets classified as held for sale (1,941) (2,207) (36) (266) (1,977) (2,473)

Purchase of intangible assets (266) (293) (1) (8) (267) (301)

Non-GAAP measure: Free cash flow (1,110) 1,177 (230) (446) (1,340) 731

Note 3 Income and expenses

Continuing operations
2015

£m
2014

£m

(Loss)/profit before tax is stated after charging/(crediting) the following:

Rental income, of which £40m (2014: £34m) relates to investment properties (512) (512)

Direct operating expenses arising on rental earning investment properties 19 5

Costs of inventories recognised as an expense 46,541 46,832

Stock losses and provisions 1,759 1,316

Depreciation and amortisation charged 1,552 1,532

Operating lease expenses, of which £111m (2014: £102m) relates to hire of plant and machinery 1,486 1,414

Net impairment charge on property, plant and equipment and investment property 4,118 733

Impairment of goodwill and other intangibles 169 –

Impairment of investment in and loans to joint ventures and associates 712 –
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Continuing operations Notes
2015

£m
2014

£m

(Loss)/profit before tax from continuing operations (6,376) 2,259

Adjustments for:

IAS 32 and IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ – fair value remeasurements 1 26 11

IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ – non-cash Group Income Statement charge for pensions 1,26 204 117

IAS 17 ‘Leases’ – impact of annual uplifts in rent and rent-free periods 1 12 22

IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ – intangible asset amortisation charges and costs arising from acquisitions 1 13 14

IFRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’ – fair value of awards 1 – 10

Restructuring and other one-off items:

Impairment of PPE and onerous lease provisions included within cost of sales 11 3,802 734

Impairment/(impairment release) of PPE and onerous lease provisions included within (losses)/profit arising on property-related 
items 11 925 (98)

Impairment of goodwill 10 116 –

Impairment of intangible fixed assets(a) 50 –

Impairment of investment in China associate(b) 630 –

Impairment of investment in and loans to joint ventures and associates(c) 82 –

Inventory valuations and provisions(d) 570 –

Provision for customer redress 27 63

ATM rates charge(e) 41 –

Loss on disposal/closure of non-core businesses(f) 81 –

Restructuring costs including trading store redundancies(g) 416 –

Other restructuring and one-off items 74 102

Total restructuring and other one-off items 6,814 801

Reversal of commercial income recognised in previous years(h): 

Recognised in 13/14 53 –

Recognised in years prior to 13/14 155 –

Other losses/(profits) arising on property-related items 60 (180)

Underlying profit before tax from continuing operations 961 3,054

(a)	�As a result of changes to simplify the UK business, a number of IT projects have been cancelled, resulting in an impairment of intangible fixed assets.  
This charge has been recognised in cost of sales.

(b)	�Increasing competition from Chinese e-commerce businesses as well as the financial impact of a longer-than-expected integration of operations is 
expected to affect short-to-medium-term profitability of the associate, resulting in an impairment charge in the year recognised in administrative 
expenses.

(c)	�Investments in and loans to the Harris + Hoole and Euphorium businesses have been impaired as a result of the strategic decision to slow the roll-out  
of these brands recognised in administrative expenses.

(d)	�This includes a £402m charge relating to increased inventories provisioning due to changes to range and stockholding, including general merchandise 
transformation, and the adoption of a forward looking provisioning methodology. An additional £107m charge relates to changes in the estimate of 
in-store payroll overheads which are directly attributable to inventories, arising due to the change in focus of our in-store activities. The Group has also 
changed its accounting policy to exclude certain in-store overheads from directly attributable costs in order to reflect more reliable and relevant 
information. If the policy change were applied retrospectively, it would have reduced the 2013/14 inventories balance by £59m, of which £10m would have 
impacted the prior year income statement. As these amounts are not material, the prior year comparatives have not been restated and the cumulative 
policy adjustment of £61m has been reflected in the current year.

(e)	�During the year, the Group received a notification from the Valuation Office that it had moved to a separate assessment of rates for ATM sites in Tesco 
stores. This resulted in a backdated charge of £41m. The charge in respect of the current year is included in underlying profit within cost of sales.

(f )	� This includes the loss on disposal of Blinkbox Movies and Music, and redundancy cost, asset impairments and other costs associated with the closure  
of non-core businesses including Blinkbox Books and Tesco Broadband. Of this loss, £74m has been recognised in cost of sales and £7m was recognised  
in administrative expenses.

(g)	�Restructuring costs include redundancy and compensation costs related to changes in store colleague working arrangements in the UK, Europe and Asia, 
redundancy costs relating to Head Office restructures across the Group, and the redundancy cost of store closures in the UK. £266m has been recognised 
in costs of sales and £150m within administrative expenses.

Commercial income 
(h)	�On 22 September 2014 the Group announced that the previous guidance given on 29 August 2014 regarding profit for the six months to 23 August 2014  

was overstated principally due to the accelerated recognition of commercial income and delayed accrual of costs. The internal investigation into the appropriate 
recognition included a review of whether the impact of accelerated recognition should be attributed to prior years. 

	� At the time of the interim results, the impacts on prior years were estimated as resulting in the profit before tax for the year ended 22 February 2014 being 
overstated by £70m and for the years prior to that being overstated by a total of £75m. 

	� Following further investigations, these estimates have been revised to a total overstatement to profit before tax of £53m for the year ended 22 February 
2014, and a total overstatement of £155m for the years prior to that. 

	� On the basis that these figures are not material in the prior years, a prior year restatement has not been made with the amounts instead being corrected in 
the current year. The impact of this has been separately identified in the reconciliation of profit before tax to underlying profit above as the correction does 
not reflect current year performance.

Note 3 Income and expenses continued
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Note 3 Income and expenses continued

During the financial year the Group obtained the following services from the Group’s auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, and network firms:

2015
£m

2014
£m

Audit services

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for the audit of the Company and Group financial statements 1.0 0.8

The audit of the accounts of the Company’s subsidiaries 3.6 3.5

Audit-related assurance services 0.8 1.2

Total audit and audit related services 5.4 5.5

Non-audit services

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for other services:

Taxation compliance services – – 

Taxation advisory services 0.9 0.6

All other non-audit services 2.4 4.1

Total auditor remuneration 8.7 10.2

In addition to the amounts shown above, the auditor received fees of £0.2m (2014: £0.2m) for the audit of the main Group pension scheme.

A description of the work of the Audit Committee is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on page 32 and includes how objectivity and independence  
is safeguarded when non-audit services are provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

Note 4 Employment costs, including Directors’ remuneration

Continuing operations
2015

£m
2014

£m

Wages and salaries 6,581 6,121

Social security costs 473 471

Post-employment defined benefits (Note 26) 631 542

Post-employment defined contributions (Note 26) 24 32

Share-based payments expense (Note 25) 144 82

Termination benefits 416 23

8,269 7,271

The average number of employees by operating segment during the financial year was: 
Average number

of employees
Average number of 

full-time equivalents

2015 2014 2015 2014

UK 315,829 317,847 215,747 217,158

Asia 96,471 96,296 86,436 88,616

Europe 90,813 92,694 80,327 82,741

Tesco Bank 3,871 3,607 3,576 3,353

Total 506,984 510,444 386,086 391,868

Note 5 Finance income and costs

Continuing operations
2015

£m
2014

£m

Finance income

Interest receivable and similar income 90 132

Total finance income 90 132

Finance costs

GBP MTNs (191) (223)

EUR MTNs (155) (130)

USD Bonds (85) (91)

Other MTNs (2) (4)

Finance charges payable under finance leases and hire purchase contracts (9) (10)

Other interest payable (101) (68)

Capitalised interest (Note 11)* 44 79

Net pension finance costs (Note 26)** (136) (106)

IAS 32 and 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ – fair value remeasurements** (26) (11)

Total finance costs (661) (564)
*	 A deferred tax liability is recognised in respect of capitalised interest at the applicable rate in the country in which the interest is capitalised.
**	� Underlying net interest cost of £(409)m (2014: £(315)m), as included in underlying profit, excludes net pension finance costs of £(136)m (2014: £(106)m and IAS 32 and 39 

‘Financial Instruments’ – fair value remeasurements of £(26)m (2014: £(11)m).

GBP MTNs
Interest payable on the 4% RPI GBP MTN 2016 includes £8m (2014: £9m) of Retail Price Index (‘RPI’) related amortisation.
Interest payable on the 3.322% LPI GBP MTN 2025 includes £7m (2014: £11m) of RPI related amortisation.
Interest payable on the 1.982% RPI GBP MTN 2036 includes £7m (2014: £7m) of RPI related amortisation.

100 Tesco PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements 2015

Notes to the Group financial statements continued



Recognised in the Group Income Statement

Continuing operations
2015

£m
2014

£m

Current tax (credit)/charge

UK corporation tax (141) 519

Foreign tax 73 203

Adjustments in respect of prior years (16) (50)

 (84) 672

Deferred tax (credit)/charge

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (641) (93)

Adjustments in respect of prior years 36 (85)

Change in tax rate 32 (147)

(573) (325)

Total income tax (credit)/charge (657) 347

The Finance Act 2013 included legislation to reduce the main rate of UK corporation tax from 23% to 21% from 1 April 2014 and to 20% from 1 April 2015. 
These rate reductions are therefore included in these consolidated financial statements.

Reconciliation of effective tax charge
2015

£m
2014

£m

(Loss)/profit before tax (6,376) 2,259

Tax credit/(charge) at 21.2% (2014: 23.1%) 1,352 (522)

Effect of:

Non-deductible expenses (604) (109)

Differences in overseas taxation rates (36) (12)

Adjustments in respect of prior years (20) 135

Share of (losses)/profits of joint ventures and associates (3) 14

Change in tax rate (32) 147

Total income tax credit/(charge) for the year 657 (347)

Effective tax rate 10.3% 15.4%

Tax on items credited directly to the Group Statement of Changes in Equity
2015

£m
2014

£m

Current tax credit/(charge) on:

Share-based payments – 1

Deferred tax credit/(charge) on:

Share-based payments – (1)

Total tax on items credited/(charged) to the Group Statement of Changes in Equity – –

Tax relating to components of the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income
2015

£m
2014

£m

Current tax credit/(charge) on: 

Pensions – –

Foreign exchange movements 14 58

Fair value of movement on available-for-sale investments (1) –

Fair value movements on cash flow hedges (3) 4

Deferred tax credit/(charge) on:

Pensions 291 67

Fair value movements on cash flow hedges (17) 35

Total tax on items credited to the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income 284 164

Note 6 Taxation
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Note 6 Taxation continued

Deferred tax
The following are the major deferred tax (liabilities)/assets recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the current and prior financial years:

Property- 
related 
items*

£m

Retirement
benefit

obligation
£m

Share-based
payments

£m

Short-term
timing

differences
£m

Tax losses
£m

Financial 
Instruments

£m

Other
pre/post

tax 
temporary

differences
£m

Total
£m

At 23 February 2013 (1,622) 539 21 83 40 (24) 7 (956)

Credit/(charge) to the Group Income Statement 282 29 19 9 (19) 2 3 325

Charge to the Group Statement of Changes in Equity – – (1) – – – – (1)

Credit to the Group Statement of Comprehensive 
Income – 67 – – – 35 – 102

Discontinued operations – – 3 5 7 – – 15

Business combinations – – – – – – – –

Foreign exchange and other movements** 32 (1) – (13) (4) – – 14

At 22 February 2014 (1,308) 634 42 84 24 13 10 (501)

Credit/(charge) to the Group Income Statement 363 35 (40) 184 46 (6) (9) 573

Charge to the Group Statement of Changes in Equity – – – – – – – –

Credit/(charge) to the Group Statement of  
Comprehensive Income – 291 – – – (17) – 274

Discontinued operations 2 – – (19) (2) – – (19)

Business combinations – – – – – – – –

Foreign exchange and other movements** (10) (3) 1 (1) 1 – – (12)

At 28 February 2015 (953) 957 3 248 69 (10) 1 315
*�	� Property-related items include a deferred tax liability on rolled over gains of £294m (2014: £294m) and deferred tax assets on capital losses of £101m (2014: £58m).  

The remaining balance relates to accelerated tax depreciation.
**	� The deferred tax charge/credit for foreign exchange and other movements is £12m debit (2014: £14m credit) relating to the retranslation of deferred tax balances at the 

balance sheet date and is included within the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income under the heading currency translation differences.

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset and are analysed as follows:

2015
£m

2014
£m

Deferred tax assets 514 73

Deferred tax liabilities (199) (594)

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) relating to disposal groups – 20

315 (501)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets and liabilities
No deferred tax liability is recognised on temporary differences of £3.0bn (2014: £4.0bn) relating to the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries and joint 
ventures as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of these temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. The deferred tax on unremitted earnings at 28 February 2015 is estimated to be £200m (2014: £213m) which relates to taxes payable on repatriation 
and dividend withholding taxes levied by overseas tax jurisdictions. UK tax legislation relating to company distributions provides for exemption from tax for 
most repatriated profits, subject to certain exceptions. 

Deferred tax assets in relation to continuing operations have not been recognised in respect of the following items (because it is not probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which the Group can utilise the benefits):

2015
£m

2014
£m

Deductible temporary differences 97 27

Tax losses 66 66

163 93

As at 28 February 2015, the Group has unused trading tax losses from continuing operations of £631m (2014: £398m) available for offset against future 
profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of £335m (2014: £95m) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of  
the remaining £296m (2014: £303m) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of £118m that will 
expire by 2019 (2014: £71m by 2018) and £15m that will expire between 2020 and 2035 (2014: £142m between 2019 and 2034). Other losses will be carried 
forward indefinitely. 
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Note 7 Discontinued operations and non-current assets classified as held for sale

2015
£m

2014
£m

Assets of the disposal groups 9 2,160

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 130 327

Total assets of the disposal groups and non-current assets classified as held for sale 139 2,487

Total liabilities of the disposal groups (5) (1,193)

Total net assets of the disposal groups and non-current assets classified as held for sale 134 1,294

The non-current assets classified as held for sale consist mainly of properties in the UK and Korea due to be sold within one year.

Discontinued operations
On 28 May 2014 the Group completed its formation of a new venture with China Resources Enterprise Limited (‘CRE’). The new venture is classified as an 
associate within continuing operations. In accordance with IFRS 5 ‘Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations’, the Chinese operations  
for the period up to 28 May 2014 have been classified as a disposal group. In addition the US operations, representing the remaining costs of the orderly 
restructuring process, continues to be classified as a disposal group.

The tables below show the results of the discontinued operations which are included in the Group Income Statement, Group Balance Sheet and Group Cash 
Flow Statement respectively.

US China Total
Income Statement 2015

£m
2014

£m
2015*

£m
2014

£m
2015

£m
2014

£m

Revenue – 496 281 1,489 281 1,985

Expenses** 16 (762) (315) (2,163) (299) (2,925)

Profit/(loss) before tax of discontinued operations 16 (266) (34) (674) (18) (940)

Taxation – 6 (1) (8) (1) (2)

Profit/(loss) after tax of discontinued operations 16 (260) (35) (682) (19) (942)

Loss after tax of disposal of Chinese operations – – (28) – (28) –

Total profit/(loss) after tax of discontinued operations 16 (260) (63) (682) (47) (942)

Loss per share impact from discontinued operations 

Basic (0.58)p (11.68)p

Diluted (0.58)p (11.66)p

US China Total

2015
£m

2014
£m

2015*

£m
2014

£m
2015

£m
2014

£m

Non-GAAP measure: underlying profit/(loss) before tax

Underlying loss before tax of discontinued operations in the US & China 11 (95) (25) (97) (14) (192)
*	 The results of China are for the 13 weeks ended 28 May 2014, at which point the operations were contributed into a new venture with CRE.
**	 Includes fair value remeasurements, less costs to sell.

The Group exchanged its Chinese retail and property interests plus cash of £334m (£257m paid during the year, with £77m due in May 2015) for a 20% interest 
in the new venture. The loss after tax on disposal of the Group’s Chinese operations is made up as follows:

£m

Value of new investment 1,261

Cash paid and deferred payments (334)

Net book value of assets contributed (835)

Costs to sell and other provisions (67)

Taxation (53)

Loss after tax of disposal of Chinese operations (28)

The loss in the year that resulted from remeasuring the retained investment to fair value on disposal was £10m.

Cost to sell and other provisions have decreased by £21m since the Group’s interim results as a result of updates in estimates since that time.
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Note 7 Discontinued operations and non-current assets classified as held for sale continued

Balance Sheet

US 
2015

£m

US 
2014

£m

China
2014

£m

Total
2014

£m

Assets of the disposal groups

Goodwill and other intangible assets – – 100 100

Property, plant and equipment – 30 1,145 1,175

Investments in joint ventures and associates – – 162 162

Inventories – – 138 138

Trade and other receivables – – 278 278

Cash and cash equivalents 9 48 259 307

Total assets of the disposal groups 9 78 2,082 2,160

Liabilities of the disposal groups

Trade and other payables (5) (33) (864) (897)

Borrowings – – (283) (283)

Other current liabilities – (13) – (13)

Total liabilities of the disposal groups (5) (46) (1,147) (1,193)

Total net assets of the disposal groups 4 32 935 967

Cash flow statement

US China  Total
2015

£m
2014

£m
2015

£m
2014

£m
2015

£m
2014

£m

Net cash flows from operating activities (27) (106) (166) (66) (193) (172)

Net cash flows from investing activities 31 (1) (35) (290) (4) (291)

Net cash flows from financing activities – (7) 66 159 66 152

Net cash flows from discontinued operations 4 (114) (135) (197) (131) (311)

Intra-Group funding and intercompany transactions (45) 146 29 217 (16) 363

Net cash flows from discontinued operations, net of intercompany (41) 32 (106) 20 (147) 52

Net cash flows from disposal of subsidiary – – (148) – (148) –

Net cash flows from discontinued operations, net of intercompany and disposal  
of subsidiary (41) 32 (254) 20 (295) 52

Note 8 Dividends

2015 2014
Pence/share £m Pence/share £m

Amounts recognised as distributions to owners in the financial year:

Prior financial year final dividend 10.13 819 10.13 815

Current financial year interim dividend 1.16 95 4.63 374

Dividends paid to equity owners in the financial year 11.29 914 14.76 1,189

Current financial year proposed final dividend – – 10.13 819

As announced by the Company on 8 January 2015, the Board of Directors has decided not to recommend the payment of a final dividend in respect of the 
financial year ended 28 February 2015.
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Note 9 Earnings (losses) per share and diluted earnings per share

Basic earnings/(losses) per share amounts are calculated by dividing the profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted average number  
of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year.

Diluted earnings/(losses) per share amounts are calculated by dividing the profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year adjusted for the effects of potentially dilutive options. The dilutive effect is calculated on the full exercise 
of all potentially dilutive ordinary share options granted by the Group, including performance-based options which the Group considers to have been earned.

Given the loss for the 53 weeks ended 28 February 2015, the Group has recognised a basic loss per share rather than a basic earnings per share. The dilutive 
effects have not been considered in calculating the diluted loss per share as this would reduce the loss per share. For the 53 weeks ended 28 February 2015 
there were 12 million potentially dilutive share options. As the Group has recognised an underlying profit the dilutive effects have been considered in 
calculating the underlying earnings per share.

2015 2014

Basic 

Potentially
 dilutive share 

options Diluted Basic 

Potentially
 dilutive share 

options Diluted

(Loss)/profit (£m)

Continuing operations (5,694) – (5,694) 1,916 – 1,916

Discontinued operations (47) – (47) (942) – (942)

Weighted average number of shares (millions) 8,107 – 8,107 8,068 10 8,078

(Losses)/earnings per share (pence)

Continuing operations (70.24) – (70.24) 23.75 (0.03) 23.72

Discontinued operations (0.58) – (0.58) (11.68) 0.02 (11.66)

Total (70.82) – (70.82) 12.07 (0.01) 12.06 

There have been no transactions involving ordinary shares between the reporting date and the date of approval of these financial statements which would 
significantly change the earnings per share calculations shown above.

Reconciliation of non-GAAP underlying diluted earnings per share
2015 2014

£m Pence/share £m Pence/share

(Loss)/profit from continuing operations (diluted) (5,694) (70.24) 1,916 23.72

Adjustments for:

IAS 32 and IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ – fair value remeasurements 26 0.32 11 0.14

IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ – non-cash Group Income Statement charge for pensions 204 2.52 117 1.45

IAS 17 ‘Leases’ – impact of annual uplifts in rent and rent-free periods 12 0.15 22 0.27

�IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ – intangible asset amortisation charges and  
costs arising from acquisitions 13 0.16 14 0.17

IFRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’ – fair value of awards – – 10 0.12

Total restructuring and other one-off items (Note 3) 6,814 84.06 801 9.92

Reversal of commercial income recognised in previous years:

Recognised in 13/14 53 0.65 – –

Recognised in years prior to 13/14 155 1.91 – –

Other profits/(losses) arising on property-related items 60 0.74 (180) (2.23)

Allocation of adjustments to non-controlling interests (22) (0.27) – –

Tax effect of adjustments at the effective rate of tax* (856) (10.56) (122) (1.51)

Dilutive effect** – (0.02)

Underlying earnings from continuing operations 765 9.42 2,589 32.05
*	� The effective rate of tax on the total tax charge on all adjustments was 11.7% (2014: 15.4%). The effective rate of tax on underlying earnings was 20.7% (2014: 15.4%) 

which excludes certain permanent differences on which tax relief is not available.
**	� Under IAS 33 ‘Earnings per share’, potentially dilutive share options are treated as dilutive only when their conversion would decrease earnings per share. All adjustments 

above have been based on 8,107 million (2014: 8,078 million) shares, with the (0.02) pence per share dilutive impact of the 12 million current year potentially dilutive share 
options factored in only when calculating the final underlying diluted earnings per share from continuing operations.
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Note 10 Goodwill and other intangible assets

Internally
generated

development
costs

£m

Pharmacy
and

software
licences

£m

Other
intangible

assets
£m

Goodwill
£m

Total
£m

Cost

At 22 February 2014 1,793 1,057 378 2,880 6,108

Foreign currency translation – (20) (3) (10) (33)

Additions 206 79 26 98 409

Acquired through business combinations – – 25 – 25

Reclassification (150) 154 1  – 5

Disposals (109) (37) (8) (19) (173)

At 28 February 2015 1,740 1,233 419 2,949 6,341

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

At 22 February 2014 908 533 278 594 2,313

Foreign currency translation – (17) – (54) (71)

Amortisation charge 126 113 18 – 257

Impairment charge 43 7 2 116 168

Reclassification 2 – (2) – –

Disposals (89) (11) (2) 5 (97)

At 28 February 2015 990 625 294 661 2,570

Net carrying value

At 28 February 2015 750 608 125 2,288 3,771

At 22 February 2014 885 524 100 2,286 3,795

Internally
generated

development
costs

£m

Pharmacy
and

software
licences

£m

Other
intangible

assets
£m

Goodwill
£m

Total
£m

Cost

At 23 February 2013 1,655 1,004 366 3,580 6,605

Foreign currency translation (6) (40) (12) (111) (169)

Additions 245 116 23 60 444

Reclassification (31) 38 2 – 9

Disposals (70) (10) (1) – (81)

Transfer to disposal group classified as held for sale – (51) – (649) (700)

At 22 February 2014 1,793 1,057 378 2,880 6,108

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

At 23 February 2013 916 440 261 626 2,243

Foreign currency translation (3) (24) (3) (32) (62)

Amortisation charge 111 101 19 – 231

Reclassification (48) 48 2 – 2

Disposals (68) (10) (1) – (79)

Transfer to disposal group classified as held for sale – (22) – – (22)

At 22 February 2014 908 533 278 594 2,313
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Note 10 Goodwill and other intangible assets continued

Impairment of goodwill
Goodwill arising on business combinations is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if there are indications  
that goodwill may be impaired. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups of cash-generating units according to the level at which 
management monitor that goodwill.

In February 2015 and 2014 impairment reviews were performed by comparing the carrying value of goodwill with the recoverable amount of the  
cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. 

Recoverable amounts for cash-generating units are based on the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal. Value in use is calculated from 
cash flow projections for generally five years using data from the Group’s latest internal forecasts, the results of which are reviewed by the Board. The key 
assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding discount rates, growth rates and expected changes in margins. Management estimates 
discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect the current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the cash-generating units. 
Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past experience and expectations of future changes in the market. Given the current economic climate, 
a sensitivity analysis has been performed in assessing the recoverable amounts of goodwill. 

The pre-tax discount rates used to calculate value in use range from 9% to 12% (2014: 7% to 11%). On a post-tax basis, the discount rates range from 7% to 
10% (2014: 6% to 8%). These discount rates are derived from the Group’s post-tax weighted average cost of capital, as adjusted for the specific risks relating 
to each cash-generating unit. 

The forecasts are extrapolated beyond five years based on estimated long-term average growth rates of 2% to 3% (2014: 2% to 3%).

The challenging economic climate and significant shifts in the retail industry structure has resulted in revised forecast cash flows and updated discount rates. 
A resulting impairment charge has been recognised of £116m (2014: £nil) related to Dobbies (£83m) and other UK businesses (£33m). Dobbies and the other 
UK businesses are within the UK segment. This charge has been recognised in the cost of sales line in the Group Income Statement.

A final regulation has been published by the European Commission, imposing a cap on interchange fees on credit and debit cards. This change to existing 
interchange fees, which is expected to come into force during the first half of 2015, along with the forecast impact of mitigating management actions, has 
been considered as part of goodwill impairment testing for the Tesco Bank cash-generating unit. No reduction in the asset recognised has been required 
following completion of this review. 

The components of goodwill are as follows:
2015

£m
2014

£m

Malaysia 74 74

South Korea 502 475

Tesco Bank 802 802

Thailand 159 145

UK 722 761

Other 29 29

2,288 2,286
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Note 11 Property, plant and equipment

Land and
buildings

£m
Other(a)

£m
Total

£m

Cost

At 22 February 2014 25,734 10,851 36,585

Foreign currency translation (314) (106) (420)

Additions(b) 799 840 1,639

Acquired through business combinations – 3 3

Reclassification (591) 152 (439)

Classified as held for sale 30 (18) 12

Disposals (360) (229) (589)

At 28 February 2015 25,298 11,493 36,791

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

At 22 February 2014 4,985 7,110 12,095

Foreign currency translation (186) (96) (282)

Depreciation charge 446 847 1,293

Impairment charge 3,029 1,263 4,292

Reversal of impairment charge (169) (7) (176)

Reclassification (358) – (358)

Classified as held for sale (86) (16) (102)

Disposals (232) (179) (411)

At 28 February 2015 7,429 8,922 16,351

Net carrying value(c)(d)

At 28 February 2015 17,869 2,571 20,440

At 22 February 2014 20,749 3,741 24,490

Construction in progress included above(e)

At 28 February 2015 271 71 342

At 22 February 2014 612 80 692
(a)	 Other assets consist of plant, equipment, fixtures and fittings and motor vehicles.
(b)	� Includes £44m (2014: £79m) in respect of interest capitalised, principally relating to land and building assets. The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of finance 

costs capitalised during the financial year was 4.4% (2014: 5.1%). Interest capitalised is deducted in determining taxable profit in the financial year in which it is incurred.
(c)	 Net carrying value includes:
	 (i) 	 Capitalised interest at 28 February 2015 of £820m (2014: £1,208m).
	 (ii)	 Assets held under finance leases which are analysed below:

2015 2014

 

Land and
buildings

£m
Other(a)

£m

Land and
buildings

£m
Other(a)

£m

Cost 137 575 151 558

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (61) (532) (50) (529)

Net carrying value 76 43 101 29

These assets are pledged as security for the finance lease liabilities.

(d)	 The net carrying value of land and buildings comprises:

 
2015

£m
2014

£m

Freehold 15,649 18,430

Long leasehold – 50 years or more 607 662

Short leasehold – less than 50 years 1,613 1,657

Net carrying value 17,869 20,749
(e)	 Construction in progress does not include land.

In the current year the Group reclassified property, plant and equipment with a net book value of £81m to development properties in inventories. 
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Note 11 Property, plant and equipment continued

Land and
buildings

£m
Other(a)

£m
Total

£m

Cost

At 23 February 2013 24,817 10,826 35,643

Foreign currency translation (1,131) (470) (1,601)

Additions(b) 1,492 955 2,447

Acquired through business combinations 9 6 15

Reclassification 1,875 27 1,902

Classified as held for sale (115) – (115)

Disposals (239) (133) (372)

Transfer to disposal group classified as held for sale (974) (360) (1,334)

At 22 February 2014 25,734 10,851 36,585

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

At 23 February 2013 3,961 6,812 10,773

Foreign currency translation (220) (267) (487)

Depreciation charge 466 846 1,312

Impairment charge 814 52 866

Reversal of impairment charge (152) (2) (154)

Reclassification 282 1 283

Classified as held for sale 2  1 3

Disposals (139) (117) (256)

Transfer to disposal group classified as held for sale (29) (216) (245)

At 22 February 2014 4,985 7,110 12,095
(a)(b)  See page 108 for footnotes.

During the prior year, it was concluded that the level of service provided to tenants of some malls operated by the Group were no longer considered 
insignificant and as a result a number of malls with a net book value of £1,623m were reclassified from investment property to property, plant and equipment.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
The Group has determined that for the purposes of impairment testing, each store is a cash-generating unit. Cash-generating units are tested for impairment  
if there are indicators of impairment at the balance sheet date. Recoverable amounts for cash-generating units are based on the higher of value in use or fair 
value less costs of disposal. The Group engaged external independent qualified valuers, where appropriate, to determine the fair value of the Group’s property. 

Fair values are determined in regard to the market rent for the stores or for alternative uses with investment yields appropriate to reflect the physical 
characteristics of the property and the location. In some cases, fair values include residual valuations where stores may be viable for redevelopment.

Value in use is generally calculated from cash flow projections for five years using data from the Group’s latest internal forecast, the results of which are reviewed  
by the Board. The forecasts are extrapolated beyond five years based on estimated long-term growth rates of 2% to 5% (2014: 2% to 5%).

The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding discount rates, growth rates and expected changes in margins. Management estimates 
discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect the current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the cash-generating units. 
Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past experience and expectations of future changes in the market. The pre-tax discount rates used  
to calculate value in use range from 9% to 12% (2014: 6% to 14%) depending on the specific conditions in which each store operates. On a post-tax basis,  
the discount rates range from 7% to 10% (2014: 6% to 12%). These discount rates are derived from the Group’s post-tax weighted average cost of capital,  
as adjusted for the specific risks relating to each geographical region.

An impairment charge of £4,292m (2014: £866m) has been recognised following a challenging economic climate and significant shifts in the retail industry 
structure, resulting in a revision of forecast cash flows and property fair values. This charge relates to properties in the UK of £3,052m (2014: £87m), Europe  
of £947m (2014: £740m) and Asia of £293m (2014: £39m). Of this charge, £3,291m (2014: £707m) related to trading stores has been classified as ‘Impairment 
of PPE and onerous lease provisions included within cost of sales’ and £874m (2014: £nil) related to construction in progress and closed stores has been 
classified as ‘Impairment of PPE and onerous lease provisions included within (losses)/profits arising on property-related items’ within non-GAAP measures  
in the Group Income Statement. The remaining £127m charge (2014: £159m) has not been treated as one-off within non-GAAP measures.

An impairment reversal of £176m (2014: £154m) was recognised relating to properties in the UK of £133m (2014: £136m), Europe of £28m (2014: £10m) and Asia 
of £15m (2014: £8m). Of this reversal, £25m (2014: £nil) has been classified as ‘Impairment of PPE and onerous lease provisions included within cost of sales’ and 
£97m (2014: £98m) has been classified as ‘Impairment of PPE and onerous lease provisions included within (losses)/profits arising on property-related items’. 
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Note 12 Investment property

2015
£m

2014
£m

Cost

At beginning of the year 283 2,317

Foreign currency translation (4) (114)

Additions – –

Reclassification 87 (1,908)

Classified as held for sale (51) –

Disposals (30) (12)

At end of the year 285 283

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

At beginning of the year 56 316

Foreign currency translation (5) (17)

Depreciation charge 1 19

Impairment charge 21 21

Reversal of impairment charge (20) –

Reclassification 92 (282)

Classified as held for sale (1) –

Disposals (23) (1)

At end of the year 121 56

Net carrying value at end of the year 164 227

The estimated fair value of the Group’s investment property is £0.3bn (2014: £0.4bn). This fair value has been determined by applying an appropriate rental 
yield to the rentals earned by the investment property. A valuation has not been performed by an independent valuer. 

In the year there has been a £21m impairment charge for investment property which has been classified as ‘Impairment of PPE and onerous lease provisions 
included within (losses)/profits arising on property-related items’.

In the prior year, it was concluded that the level of services provided to tenants of some malls operated by the Group were no longer considered insignificant 
and as a result a number of malls with a net book value of £1,623m were reclassified from investment property to property, plant and equipment.

Note 13 Group entities 

Principal subsidiaries
The Group consolidates its subsidiary undertakings and its principal subsidiaries are:

Business activity

Share of issued
ordinary share capital

and voting rights

Country of incorporation
and principal country

of operation

Tesco Stores Limited Retail  100% England

One Stop Stores Limited* Retail 100% England

Tesco Ireland Limited Retail  100% Republic of Ireland

Tesco-Global Stores Privately Held Co. Limited Retail  100% Hungary

Tesco Polska Sp. z o.o. Retail  100% Poland

Tesco Stores CR a.s. Retail 100% Czech Republic

Tesco Stores SR a.s. Retail 100% Slovakia

Tesco Kipa Kitle Pazarlama Ticaret ve Gida Sanayi A S Retail 95% Turkey

Homeplus Co. Limited Retail 100% South Korea

Homeplus Tesco Co. Limited Retail 100% South Korea

Ek-Chai Distribution System Co. Limited Retail 86%** Thailand

Tesco Stores (Malaysia) Sdn Bhn Retail 70% Malaysia

Dobbies Garden Centres Limited Retail 100% Scotland

Tesco Personal Finance Group Limited* (trading as Tesco Bank) Financial Services 100% Scotland

Tesco Distribution Limited Distribution 100% England

Tesco Property Holdings Limited Property 100% England

Tesco International Sourcing Limited Purchasing 100% Hong Kong

dunnhumby Limited Data Analysis 100% England

Tesco Corporate Treasury Services PLC* Financial Services 100% England

Tesco Food Sourcing Limited Sourcing 100% England

Tesco International Internet Retailing Limited* Retail 100% England

Tesco Joint Buying Service (Shanghai) Co. Limited Retail 100% People’s Republic of China
*	 Held by the Parent Company (all other principal subsidiaries are held by an intermediate subsidiary).
**	 The Group has 86% of voting rights and 39% of issued ordinary share capital in Ek-Chai Distribution System Co. Limited.

The accounting period ends of the subsidiary undertakings consolidated in these financial statements are on or around 28 February 2015. The Group has 
taken advantage of the exemption under section 410(2) of the Companies Act 2006 by providing information only in respect of the subsidiary undertakings 
whose results or financial position, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affect the financial statements. A full list of the Group’s subsidiary undertakings 
will be annexed to the next Annual Return filed at Companies House. There are no significant restrictions on the ability of subsidiary undertakings to transfer 
funds to the parent, other than those imposed by the Companies Act 2006.
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Note 13 Group entities continued

Interests in joint ventures and associates
Principal joint ventures and associates
The Group’s principal joint ventures and associates are:

Nature of relationship Business activity

Share of issued share 
capital, loan capital and 

debt securities
Country of 

incorporation
Principal area of 

operation

Shopping Centres Limited(a) Joint venture Property investment 50% England United Kingdom

BLT Properties Limited(a) Joint venture Property investment 50% England United Kingdom

The Tesco British Land Property Partnership(b) Joint venture Property investment 50% England United Kingdom

Tesco BL Holdings Limited(b) Joint venture Property investment 50% England United Kingdom

The Tesco Red Limited Partnership Joint venture Property investment 50% England United Kingdom

The Tesco Aqua Limited Partnership Joint venture Property investment 50% England United Kingdom

The Tesco Coral Limited Partnership Joint venture Property investment 50% England United Kingdom

The Tesco Blue Limited Partnership Joint venture Property investment 50% England United Kingdom

The Tesco Atrato Limited Partnership Joint venture Property investment 50% England United Kingdom

The Tesco Property Limited Partnership Joint venture Property investment 50% England United Kingdom

The Tesco Passaic Limited Partnership Joint venture Property investment 50% England United Kingdom

The Tesco Navona Limited Partnership Joint venture Property investment 50% England United Kingdom

The Tesco Sarum Limited Partnership Joint venture Property investment 50% England United Kingdom

The Tesco Dorney Limited Partnership Joint venture Property investment 50% England United Kingdom

Arena (Jersey) Management Limited Joint venture Property investment 50% Jersey United Kingdom

The Tesco Property (No. 2) Limited Partnership Joint venture Property investment 50% Jersey United Kingdom

Tesco Mobile Limited Joint venture Telecommunications 50% England United Kingdom

Tesco Underwriting Limited(c) Joint venture Financial services 49.9% England United Kingdom

Gain Land Limited(d) Associate Retail 20% British Virgin Islands People's Republic of 
China/Hong Kong

Tesco Lotus Retail Growth Freehold and 
Leasehold Property Fund(a) Associate Property investment 25% Thailand Thailand

Trent Hypermarket Limited(e) Joint venture Retail 50% India India
(a)	 Held by the Parent Company (all other significant joint ventures and associates are held by an intermediate subsidiary).
(b)	 The Tesco British Land Property Partnership and Tesco BL Holdings Limited are classified as assets held for sale at 28 February 2015. They are therefore excluded from the 	
	 summarised financial information for joint ventures and associates for 2015 below. Further information is set out in Note 35.
(c)	 Tesco Underwriting Limited under IFRS 11 is treated as a joint venture because the Group has joint control over key management decisions. 
(d)	 On 28 May 2014 the Group completed its formation of a new venture with China Resources Enterprise Limited. The new associate, Gain Land Limited, is a material 	
	 associate to the Group. 
(e)	 During the year the Group formed a new joint venture, Trent Hypermarket Limited, with Trent Limited at a cost of £102m.

The Group holds a 22% investment stake in Lazada Group GMBH (‘Lazada’). This investment is not treated as an associate because the Group does not have the 
power to participate in key management decisions.

The accounting period end dates of the joint ventures and associates consolidated in these financial statements range from 31 December 2014 to 28 February 2015. 
The accounting period end dates of the joint ventures differ from those of the Group for commercial reasons and depend upon the requirements of the joint venture 
partner as well as those of the Group. The accounting period end dates of the associates are different from those of the Group as they depend upon the requirements 
of the parent companies of those entities.

There are no significant restrictions on the ability of the joint ventures and associates to transfer funds to the parent, other than those imposed by the Companies Act 2006.

Summarised financial information for joint ventures and associates
The summarised financial information for UK Property joint ventures has been aggregated in order to provide useful information to users without excessive 
detail since these entities have similar characteristics and risk profiles largely based on the nature of their activites and geographic market.

The UK Property joint ventures involve the Group partnering with third parties in carrying out property investments in order to enhance returns from property and 
access funding whilst reducing risks associated with sole ownership. These property investments generally cover shopping centres and standalone stores. The Group 
enters into operating leases for some or all of the properties held in the joint ventures. These leases provide the Group with some rights over alterations and adjacent 
land developments. Some leases also provide the Group with options to purchase the other joint venturers’ equity stakes at a future point in time. In some cases the 
Group has the ability to substitute properties in the joint ventures with alternative properties of similar value, subject to strict eligibility criteria. In other cases, the 
Group carries out property management activities for third party rentals of shopping centre units. 

The property investment activities are carried out in separate entities, usually partnerships or limited liability companies. The Group has assessed its ability to direct 
the relevant activities of these entities and impact Group returns and concluded that the entities qualify as joint ventures since decisions regarding them require  
the unanimous consent of both equity holders. This assessment included not only rights within the joint venture agreements, but also any rights within the other 
contractual arrangements between the Group and the entities.
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Note 13 Group entities continued

The Group made a number of judgements and assertions in arriving at this determination, the key ones being:

•	 since the provisions of the joint venture agreements require the relevant decisions impacting investor returns to be either unanimously agreed by both joint 
venturers at the same time, or in some cases to be agreed sequentially by each venturer at different stages, there is joint decision making within the joint venture; 

•	 since the Group’s leases are priced at fair value, and any rights embedded in the leases are consistent with market practice, they do not provide the Group with 
additional control over the joint ventures or infer an obligation by the Group to fund the settlement of liabilities of the joint ventures;

•	 any options to purchase the other joint venturers’ equity stakes are priced at market value, and only exercisable at future dates, hence they do not provide control 
to the Group at the current time; 

•	 where the Group has a right to substitute properties in the joint ventures, the rights are strictly limited and are at fair value, hence do not provide control to the  
Group; and 

•	 where the Group carries out property management activities for third party rentals in shopping centres, these additional activities are controlled through joint 
venture agreements or lease agreements, and do not provide the Group with additional powers over the joint venture.

The summarised financial information below reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the relevant joint ventures and associates, and not  
the Group’s share of those amounts. These amounts have been adjusted to conform to the Group’s accounting policies where required. 

UK Property joint ventures Gain Land Limited

2015
£m

2014
£m

2015
7 months to 

Dec 14 
£m

2014
£m

Summarised Balance Sheet

Non-current assets  5,768  6,247  4,543 –

Current assets (excluding cash & cash equivalents)  219  164  1,979 –

Cash and cash equivalents  115 130  579 –

Current liabilities* (401) (470) (4,728) –

Non-current liabilities* (6,628) (6,999) (403) –

Net (liabilities)/assets (927) (928)  1,970 –

Summarised Income Statement

Revenue  418  434  4,811 –

Profit/(loss) after tax 15 39 (229) –

Reconciliation to carrying amounts: 

Opening balance 90 87 – –

Additions – – 1,261 –

Foreign currency translation – – (2) –

Share of profit/(loss) 15 36 (47) –

Impairment of joint ventures and associates – – (630) –

Dividends received from joint ventures and associates (56) (33) – –

Closing balance 49 90 582 –

Group's share in ownership 50% 50% 20% –

Group's share of net (liabilities)/assets (464) (464) 394 –

Goodwill – – 188 –

Cumulative unrecognised losses 138 162 – –

Cumulative unrecognised hedge reserves 375 392 – –

Carrying amount 49 90 582 –
*	 Included within current and non-current liabilities of UK Property joint ventures are £(750)m (2014: £(784)m) derivative balances related to swaps which hedge the cash 	
	 flow variability exposures of the joint ventures. 

At 28 February 2015, the Group has £179m (2014: £174m) loans to UK Property joint ventures and £nil (2014: £nil) to Gain Land Limited. 

Individually immaterial joint ventures and associates
The Group also has interests in a number of individually immaterial joint ventures and associates excluding UK Property joint ventures and Gain Land Limited. 

Joint ventures Associates

2015
£m

2014
£m

2015
£m

2014
£m

Aggregate carrying amount of individually immaterial joint ventures and associates 252 53 57 143

Group’s share of profit for the year 14 16 5 8

Unconsolidated structured entities
The Group has sponsored a number of structured entities. The Group led the formation of the entities and its name appears in the names of the entities  
and/or on the debt issued by the entities. The structured entities were set up to finance property purchases by some of the UK Property joint ventures  
in which the Group typically holds a 50% equity interest. The structured entities obtain debt financing from third party investors and lend the funds to  
these joint ventures, who use the funds to purchase the properties. 

The liabilities of the UK Property joint ventures disclosed above include the loans due to these structured entities. The Group’s exposure to the structured 
entities is limited to the extent of the Group’s interests in the joint ventures. The liabilities of the structured entities are non-recourse to the Group.

The Group concluded that it does not control, and therefore should not consolidate, these structured entities, since it does not have power over the relevant 
activities of the structured entities, or exposure to variable returns from these entities.
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Note 14 Other investments 

2015
£m

2014
£m

Loans receivable 35 69

Available-for-sale financial assets 940 946

975 1,015

Available-for-sale financial assets mainly comprise investments in bonds with varied maturities of which £111m (2014: £167m) is current.

Note 15 Inventories

2015
£m

2014
£m

Goods held for resale 2,825 3,467

Development properties 132 109

2,957 3,576

Goods held for resale are net of £93m (2014: £82m) relating to commercial income. These commercial income amounts will be recognised in cost of sales 
upon sale of those inventories.

Note 16 Trade and other receivables

2015
£m

2014
£m

Prepayments 352 321

Accrued income 183 265

Other receivables 1,336 1,330

Amounts owed by joint ventures and associates (Note 28) 250 274

2,121 2,190

Trade and other receivables includes £97m (2014: £89m) within other receivables of amounts due from suppliers for commercial income which have been 
invoiced but for which there is no legal right or intention to offset against payables, and £158m (2014: £230m) within accrued income of amounts due from 
suppliers in relation to commercial income which have been earned but not yet invoiced. 

Included within trade and other receivables are the following amounts receivable after more than one year:
2015

£m
2014

£m

Prepayments and accrued income 19 19

Other receivables 468 432

Amounts owed by joint ventures and associates 149 195

636 646

Trade and other receivables are generally non interest-bearing. Credit terms vary by country and the nature of the debt, ranging from seven to sixty days. 

At 28 February 2015, trade and other receivables of £31m (2014: £37m) were past due and impaired. The amount of the provision was £42m (2014: £46m). 
The ageing analysis of these receivables is as follows:

2015
£m

2014
£m

Up to three months past due 2 4

Three to six months past due 2 2

Over six months past due 27 31

31 37

At 28 February 2015, trade and other receivables of £146m (2014: £155m) were past due but not impaired. The ageing analysis of these receivables is as follows:

2015
£m

2014
£m

Up to three months past due 117 124

Three to six months past due 14 15

Over six months past due 15 16

146 155

No receivables have been renegotiated in the current or prior financial years.
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Note 17 Loans and advances to customers

Tesco Bank has loans and advances to customers, as follows:

2015
£m

2014
£m

Non-current 3,906 3,210

Current 3,814 3,705

7,720 6,915

The maturity of these loans and advances is as follows:

At 28 February 2015
2015

£m
2014

£m

Repayable on demand or at short notice 3 3

Within three months 3,744 3,641

Greater than three months but less than one year 158 166

Greater than one year but less than five years 2,033 1,955

After five years 1,922 1,307

7,860 7,072

Provision for impairment of loans and advances (140) (157)

7,720 6,915

At 28 February 2015, £3.0bn (2014: £2.4bn) of the credit card portfolio had its legal interest assigned to a structured entity for use as collateral in 
securitisation transactions. Included within the unsecured lending balance is £nil (2014: £0.8bn) that has been prepositioned with the Bank of England for  
the purposes of contingent liquidity via the discount window facility and consequently is eligible for future participation in the Funding for Lending Scheme.

Provision for impairment of loans and advances
£m

At 23 February 2013  (172)

Increase in allowance, net of recoveries, charged to the Group Income Statement (55)

Amounts written off 66

Unwinding of discount 4

At 22 February 2014 (157)

Increase in allowance, net of recoveries, charged to the Group Income Statement (48)

Amounts written off 62

Unwinding of discount 3

At 28 February 2015 (140)

Note 18 Cash and cash equivalents

2015
£m

2014
£m

Cash at bank and in hand 2,134 2,261

Short-term deposits 31 245

2,165 2,506

Cash of £593m (2014: £1,016m) held on money market funds is classed as short-term investments.

Note 19 Trade and other payables

2015
£m

2014
£m

Trade payables 5,076 5,831

Other taxation and social security 366 399

Other payables 2,698 2,800

Amounts payable to joint ventures and associates (Note 28) 23 22

Accruals and deferred income 1,759 1,543

9,922 10,595

Included in other payables are amounts of £147m (2014: £154m) which are non-current.

Netted against trade and other payables is £347m (2014: £547m) amounts receivable from suppliers in relation to commercial income that has been invoiced, 
for which there is a current legal right and intention to offset against amounts payable at the balance sheet date. 
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Note 20 Borrowings

Current

Par value
Maturity

year
2015

£m
2014

£m

Commercial paper, bank loans and overdrafts – – 1,982 830

Loans from joint ventures (Note 28) – – 16 16

5% MTN £600m 2014 – 628

2% USD Bond $500m 2014 – 300

Other MTNs – – – 130

Finance leases (Note 34) – – 10 6

2,008 1,910

Non-current

Par value
Maturity

year
2015

£m
2014

£m

5.125% MTN €600m 2015 – 528

4% RPI MTN* £307m 2016 313 304

5.875% MTN €1,039m 2016 872 1,011

2.7% USD Bond $500m 2017 325 299

1.250% MTN €500m 2017 362 411

5.5% USD Bond $850m 2017 625 595

5.2% Tesco Bank Retail Bond £125m 2018 135 139

3.375% MTN €750m 2018 548 620

LIBOR + 0.45% Tesco Bank Bond £150m 2019 149 –

1.375% MTN €1,250m 2019 911 –

5.5% MTN £350m 2019 353 352

1% RPI Tesco Bank Retail Bond £60m 2019 60 60

2.125% MTN €500m 2020 362 411

5% Tesco Bank Retail Bond £200m 2020 205 197

LIBOR + 0.65% Tesco Bank Bond £350m 2021 349 –

6.125% MTN £900m 2022 895 948

5% MTN £389m 2023 407 401

2.5% MTN €750m 2024 547 –

3.322% LPI MTN** £315m 2025 318 310

6% MTN £200m 2029 261 242

5.5% MTN £200m 2033 262 241

1.982% RPI MTN*** £261m 2036 263 256

6.15% USD Bond $1,150m 2037 917 792

4.875% MTN £173m 2042 175 174

5.125% MTN €600m 2047 631 605

5.2% MTN £279m 2057 275 274

Other loans – – – 18

Finance leases (Note 34) – – 131 115

10,651 9,303
*	 The 4% RPI MTN is redeemable at par, including indexation for increases in the Retail Price Index (‘RPI’) over the life of the MTN.
**	 The 3.322% Limited Price Inflation (‘LPI’) MTN is redeemable at par, including indexation for increases in the RPI over the life of the MTN. The maximum indexation of the 	
	 principal in any one year is 5%, with a minimum of 0%.
***	 The 1.982% RPI MTN is redeemable at par, including indexation for increases in the RPI over the life of the MTN.

Borrowing facilities
The Group has the following undrawn committed facilities available at 28 February 2015, in respect of which all conditions precedent had been met as at that date:

2015
£m

2014
£m

Expiring in less than one year 132 –

Expiring between one and two years 200 125

Expiring in more than two years 4,800 2,600

5,132 2,725

The current year undrawn committed facilities include £2.2bn of bilateral facilities and a £2.6bn revolving credit facility. 

All facilities incur commitment fees at market rates and would provide funding at floating rates.
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Note 21 Financial instruments 

Derivatives are used to hedge exposure to market risks and those that are held as hedging instruments are formally designated as hedges as defined in IAS 39. 
Derivatives may qualify as hedges for accounting purposes and the Group’s hedging policies are further described below. 

Net finance cost of £46m (2014: £22m) resulted from hedge ineffectiveness.

Fair value hedges
The Group maintains interest rate and cross-currency swap contracts as fair value hedges of the interest rate and currency risk on fixed rate debt issued  
by the Group. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the Group Income Statement,  
together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk. The gain or loss on the hedging instrument 
and hedged item is recognised in the Group Income Statement within finance income or costs. If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, 
the adjustment to the carrying value of the hedged item is amortised to the Group Income Statement.

A gain of £27m on hedging instruments was recognised during the year, offset by a loss of £73m on hedged items (2014: a loss of £311m on hedging 
instruments was offset by a gain of £282m on hedged items).

Cash flow hedges
The Group uses forward contracts to hedge the foreign currency cost of future purchases of goods for resale, where those purchases are denominated in a 
currency other than the functional currency of the purchasing company. Where these contracts qualify for hedge accounting, fair value gains and losses are 
deferred in equity. These hedging instruments are primarily used to hedge purchases in Euros and US Dollars. The cash flows hedged will occur  
and will affect the Group Income Statement within one year of the balance sheet date. 

The Group also uses index-linked swaps to hedge cash flows on index-linked debt, interest rate swaps to hedge interest cash flows on debt and cross-currency 
swaps to hedge cash flows on fixed rate debt denominated in foreign currencies.

Net investment hedges 
The Group uses currency denominated borrowings and cross-currency swaps to hedge the exposure of a portion of its net investment in overseas operations 
against changes in value due to changes in foreign exchange rates. A net finance income of £nil (2014: £7m) was recorded resulting from net investment 
hedging ineffectiveness. 

Gains and losses accumulated in equity are recycled to the Group Income Statement on disposal of overseas operations.

Financial instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting
The Group’s policy does not permit use of derivatives for trading purposes. However, some derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting, or are specifically 
not designated as a hedge where gains and losses on the hedging instrument and the hedged item naturally offset in the Group Income Statement.

These instruments include index-linked swaps and forward foreign currency contracts. Changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments that do not 
qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the Group Income Statement within finance income or costs. 

The fair values of derivative financial instruments have been disclosed in the Group Balance Sheet as follows:

2015 2014
Asset

£m
Liability

£m
Asset

£m
Liability

£m

Current 153 (89) 80 (99)

Non-current 1,546 (946) 1,496 (770)

1,699 (1,035) 1,576 (869)
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Note 21 Financial instruments continued

The fair value and notional amounts of derivatives analysed by hedge type are as follows:

2015 2014

Asset Liability Asset Liability

Fair value
£m

Notional
£m

Fair value
£m

Notional
£m

Fair value
£m

Notional
£m

Fair value
£m

Notional
£m

Fair value hedges

Interest rate swaps and similar instruments 23 721 (80) 2,303 71 2,057 (42) 1,492

Cross-currency swaps 561 1,201 (11) 817 583 2,055 (25) 551

Cash flow hedges  

Interest rate swaps and similar instruments – 86 (199) 462 2 99 (110) 400

Cross-currency swaps 241 311 (170) 1,754 139 287 (115) 1,605

Index-linked swaps 119 942 – – 90 920 – –

Forward foreign currency contracts 84 974 (35) 1,271 10 739 (62) 2,123

Cash flow hedges and net investment hedges

Cross-currency swaps – – – – 10 308 – –

Derivatives not in a formal hedge relationship

Interest rate swaps and similar instruments 6 640 (6) 2,982 13 2,079 – 595

Cross-currency swaps 10 44 (1) 36 8 128 – –

Index-linked swaps 580 3,589 (474) 3,589 614 3,619 (515) 3,589

Forward foreign currency contracts 75 1,292 (59) 965 36 1,035 – 181

Total 1,699 9,800 (1,035) 14,179 1,576 13,326 (869) 10,536

The carrying value and fair value of financial assets and liabilities are as follows:

2015 2014

Carrying
value

£m

Fair
value

£m

Carrying
value

£m

Fair
value

£m

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 2,165 2,165 2,506 2,506

Loans and advances to customers – Tesco Bank 7,720 7,772 6,915 6,845

Short-term investments 593 593 1,016 1,016

Other investments 975 975 1,015 1,015

Joint venture and associates loan receivables (Note 28) 207 208 255 257

Other receivables 1 1 1 1

Derivative financial assets:

Interest rate swaps and similar instruments 29 29 86 86

Cross-currency swaps 812 812 740 740

Index-linked swaps 699 699 704 704

Forward foreign currency contracts 159 159 46 46

Total financial assets 13,360 13,413 13,284 13,216

Liabilities

Short-term borrowings:

Amortised cost (1,998) (1,998) (1,276) (1,281)

Bonds in fair value hedge relationships – – (628) (660)

Long-term borrowings:

Amortised cost (7,193) (7,299) (4,901) (5,702)

Bonds in fair value hedge relationships (3,327) (3,033) (4,287) (4,227)

Finance leases (Note 34) (141) (141) (121) (121)

Customer deposits – Tesco Bank (6,914) (6,873) (6,078) (6,044)

Deposits by banks – Tesco Bank (106) (106) (780) (780)

Derivative and other financial liabilities:

Interest rate swaps and similar instruments (285) (285) (152) (152)

Cross-currency swaps (182) (182) (140) (140)

Index-linked swaps (474) (474) (515) (515)

Forward foreign currency contracts (94) (94) (62) (62)

Total financial liabilities (20,714) (20,485) (18,940) (19,684)

Total (7,354) (7,072) (5,656) (6,468)

The fair values of financial instruments and derivatives have been determined by reference to prices available from the markets on which the instruments are traded, 
where they are available. Where market prices are not available, the fair value has been calculated by discounting expected future cash flows at prevailing interest 
rates. The above tables exclude payables/other receivables which have fair values equal to their carrying values.
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Note 21 Financial instruments continued

Financial assets and liabilities by category
The accounting classifications of each class of financial assets and liabilities at 28 February 2015 and 22 February 2014 are as follows:

At 28 February 2015

Available-
for-sale

£m

Loans and
receivables/

other 
financial
liabilities

£m

Fair value
through

profit or loss
£m

Total
£m

Cash and cash equivalents – 2,165 – 2,165

Loans and advances to customers – Tesco Bank – 7,720 – 7,720

Short-term investments – 593 – 593

Other investments 940 35 – 975

Joint venture and associates loan receivables (Note 28) – 207 – 207

Other receivables – 1 – 1

Customer deposits – Tesco Bank – (6,914) – (6,914)

Deposits by banks – Tesco Bank – (106) – (106)

Short-term borrowings – (1,998) – (1,998)

Long-term borrowings – (10,520) – (10,520)

Finance leases (Note 34) – (141) – (141)

Derivative financial instruments:

Interest rate swaps and similar instruments – – (256) (256)

Cross-currency swaps – – 630 630

Index-linked swaps – – 225 225

Forward foreign currency contracts – – 65 65

940 (8,958) 664 (7,354)

At 22 February 2014

Available-
for-sale

£m

Loans and
receivables/

other 
financial
liabilities

£m

Fair value
through

profit or loss
£m

Total
£m

Cash and cash equivalents – 2,506 – 2,506

Loans and advances to customers – Tesco Bank – 6,915 – 6,915

Short-term investments – 1,016 – 1,016

Other investments 946 69 – 1,015

Joint venture and associates loan receivables (Note 28) – 255 – 255

Other receivables – 1 – 1

Customer deposits – Tesco Bank – (6,078) – (6,078)

Deposits by banks – Tesco Bank – (780) – (780)

Short-term borrowings – (1,904) – (1,904)

Long-term borrowings – (9,188) – (9,188)

Finance leases (Note 34) – (121) – (121)

Derivative financial instruments:

Interest rate swaps and similar instruments – – (66) (66)

Cross-currency swaps – – 600 600

Index-linked swaps – – 189 189

Forward foreign currency contracts – – (16) (16)

946 (7,309) 707 (5,656)

The above tables exclude payables/other receivables which are classified under loans and receivables/other financial liabilities.
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Note 21 Financial instruments continued

Fair value measurement
The following table presents the Group’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 28 February 2015, by level of fair value hierarchy:

•	 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);
•	 �inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly  

(that is, derived from prices) (Level 2); and
•	 inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

At 28 February 2015
Level 1

£m
Level 2

£m
Level 3

£m
Total

£m

Assets

Available-for-sale financial assets 828 – 112 940

Derivative financial instruments:

Interest rate swaps and similar instruments – 29 – 29

Cross-currency swaps – 812 – 812

Index-linked swaps – 699 – 699

Forward foreign currency contracts – 159 – 159

Total assets 828 1,699 112 2,639

Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments:

Interest rate swaps and similar instruments – (285) – (285)

Cross-currency swaps – (182) – (182)

Index-linked swaps – (474) – (474)

Forward foreign currency contracts – (94) – (94)

Total liabilities – (1,035) – (1,035)

Total 828 664 112 1,604

At 22 February 2014
Level 1

£m
Level 2

£m
Level 3

£m
Total

£m

Assets

Available-for-sale financial assets 850 – 96 946

Derivative financial instruments:

Interest rate swaps and similar instruments – 86 – 86

Cross-currency swaps – 740 – 740

Index-linked swaps – 704 – 704

Forward foreign currency contracts – 46 – 46

Total assets 850 1,576 96 2,522

Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments:

Interest rate swaps and similar instruments – (152) – (152)

Cross-currency swaps – (140) – (140)

Index-linked swaps – (515) – (515)

Forward foreign currency contracts – (62) – (62)

Total liabilities –  (869) – (869)

Total 850 707 96 1,653

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 instruments for the year ending 28 February 2015: 
2015

£m
2014

£m

At beginning of the year 96 –

Gains/(losses) recognised in finance costs in the Group Income Statement – –

Gains/(losses) recognised in the Group Statement of Changes in Equity (16) –

Purchase of non-controlling interests 32 96

At end of the year 112 96

During the financial year, £nil (2014: £nil) of Level 2 assets were transferred to Level 1 and there were no transfers into or out of Level 3 fair value measurements. 

In the second half of the year, the Group invested an additional £32m in Lazada, an online retailer.
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Note 21 Financial instruments continued

Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities
The following tables show those financial assets and liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements.

At 28 February 2015

Financial assets offset

Gross 
amounts of 
recognised 

financial 
assets/

(liabilities)
£m

Gross 
amounts of 

financial 
assets/

(liabilities) set 
off in the 

Group 
Balance Sheet

£m

Net amounts 
presented in 

the Group 
Balance 

Sheet
£m

Related amounts not set off 
in the Group Balance Sheet

Net amount
£m

Financial 
instruments

£m
Collateral

£m

Cash and cash equivalents 2,405 (240) 2,165 – – 2,165

Derivative financial instruments 1,699 – 1,699 (331) (2) 1,366

Trade and other receivables 2,490 (369) 2,121 – – 2,121

Total 6,594 (609) 5,985 (331) (2) 5,652

Financial liabilities offset

Bank loans and overdrafts (2,222) 240 (1,982) – – (1,982)

Repurchases, securities lending and similar agreements* (97) – (97) 103 – 6

Derivative financial instruments (1,035) – (1,035) 331 61 (643)

Trade and other payables (10,291) 369 (9,922) – – (9,922)

Total (13,645) 609 (13,036) 434 61 (12,541)
*	 Repurchases, securities lending and similar agreements are included within the deposits from banks balance of £106m (Note 23).

At 22 February 2014

Financial assets offset

Gross 
amounts of 
recognised 

financial 
assets/

(liabilities)
£m

Gross 
amounts of 

financial 
assets/

(liabilities) set 
off in the 

Group Balance 
Sheet

£m

Net amounts 
presented in 

the Group 
Balance 

Sheet
£m

Related amounts not set off 
in the Group Balance Sheet

Net amount
£m

Financial 
instruments

£m
Collateral

£m

Cash and cash equivalents 2,882 (376) 2,506 – – 2,506

Derivative financial instruments 1,576 – 1,576 (336) (6) 1,234

Trade and other receivables 2,737 (547) 2,190 – – 2,190

Total 7,195 (923) 6,272 (336) (6) 5,930

Financial liabilities offset

Bank loans and overdrafts (1,206) 376 (830) – – (830)

Repurchases, securities lending and similar agreements* (765) – (765) 765 – –

Derivative financial instruments (869) – (869) 336 16 (517)

Trade and other payables (11,142) 547 (10,595) – – (10,595)

Total (13,982) 923 (13,059) 1,101 16 (11,942)
*	 Repurchases, securities lending and similar agreements are included within the deposits from banks balance of £780m (Note 23).

For the financial assets and liabilities subject to enforceable master netting arrangements above, each agreement between the Group and the counterparty 
allows for net settlement of the relevant financial assets and liabilities when both elect to settle on a net basis. In the absence of such an election, financial 
assets and liabilities will be settled on a gross basis, however each party to the master netting agreement or similar agreements will have the option to settle 
all such amounts on a net basis in the event of default of the other party.

Note 22 Financial risk factors

The main financial risks faced by the Group relate to fluctuations in interest and foreign exchange rates, the risk of default by counterparties to financial 
transactions and the availability of funds to meet business needs. The management of these risks is set out below. 

Risk management is carried out by a central treasury department under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Board provides written principles  
for risk management, as described in the Principal risks and uncertainties on pages 22 to 25.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Debt issued at variable rates as well as cash deposits and short-term investments exposes the Group to cash 
flow interest rate risk. Debt issued at fixed rates exposes the Group to fair value risk. The Group’s interest rate management policy is explained on page 25.

The Group has Retail Price Index (‘RPI’) debt where the principal is indexed to increases in the RPI. RPI debt is treated as floating rate debt. The Group also 
has Limited Price lnflation (‘LPI’) debt, where the principal is indexed to RPI, with an annual maximum increase of 5% and a minimum of 0%. LPI debt is 
treated as fixed rate debt.

For interest rate risk relating to Tesco Bank, refer to the separate section on Tesco Bank financial risk factors on page 123. 
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Note 22 Financial risk factors continued

During 2015 and 2014, net debt was managed using derivative instruments to hedge interest rate risk.

2015 2014
Fixed

£m
Floating

£m
Total

£m
Fixed

£m
Floating

£m
Total

£m

Cash and cash equivalents – 2,165 2,165 – 2,506 2,506

Loans and advances to customers – Tesco Bank 4,041 3,679 7,720 3,440 3,475 6,915

Short-term investments – 593 593 – 1,016 1,016

Other investments 904 71 975 855 160 1,015

Joint venture and associate loan receivables (Note 28) 141 66 207 163 92 255

Other receivables 1 – 1 1 – 1

Finance leases (Note 34) (141) – (141) (90) (31) (121)

Bank and other borrowings (10,571) (1,947) (12,518) (9,788) (1,304) (11,092)

Customer deposits – Tesco Bank (2,868) (4,046) (6,914) (2,707) (3,371) (6,078)

Deposits from banks – Tesco Bank (106) – (106) (780) – (780)

Derivative effect:

Interest-rate swaps (6,523) 6,523 – (4,022) 4,022 –

Cross-currency swaps 1,973 (1,973) – 2,418 (2,418) –

Index-linked swaps (567) 567 – (553) 553 –

Total (13,716) 5,698 (8,018) (11,063) 4,700 (6,363)

Credit risk 
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, customer deposits, financial instruments and deposits with banks and financial 
institutions. 

The net counterparty exposure under derivative contracts is £1.4bn (2014: £1.2bn). The Group considers its maximum credit risk to be £14.7bn (2014: £13.3bn) 
being the Group’s total financial assets.

For credit risk relating to Tesco Bank, refer to the separate section on Tesco Bank financial risk factors on page 123.

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is managed by short-term and long-term cash flow forecasts. In addition, the Group has committed facility agreements for £5.1bn (2014: £2.7bn), 
which mature between 2016 and 2019.

The Group has a European Medium Term Note programme of £15.0bn, of which £7.4bn was in issue at 28 February 2015 (2014: £7.0bn), plus a Euro Commercial 
Paper programme of £2.0bn, £0.5bn of which was in issue at 28 February 2015 (2014: £nil), and a US Commercial Paper programme of $4.0bn, £0.7bn of which 
was in issue at 28 February 2015 (2014: £nil). 

On 6 June 2014 and 1 July 2014, the Group issued £0.5bn and €2.0bn of long-term debt respectively. During the year, the Group repaid £0.6bn, $0.5bn, 
€0.6bn, ¥6.5bn, CNY0.7bn and MYR0.1bn of long-term debt.

For liquidity risk relating to Tesco Bank, refer to the separate section on Tesco Bank financial risk factors on page 123.

The following is an analysis of the undiscounted contractual cash flows payable under financial liabilities and derivatives. The potential cash outflow  
of £17.8bn is considered acceptable as it is offset by financial assets and trade receivables of £14.7bn (2014: £18.2bn offset by financial assets and trade 
receivables of £14.8bn).

The undiscounted cash flows will differ from both the carrying values and fair value. Floating rate interest is estimated using the prevailing rate at the balance 
sheet date. Cash flows in foreign currencies are translated using spot rates at the balance sheet date. For index-linked liabilities, inflation is estimated at 3% 
for the life of the liability (2014: 3%).

At 28 February 2015

Due
within
1 year

£m

Due
between

1 and 2
years

£m

Due
between

2 and 3
years

£m

Due
between

3 and 4
years

£m

Due
between

4 and 5
years

£m

Due
beyond
5 years

£m

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Bank and other borrowings (1,975) (1,400) (915) (670) (1,468) (5,758)

Interest payments on borrowings (403) (406) (343) (306) (283) (2,968)

Customer deposits – Tesco Bank (5,914) (561) (124) (142) (173) –

Deposits from banks – Tesco Bank (106) – – – – –

Finance leases (20) (19) (19) (19) (12) (168)

Trade and other payables (9,775) (62) (25) (2) (2) (56)

Derivative and other financial liabilities

Net settled derivative contracts – receipts 41 68 25 21 17 1,061

Net settled derivative contracts – payments (97) (77) (61) (42) (22) (19)

Gross settled derivative contracts – receipts 4,397 1,260 1,953 29 29 1,330

Gross settled derivative contracts – payments (3,979) (1,314) (1,735) (44) (44) (1,477)

Total (17,827) (2,515) (1,244) (1,175) (1,958) (8,055)
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Note 22 Financial risk factors continued

At 22 February 2014

Due
within
1 year

£m

Due
between

1 and 2
years

£m

Due
between

2 and 3
years

£m

Due
between

3 and 4
years

£m

Due
between

4 and 5
years

£m

Due
beyond
5 years

£m

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Bank and other borrowings (1,835) (523) (1,514) (921) (743) (5,372)

Interest payments on borrowings (459) (404) (377) (306) (270) (3,152)

Customer deposits – Tesco Bank (4,725) (1,100) (141) (29) (122) –

Deposits by banks – Tesco Bank (772) (8) – – – –

Finance leases (12) (13) (12) (12) (12) (185)

Trade and other payables (10,441) (82) (19) (2) (2) (49)

Derivative and other financial liabilities

Net settled derivative contracts – receipts 76 29 68 22 44 538

Net settled derivative contracts – payments (91) (75) (59) (52) (70) (345)

Gross settled derivative contracts – receipts 4,768 713 1,323 1,758 39 1,493

Gross settled derivative contracts – payments (4,727) (648) (1,277) (1,499) (24) (1,132)

Total (18,218) (2,111) (2,008) (1,041) (1,160) (8,204)

Foreign exchange risk
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk principally via:

•	 �transactional exposure that arises from the cost of future purchases of goods for resale, where those purchases are denominated in a currency other than 
the functional currency of the purchasing company. Transactional exposures that could significantly impact the Group Income Statement are hedged. 
These exposures are hedged via forward foreign currency contracts which are designated as cash flow hedges. The notional and fair value of these 
contracts is shown in Note 21;

•	 �net investment exposure that arises from changes in the value of net investments denominated in currencies other than Pounds Sterling. The Group 
hedges a part of its investments in its international subsidiaries via foreign currency transactions and borrowings in matching currencies which are formally 
designated as net investment hedges; and

•	 �loans to non-UK subsidiaries that are hedged via foreign currency transactions and borrowings in matching currencies. These are not formally designated 
as hedges as gains and losses on hedges and hedged loans will naturally offset.

The impact on the Group financial statements from foreign currency volatility is shown in the sensitivity analysis below.

Sensitivity analysis
The analysis excludes the impact of movements in market variables on the carrying value of pension and other post-employment obligations and on the 
retranslation of overseas net assets as required by IAS 21 ‘The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates’. However, it does include the foreign exchange 
sensitivity resulting from local entity non-functional currency financial instruments.

The sensitivity analysis has been prepared on the basis that the amount of net debt, the ratio of fixed to floating interest rates of the debt and derivatives 
portfolio, and the proportion of financial instruments in foreign currencies are all constant and on the basis of the hedge designations in place at 28 February 
2015. It should be noted that the sensitivity analysis reflects the impact on income and equity due to financial instruments held at the balance sheet date. It 
does not reflect any change in sales or costs that may result from changing interest or exchange rates.

The following assumptions were made in calculating the sensitivity analysis:

•	 �the sensitivity of interest payable to movements in interest rates is calculated on net floating rate exposures on debt, deposits and derivative instruments 
with no sensitivity assumed for RPI-linked debt which has been swapped to fixed rates;

•	 �changes in the carrying value of derivative financial instruments designated as fair value hedges from movements in interest rates or foreign exchange rates 
have an immaterial effect on the Group Income Statement and equity due to compensating adjustments in the carrying value of debt;

•	 changes in the carrying value of derivative financial instruments designated as net investment hedges from movements in foreign exchange rates are 
recorded directly in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income;

•	 �changes in the carrying value of derivative financial instruments not designated as hedging instruments only affect the Group Income Statement;
•	 �all other changes in the carrying value of derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments are fully effective with no impact  

on the Group Income Statement; and 
•	 �the floating leg of any swap or any floating rate debt is treated as not having any interest rate already set, therefore a change in interest rates affects a full 

12-month period for the interest payable portion of the sensitivity calculations.

Using the above assumptions, the following table shows the illustrative effect on the Group Income Statement and equity that would result, at the balance 
sheet date, from changes in UK interest rates and currency exchange rates that are reasonably possible for major currencies where there have recently been 
significant movements:

2015 2014

Income
gain/(loss)

£m

Equity
gain/(loss)

£m

Income
gain/(loss)

£m

Equity
gain/(loss)

£m
1% increase in interest rates (2014: 1%) 57 – 5 –

10% appreciation of the Czech Koruna (2014: 15%) (4) 39 – 49

10% appreciation of the Euro (2014: 5%) (31) (39) (1) (24)

5% appreciation of the Hungarian Florint (2014: nil) (1) 13 – –

5% appreciation of the South Korean Won (2014: 10%) – 39 – 110

10% appreciation of the US Dollar (2014: 10%) (3) 96 (4) 161

5% appreciation of the Polish Zloty (2014: 5%) – 21 – 19

5% appreciation of the Hong Kong Dollar (2014: 10%) – 4 – 29

10% appreciation of the Turkish Lira (2014: 35%) – 1 – 79

A decrease in interest rates and a depreciation of foreign currencies would have the opposite effect to the impact in the table above. 
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Note 22 Financial risk factors continued

The impact on the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income from changing exchange rates results from the revaluation of financial liabilities used  
as net investment hedges. The impact on the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income will largely be offset by the revaluation in equity of the hedged 
assets. The sensitivity movements in equity includes £100m (2014: £310m) in relation to loans to Group entities that form part of their net investment. 

Capital risk
The Group’s objectives when managing capital (defined as net debt plus equity) are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order  
to provide returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, while protecting and strengthening the balance sheet through the appropriate balance 
of debt and equity funding. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes to economic conditions and the strategic 
objectives of the Group.

To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, buy back shares and cancel them, or issue new shares. 

The Group finances its operations by a combination of retained profits, debt capital market issues, commercial paper, bank borrowings, disposals of property 
assets and leases. The policy for debt is to ensure a smooth debt maturity profile with the objective of ensuring continuity of funding. This policy continued 
during the financial year with bonds redeemed of £1,493m (2014: £208m) and £2,095m of new bonds issued (2014: £844m). The Group borrows centrally 
and locally, using a variety of capital market instruments and borrowing facilities to meet the Group’s business requirements of each local business. 

Refer to Note 30 for the value of the Group’s net debt (£8.5bn; 2014: £6.6bn), and the Group Statement of Changes in Equity for the value of the Group’s 
equity (£7.1bn; 2014: £14.7bn).

Tesco Bank

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises where assets and liabilities in Tesco Bank’s banking activities have different repricing dates. Tesco Bank policy seeks to minimise  
the sensitivity of net interest income to changes in interest rates. Potential exposures to interest rate movements in the medium to long-term are measured 
and controlled through position and sensitivity limits. Short-term exposures are measured and controlled in terms of net interest income sensitivity over 
12 months to a 1% parallel movement in interest rates. Tesco Bank also use Economic Value Equity (‘EVE’) for risk management purposes with focus on the 
value of Tesco Bank in today’s interest rate environment and its sensitivity to changes in interest rates. Interest rate risk is managed using interest rate swaps 
as the main hedging instrument.

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that Tesco Bank is unable to meet its payment obligations as they fall due. Liquidity risk is managed within Tesco Bank’s banking 
activities and adheres to the liquidity requirements set by the Prudential Regulation Authority (‘PRA’). Tesco Bank’s Board has set a defined liquidity risk 
policy and contingency funding which is prudent and in excess of the minimum requirements as set out by the PRA and by Tesco Bank. A diversified portfolio 
of high-quality liquid and marketable assets is maintained. Cash flow commitments and marketable asset holdings are measured and managed on a daily 
basis. Tesco Bank has sufficient liquidity to meet all foreseeable outflow requirements as they fall due and its liquidity risk is further mitigated by its well 
diversified retail deposit base and a pool of surplus cash resources that are invested in a range of marketable assets.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential that a bank borrower or counterparty will fail to meet its obligations in accordance with agreed terms. Credit risk principally arises 
from the Bank’s retail lending activities but also from the placement of surplus funds with other banks and money market funds, investments in transferable 
securities and interest rate and foreign exchange derivatives. In addition, credit risk arises from contractual arrangements with third parties where payments 
and commissions are due to the Bank for short periods of time.

Retail credit policy is managed through the credit risk policy framework with standards and limits defined at all stages of the customer lifecycle, including new 
account sanctioning, customer management and collections and recovery activity. Customer lending decisions are managed principally through the deployment 
of bespoke credit scorecard models and credit policy rules, which exclude specific areas of lending, and an affordability assessment which determines a 
customer’s ability to repay an outstanding credit amount. Wholesale credit risk is managed using a limit-based framework, with limits determined by 
counterparty credit worthiness, instrument type and remaining tenor. A limits framework is also in place for the management of third party credit exposures.

Ineffective management and controls over the emerging asset quality of the Group’s lending portfolios could expose the Group to unacceptable levels of bad 
debt. The Group’s asset quality is reflected through the level of its impairment by lending type. Asset quality profiles are regularly monitored and reported  
to the appropriate senior management team and risk committees. 
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Note 22 Financial risk factors continued

The table below presents an analysis of credit exposure by impairment status across the different exposure classes. The table predominantly relates to 
banking assets; the retail instalment lending applies to credit agreements in the insurance business. 

Credit quality of loans and advances

As at 28 February 2015

Retail
unsecured

lending
£m

Retail 
mortgage

lending
£m

Retail
instalment

lending
£m

Total
£m

Past due and defaulted

Less than 90 days past due 39 – – 39

90–179 days past due 35 – – 35

180 days plus past due 70 – – 70

Past due but not defaulted

Less than 29 days past due 34 2 – 36

30–59 days past due 9 – – 9

60–119 days past due 6 – – 6

Neither past due nor defaulted

Low risk* 6,234 1,195 154 7,583

High risk** 76 6 – 82

Total 6,503 1,203 154 7,860
*	 Low risk is defined as an asset with a probability of default of less than 10%.
**	 High risk is defined as an asset with a probability of default of 10% or more.

Credit quality of loans and advances

As at 22 February 2014

Retail
unsecured

lending
£m

Retail 
mortgage

lending
£m

Retail
instalment

lending
£m

Total
£m

Past due and defaulted

Less than 90 days past due 45 – – 45

90–179 days past due 40 – – 40

180 days plus past due 50 – – 50

Past due but not defaulted

Less than 29 days past due 38 – – 38

30–59 days past due 9 – – 9

60–119 days past due 6 – – 6

Neither past due nor defaulted

Low risk* 5,923 692 167 6,782

High risk** 98 4 – 102

Total 6,209 696 167 7,072
*	 Low risk is defined as an asset with a probability of default of less than 10%.
**	 High risk is defined as an asset with a probability of default of 10% or more.

The credit risk exposure from off balance sheet items, mainly undrawn credit card facilities and mortgage offers, was £11.5bn (2014: £9.7bn).

Insurance risk
Tesco Bank is indirectly exposed to insurance risks through its ownership of 49.9% of Tesco Underwriting Limited (‘TU’), an authorised insurance company. 
Since late 2010 the majority of new business policies for home and motor insurance products sold by Tesco Bank have been underwritten by TU. The key 
insurance risks within TU relate to underwriting risk and specifically the potential for a major weather event to generate significant claims on home insurance, 
or on motor insurance the cost of settling bodily injury claims. Exposure to this risk is actively managed within TU with close monitoring of performance 
metrics and the use of reinsurance to limit TU’s exposure above predetermined limits.

Note 23 Customer deposits and deposits by banks

2015
£m

2014
£m

Customer deposits 6,914 6,078

Deposits by banks 106 780

7,020 6,858

Included above is £1,000m (2014: £1,366m) non-current customer deposits and £nil (2014: £8m) non-current deposits by banks. 

Deposits by banks include liabilities of £97m (2014: £765m) which have been sold under sale and repurchase agreements.
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Note 24 Provisions

Property
provisions

£m

Other
provisions

£m
Total

£m

At 23 February 2013  358  102  460 

Foreign currency translation (12) – (12)

Amount released in the year (35) – (35)

Amount provided in the year 53 63 116

Amount utilised in the year (38) (60) (98)

Transfer to disposal group classified as held for sale 2 – 2

At 22 February 2014 328 105 433 

Foreign currency translation (1)  – (1)

Amount released in the year (104) – (104)

Amount provided in the year 773 362 1,135

Amount utilised in the year (61) (42) (103)

Unwinding of discount 6 – 6

At 28 February 2015 941 425 1,366

The balances are analysed as follows:
2015

£m
2014

£m

Current 671 250

Non-current 695 183

1,366 433

Property provisions
Property provisions comprise onerous lease provisions, including leases on unprofitable stores and vacant properties, and other onerous contacts related  
to property. These provisions are based on the least net cost of fulfilling or exiting the contract.

The calculation of the value in use of the leased property to the Group is based on the same assumptions for discount rates, growth rates and expected change  
in margins as those for Group owned properties, as discussed in detail in Note 11. The provision calculations also assume that the Group can sublet properties  
at market rents. For some leases, termination of the lease at the break clause requires the Group to either purchase the property or buy out the equity ownership 
of the property at fair value. No value is attributed to the purchase conditions since they are at fair value. It is also assumed that the Group is indifferent to 
purchasing the properties.

Based on the factors set out above, the Group has recognised a net onerous property provision charge in the year of £669m (2014: £18m charge) relating to 
contracts in the UK of £561m (2014: £(15)m release), Europe of £62m (2014: £27m charge) and Asia of £46m (2014: £6m charge). These provisions comprise 
obligations for future rents payable net of rents receivable on onerous leases and other onerous contracts relating to properties. Of this charge, £536m (2014: 
£27m) has been classified as ‘Impairment of PPE and onerous lease provisions included within cost of sales’, £120m (2014: £nil) has been classified as 
‘Impairment of PPE and onerous lease provisions included within (losses)/profits arising on property-related items’ within non-GAAP measures in the Group 
Income Statement. The remaining £13m charge (2014: £(9)m release) has not been treated as one-off and is recognised in ‘(losses)/profits arising on property-
related items.’

Other provisions
During the year, the Group announced cost saving initiatives including in the UK a restructuring of central overheads, simplification of store management 
structures and increased working hour flexibility. The Group authorised a detailed formal plan of restructuring relating to these and announced the plan  
to affected employees, leading to recognition of a restructuring provision of £325m.

The remainder of the other provisions relate mainly to provisions for Tesco Bank customer redress in respect of potential complaints arising from the historic 
sales of Payment Protection Insurance (‘PPI’), in respect of customer redress relating to the historic sale of certain Cardholder Protection Products (‘CPP’)  
to credit card customers and in respect of customer redress relating to instances where certain of the requirements of the Consumer Credit Act (‘CCA’)  
for post contract documentation have not been fully complied with. In each instance, management have exercised judgement as to both the timescale  
for implementing the redress campaigns and the final scope of any amounts payable. The balances are classified as current at the year end.
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Note 25 Share-based payments 

For continuing operations, the Group Income Statement charge for the year recognised in respect of share-based payments is £144m (2014: £82m), which  
is made up of share option schemes and share bonus payments. Of this amount, £123m (2014: £63m) will be settled in equity and £21m (2014: £19m) in cash.

Share option schemes
The Company had ten share option schemes in operation during the financial year, all of which are equity-settled schemes:

a) �	The Savings-related Share Option Scheme (1981) permits the grant to colleagues of options in respect of ordinary shares linked to a building society/bank 
save-as-you-earn contract for a term of three or five years with contributions from colleagues of an amount between £5 and £500 per four-weekly period. 
Options are capable of being exercised at the end of the three- or five-year period at a subscription price of not less than 80% of the average of the 
middle-market quotations of an ordinary share over the three dealing days immediately preceding the offer date.

b) �The Irish Savings-related Share Option Scheme (2000) permits the grant to Irish colleagues of options in respect of ordinary shares linked to a building 
society/bank save-as-you-earn contract for a term of three or five years with contributions from colleagues of an amount between €12 and €500 per 
four-weekly period. Options are capable of being exercised at the end of the three- or five-year period at a subscription price of not less than 80%  
of the average of the middle-market quotations of an ordinary share over the three dealing days immediately preceding the offer date.

c) 	�The Approved Executive Share Option Scheme (1994) was adopted on 17 October 1994. The exercise of options granted under this scheme was conditional 
upon the achievement of a specified performance target related to the growth in earnings per share over a three-year period. No further options will be 
granted under this scheme and it has been replaced by the Discretionary Share Option Plan (2004). There were no discounted options granted under  
this scheme.

d) �The Unapproved Executive Share Option Scheme (1996) was adopted on 7 June 1996. The exercise of options granted under this scheme was conditional 
upon the achievement of a specified performance target related to the growth in earnings per share over a three-year period. No further options will be 
granted under this scheme and it has been replaced by the Discretionary Share Option Plan (2004). There were no discounted options granted under  
this scheme.

e) 	�The International Executive Share Option Scheme (1994) was adopted on 20 May 1994. This scheme permitted the grant to selected non-UK executives  
of options to acquire ordinary shares on substantially the same basis as their UK counterparts. The exercise of options granted under this scheme was 
conditional upon the achievement of a specified performance target related to the growth in earnings per share over a three-year period. No further 
options will be granted under this scheme and it has been replaced by the Discretionary Share Option Plan (2004). There were no discounted options 
granted under this scheme.

f) 	�The Executive Incentive Plan (2004) was adopted on 5 July 2004. This scheme permitted the grant of options in respect of ordinary shares to selected 
senior executives. Options are normally exercisable between three and ten years from the date of grant for nil consideration. Full details of this plan can  
be found in the Directors’ remuneration report.

g) �The Performance Share Plan (2004) was adopted on 5 July 2004 and amended on 29 June 2007. This scheme permitted the grant of options in respect  
of ordinary shares to selected executives. Options granted before 29 June 2007 are normally exercisable between four and ten years from the date of grant 
for nil consideration. Options granted after 29 June 2007 are normally exercisable between three and ten years from the date of grant for nil consideration. 
The exercise of options will normally be conditional upon the achievement of specified performance targets over a three-year period. No further options 
will be granted under this scheme and it has been replaced by the Performance Share Plan (2011).

h) �The Performance Share Plan (2011) was adopted on 1 July 2011 and amended on 4 July 2011. This scheme permits the grant of options in respect of 
ordinary shares to selected executives. Options are normally exercisable between the vesting date(s) set at grant and ten years from the date of grant for nil 
consideration. The exercise of options will normally be conditional upon the achievement of specified performance targets over a three-year period and/or 
continuous employment.

i) 	�The Discretionary Share Option Plan (2004) was adopted on 5 July 2004. This scheme permitted the grant of approved, unapproved and international 
options in respect of ordinary shares to selected executives. Options are normally exercisable between three and ten years from the date of grant at a price 
not less than the middle-market quotation or average middle-market quotations of an ordinary share for the dealing day or three dealing days preceding 
the date of grant. The exercise of options will normally be conditional upon the achievement of a specified performance target related to the annual 
percentage growth in earnings per share over a three-year period. There were no discounted options granted under this scheme.

j) 	�The Group New Business Incentive Plan (2007) was adopted on 29 June 2007. This Plan permitted the grant of options in respect of ordinary shares to 
selected executives. Options were to vest in four tranches between four and seven years from the date of grant. The exercise of options for nil consideration 
was conditional upon the achievement of specified performance targets related to the return on capital employed over the seven-year plan. The 
Performance Period for the Plan ended at the end of the 2013/14 financial year. Options did not vest under the Plan and lapsed on 14 April 2014, as stated 
in the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the 2013/14 financial year.
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Note 25 Share-based payments continued

The following tables reconcile the number of share options outstanding and the weighted average exercise price (‘WAEP’):

For the year ended 28 February 2015

Savings-related 
Share Option Scheme

Irish Savings-related
Share Option Scheme

Approved Share  
Option Scheme

Unapproved Share 
Option Scheme

International Executive
Share Option Scheme

Nil cost Share  
Option Schemes*

Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP

Outstanding at  
22 February 
2014 122,602,128 331.31 4,899,521 331.89 8,152,965 397.59 52,804,433 376.63 32,586,360 379.15 21,099,083 0.00

Granted 220,096,960 150.00 4,961,170 150.00 – 0.00 – 0.00 – 0.00 5,105,144 0.00

Forfeited (57,445,888) 330.84 (1,731,520) 344.18 (482,116) 400.30 (4,616,552) 394.86 (2,667,321) 388.13 (13,018,757) 0.00

Exercised (948,908) 311.00 (6,521) 311.00 (136,476) 253.25 (2,875,288) 283.00 (822,049) 253.84 (1,460,694) 0.00

Outstanding at  
28 February 
2015 284,304,292 191.11 8,122,650 218.19 7,534,373 400.03 45,312,593 380.72 29,096,990 381.86 11,724,776 0.00

Exercisable at 
28 February 
2015 18,832,155 343.07 807,176 351.71 7,534,373 400.03 45,312,593 380.72 29,096,990 381.86 714,455 0.00

Exercise price 
range (pence)

311.00
to

386.00

328.00
to

364.00

312.75
to

473.75

310.00
to

473.75

310.00
to

473.75 0.00

Weighted 
average  
remaining 
contractual  
life (years)

0.42 0.42 2.65 2.89 2.95 8.46

*	 Nil cost share options granted include buyout awards made to Dave Lewis and Alan Stewart in respect of awards forfeited on leaving previous employers – see the Directors 	
	 Remuneration Report for more detail.

For the year ended 22 February 2014 

Savings-related 
Share Option Scheme

Irish Savings-related
Share Option Scheme

Approved Share  
Option Scheme

Unapproved Share 
Option Scheme

International Executive
Share Option Scheme

Nil cost Share  
Option Schemes

Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP

Outstanding at  
23 February 
2013 127,212,551 338.85 4,886,834 338.78 12,592,329 399.01 80,439,020 382.62 53,665,107 387.64 19,778,825 0.00

Granted 29,258,434 322.00 1,294,873 322.00 – – – – – – 7,003,764 0.00

Forfeited (24,352,865) 365.89 (1,081,476) 353.68 (3,785,217) 418.07 (21,694,176) 419.27 (17,704,212) 415.76 (2,458,290) 0.00

Exercised (9,515,992) 314.96 (200,710) 318.29 (654,147) 306.38 (5,940,411) 302.00 (3,374,535) 322.10 (3,225,216) 0.00

Outstanding at  
22 February 
2014 122,602,128 331.31 4,899,521 331.89 8,152,965 397.59 52,804,433 376.63 32,586,360 379.15 21,099,083 0.00

Exercisable at 
22 February 
2014 15,894,484 353.09 837,652 370.38 8,145,517 397.58 52,801,878 376.63 32,546,360 379.12 4,206,723 0.00

Exercise price 
range (pence)

311.00
to

410.00

311.00
to

386.00

253.25
to

473.75

253.25
to

473.75

253.25
to

473.75 0.00

Weighted 
average  
remaining 
contractual  
life (years)

0.44 0.44 3.63 3.78 3.88 4.18

Share options were exercised on a regular basis throughout the financial year. The average share price during the financial year ended 28 February 2015 was 
245.50p (2014: 349.48p).
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The fair value of share options is estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The following table gives the assumptions 
applied to the options granted in the respective periods shown. No assumption has been made to incorporate the effects of expected early exercise.

2015 2014

SAYE Nil cost SAYE Nil Cost

Expected dividend yield (%) 2.4% 0.0% 4.6% 0.0%

Expected volatility (%) 22–24% 24% 21–23% 27%

Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.9–1.3% 1.8% 1.2–1.8% 1.7%

Expected life of option (years) 3 or 5 6 3 or 5 6

Weighted average fair value of options granted (pence) 43.72 219.67 47.64 364.85

Probability of forfeiture (%) 14–16% 0% 14–16% 0%

Share price (pence) 187.00 219.67 362.00 364.85

Weighted average exercise price (pence) 150.00 0.00 322.00 0.00

Volatility is a measure of the amount by which a price is expected to fluctuate during a period. The measure of volatility used in the Group’s option pricing 
models is the annualised standard deviation of the continuously compounded rates of return on the share over a period of time. In estimating the future 
volatility of the Company’s share price, the Board considers the historical volatility of the share price over the most recent period that is generally 
commensurate with the expected term of the option, taking into account the remaining contractual life of the option.

Share bonus schemes
Eligible UK colleagues are able to participate in Shares In Success, an all-employee profit-sharing scheme. Each year, shares may be awarded to colleagues  
as a percentage of earnings, up to a statutory maximum of £3,600 per annum in 2014/15. Eligible Republic of Ireland colleagues are able to participate in  
a Share Bonus Scheme, an all-employee profit-sharing scheme. Each year, colleagues receive an award of either cash or shares based on a percentage of 
their earnings.

Selected executives participate in the Group Bonus Plan, a performance-related bonus scheme. The amount paid to colleagues is based on a percentage  
of salary and is paid partly in cash and partly in shares. Bonuses are awarded to selected executives who have completed a required service period and 
depend on the achievement of corporate and individual performance targets.

Selected executives participate in the Performance Share Plan (2011). Awards made under this plan will normally vest on the vesting date(s) set on the date  
of the award for nil consideration. Vesting will normally be conditional on the achievement of specified performance targets over a three-year performance 
period and/or continuous employment.

The Executive Directors participate in short-term and long-term bonus schemes designed to align their interests with those of shareholders. Full details of 
these schemes can be found in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

The fair value of shares awarded under these schemes is their market value on the date of award. Expected dividends are not incorporated into the fair value.

The number and weighted average fair value (‘WAFV’) of share bonuses awarded during the financial year were:
2015 2014

Number of
 shares 

WAFV 
pence

Number of
 shares 

WAFV 
pence

Shares In Success 18,949,708 307.15 14,776,516 383.55

Irish Share Bonus Scheme 84,454 292.00 96,668 384.55

Group Bonus Plan 2,808,053 285.43 598,842 375.18

Performance Share Plan 27,211,291 283.51 30,506,080 361.13

Note 26 Post-employment benefits

Pensions
The Group operates a variety of post-employment benefit arrangements, covering both funded and unfunded defined benefit schemes and funded defined 
contribution schemes. The most significant of these are the funded defined benefit pension schemes for the Group’s employees in the UK, the Republic of 
Ireland, Thailand and South Korea. Of these schemes, the UK represents 95% of the defined benefit deficit (2014: 95%). 

Defined contribution plans
The contributions payable for defined contribution schemes of £24m (2014: £32m) have been recognised in the Group Income Statement.

Defined benefit plans
United Kingdom
The principal plan within the Group is the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme (the ‘Scheme’), which is a funded defined benefit pension scheme in the UK, the assets 
of which are held as a segregated fund and administered by the Trustee. 

The Scheme is established under trust law and has a corporate trustee that is required to run the Scheme in accordance with the Scheme’s Trust Deed and 
Rules and to comply with the Pension Scheme Act 1993, Pensions Act 1995, Pensions Act 2004, Pensions Act 2014 and all the relevant legislation. 
Responsibility for governance of the Scheme lies with the Trustee. The Trustee is a company whose directors comprise of:

a) 	representatives of the Group; and
b) the Scheme participants, in accordance with its articles of association and UK pension law.

All members are eligible to join the Career Average section of the Scheme (‘Pension Builder’), where benefits are based on a member’s salary and their length 
of service. There is a Final Salary section of the Scheme which was closed to new entrants in 2001.

Following the year end, the Group has entered consultation on the closure of the UK defined benefit pension scheme to new entrants and future accrual.  
This has had no impact on the results for the year ended 28 February 2015.

Note 25 Share-based payments continued
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Towers Watson Limited, an independent actuary, carried out the latest triennial actuarial assessment of the scheme as at 31 March 2014, using the projected 
unit method. At 31 March 2014, the actuarial deficit was £2,751m. The market value of the scheme’s assets was £8,020m and these assets represented 75% 
of the benefits that had accrued to members, after allowing for expected increases in earnings and pensions in payment. 

The scheme has a duration of 24 years.

Scheme Liabilities as at 31 March 2014
The table below shows a breakdown of the liabilities held by the Scheme as at 31 March 2014, the date of the last triennial valuation:

%

Active 55

Deferred 21

Pensioner 24

The table below shows a breakdown of the liabilities for active members held by the Scheme as at 31 March 2014:
%

Pension Builder 57

Final Salary 43

Overseas
The most significant overseas schemes are the funded defined benefit schemes which operate in the Republic of Ireland, Thailand and South Korea.  
An independent actuary, using the projected unit method, carried out the latest actuarial assessment of the Republic of Ireland scheme as at 1 April 2013, 
Thailand as at 28 February 2013 and South Korea as at 28 February 2015. 

The accounting valuations used have been based on the most recent actuarial valuations and updated by Towers Watson Limited to take account of the 
requirements of the applicable accounting standard in order to assess the liabilities of the schemes as at 28 February 2015. The schemes’ assets are stated  
at their market values as at 28 February 2015. The liabilities relating to retirement healthcare benefits have also been determined in accordance with the 
applicable accounting standard.

Principal assumptions 
The major assumptions, on a weighted average basis, used by the actuaries were as follows:

2015 
%

2014 
%

Discount rate 3.7 4.7

Price inflation 3.1 3.3

Rate of increase in deferred pensions* 2.1 2.3

Rate of increase in salaries 3.2 3.4

Rate of increase in pensions in payment*

Benefits accrued before 1 June 2012 2.9 3.1

Benefits accrued after 1 June 2012 2.1 2.3

Rate of increase in career average benefits

Benefits accrued before 1 June 2012 3.1 3.3

Benefits accrued after 1 June 2012 2.1 2.3

*	 In excess of any Guaranteed Minimum Pension (‘GMP’) element.

UK mortality assumptions 
The Group conducts analysis of mortality trends under the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme in the UK as part of the triennial actuarial valuation of the Scheme.  
At the latest triennial actuarial valuation as at 31 March 2014 the following assumptions were adopted for funding purposes:

Base tables: 
95% of the SAPS S2 normal male pensioners for male staff and 80% of the SAPS S2 normal light male pensioners for male senior managers. 
SAPS S2 all female pensioners with multipliers of 100% for female staff and 80% for female senior managers.

These assumptions were used for the calculation of the pension liability as at 28 February 2015 for the main UK scheme.

The mortality assumptions used are based on tables that have been projected to 2014 with CMI 2013 improvements. In addition, the allowance for future 
mortality improvements from 2014 is in line with CMI 2013 with a long term improvement rate of 1.25% per annum.

The following table illustrates the expectation of life of an average member retiring at age 65 at the reporting date and a member reaching age 65 at reporting 
date +25 years.

2015 
Years

2014 
Years

Retiring at reporting date at age 65: Male 23.0 22.9

 Female 24.4 24.4

Retiring at reporting date +25 years at age 65: Male 25.3 25.2

 Female 26.7 26.6

Note 26 Post-employment benefits continued
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Risks 
The Group bears a numbers of risks in relation to the Scheme, which are described below:

Investment risk – The Scheme’s accounting liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bond yields. If the return on the 
Scheme’s assets underperform this rate, the accounting deficit will increase. The Trustee and the Group regularly monitor the funding position and operate  
a diversified investment strategy. 

Inflation risk – The Scheme’s benefit obligations are linked to inflation therefore higher inflation will lead to higher liabilities. This will be partially offset  
by an increase in any Scheme assets that are linked to, or correlate with, inflation. Changes to future benefits were introduced in June 2012 to reduce  
the Scheme’s exposure to inflation risk by changing the basis for calculating the rate of increase in pensions to CPI (previously RPI). 

Changes in bond yields – A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase the Scheme’s liabilities. However, this may be partially offset by an increase  
in the capital value of the Scheme’s assets that have similar characteristics.

Life expectancy risk – The Scheme’s obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member and so increases in life expectancy will lead to higher 
liabilities. To reduce this risk, changes to future benefits were introduced in June 2012 to increase the age at which members can take their full pension  
by two years. Furthermore the Group has the ability to change this in the future if there are further unexpected changes in life expectancy.

An Audit & Risk Pensions Committee was established to further strengthen our Trustee Governance and provide greater oversight and stronger internal 
control over our risks. Further mitigation of the risks is provided by external advisors and the Trustee who consider the funding position, fund performance, 
and impacts of any regulatory changes. 

A different approach is used to calculate the triennial actuarial liabilities and the accounting liabilities. The key difference is that the accounting valuation 
requires the discount rate to be set using corporate bonds whilst the actuarial liabilities discount rate is based on expected returns of Scheme assets.

Sensitivity analysis of significant actuarial assumptions
2015 

£m
2014

£m

Change in UK defined benefit obligation from a 0.1% increase in discount rate 340 240

Increase in UK defined benefit obligation from a 1% increase in pensions in payment 1,920 1,210

Increase in UK defined benefit obligation from a 1% increase in salary growth 310 320

Increase in UK defined benefit obligation from each additional year of longevity assumed 490 350

The method and assumptions used to determine sensitivity and their limitation is the effect of varying the assumption whilst holding all other assumptions constant.	
					   
Plan Assets
The table below shows a breakdown of the combined investments held by the Group’s schemes:					   

2015
£m

2014
£m

Equities

UK 510 476

Europe 1,127 891

Rest of the world 3,866 3,029

5,503 4,396

Bonds

Government 1,122 280

Corporates – investment grade 316 744

Corporates – non-investment grade 43 170

1,481 1,194

Property

UK 704 519

Rest of the world 261 247

965 766

Alternative assets

Hedge funds 738 586

Private equity 491 472

Other 168 75

1,397 1,133

Cash 331 635

Total market value of assets 9,677 8,124

At the year end, 73% (2014: 77%) of investments were quoted on a recognised stock exchange or held in cash or assets readily convertible to cash and are 
therefore considered to be liquid. 

The plan assets include £nil (2014: £3m) of the Group’s transferable financial instruments. In addition, the plan assets include £166m (2014: £158m) relating  
to property used by the Group. In addition, Group property with net carrying value of £434m (2014: £416m) has been held as security in favour of the Scheme.

Note 26 Post-employment benefits continued
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Movement in pension deficit during the financial year 
Changes in the fair value of defined benefit pension assets are as follows:

2015
£m

2014
£m

Opening fair value of defined benefit pension assets 8,124 7,206

Interest income 386 372

Return on plan assets greater than discount rate 874 253

Contributions by employer 563 531

Additional contribution by employer 13 4

Actual member contributions 11 12

Foreign currency translation (15) (14)

Benefits paid (279) (240)

Closing fair value of defined benefit pension assets 9,677 8,124

Changes in the present value of defined benefit pension obligations are as follows:
2015

£m
2014

£m

Opening defined benefit pension obligation (11,317) (9,584)

Current service cost (631) (542)

Interest cost (522) (478)

Losses on change of financial assumptions (2,553) (938)

Losses on change of demographic assumptions (66) (6)

Experience gains/(losses) 272 (22)

Foreign currency translation 30 25

Benefits paid 279 240

Actual member contributions (11) (12)

Closing defined benefit pension obligation (14,519) (11,317)

The amounts that have been charged to the Group Income Statement and Group Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 28 February 2015 
are set out below:

2015
£m

2014
£m

Analysis of the amount charged to operating profit:

Current service cost (631) (542)

Total charge to operating profit (631) (542)

Analysis of the amount credited/(charged) to finance income/(cost):

Interest on defined benefit pension assets 386 372

Interest on defined benefit pension obligation (522) (478)

Net pension finance cost (Note 5) (136) (106)

Total charge to the Group Income Statement (767) (648)

Analysis of the amount recognised in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income: 

Return on plan assets greater than discount rate 874 253

Experience gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension obligation 272 (22)

Demographic assumption losses on defined benefit pension obligation (66) (6)

Financial assumption losses on defined benefit pension obligation (2,553) (938)

Foreign currency translation 15 11

Total losses recognised in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income (1,458) (702)

Summary of movements in deficit during the financial year

2015
£m

2014
£m

Deficit in schemes at beginning of the year (3,193) (2,378)

Current service cost (631) (542)

Net pension finance cost (136) (106)

Contributions by employer 563 531

Additional contribution by employer 13 4

Foreign currency translation 15 11

Remeasurements (1,473) (713)

Deficit in schemes at the end of the year (4,842) (3,193)

Deferred tax asset (Note 6) 957 634

Deficit in schemes at the end of the year, net of deferred tax (3,885) (2,559)

Note 26 Post-employment benefits continued
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History of movements
The historical movement in defined benefit pension schemes’ assets and liabilities and history of experience gains and losses are as follows: 

2015
£m

2014
£m

2013
£m

2012
£m

2011
£m

Total market value of assets 9,677 8,124 7,206 6,169 5,608

Present value of liabilities relating to unfunded pension schemes (134) (111) (91) (60) (65)

Present value of liabilities relating to partially funded pension schemes (14,385) (11,206) (9,493) (7,981) (6,899)

Pension deficit (4,842) (3,193) (2,378) (1,872) (1,356)

Remeasurements on defined benefit pension assets 874 253 94 (168) 278

Experience gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension obligation 272 (22) 1 43 (25)

Post-employment benefits other than pensions 
The Group operates a scheme offering post-retirement healthcare benefits. The cost of providing these benefits has been accounted for on a similar basis  
to that used for defined benefit pension schemes.

The liability as at 28 February 2015 of £11m (2014: £12m) was determined in accordance with the advice of independent actuaries. During the year, £1m 
(2014: £1m) has been charged to the Group Income Statement and £1m (2014: £1m) of benefits were paid. 

Expected contributions 
The Company would make normal cash contributions of approximately £756m to defined benefit schemes in the financial year ending 27 February 2016,  
if all schemes remained open to new members and future accrual for the full year. This may change however depending on the outcome of the consultation 
on the closure of the UK defined benefit pension scheme.

A plan to pay £270m a year has been agreed with the Trustee to fund the UK pension deficit and to meet the expenses of the scheme. Due to the timing of the 
agreement, a portion of this is included in the above value.

Note 27 Called up share capital

2015 2014

Ordinary shares of 5p each Ordinary shares of 5p each

 Number £m Number £m

Allotted, called up and fully paid:

At beginning of the year 8,095,821,091 405 8,054,054,930 403

Share options exercised 5,080,408 – 19,662,145 1

Share bonus awards issued 22,090,000 1 22,104,016 1

At end of the year 8,122,991,499 406 8,095,821,091 405

During the financial year, 5 million (2014: 20 million) ordinary shares of 5p each were issued in relation to share options for an aggregate consideration  
of £14m (2014: £61m). 

During the financial year, 22 million (2014: 22 million) ordinary shares of 5p each were issued in relation to share bonus awards for an aggregate consideration 
of £1.1m (2014: £1.1m).

Between 1 March 2015 and 17 April 2015 options over 5,533 ordinary shares were exercised under the terms of the Savings-related Share Option Scheme 
(1981) and the Irish Savings-related Share Option Scheme (2000). Between 1 March 2015 and 17 April 2015, no options have been exercised under the 
Discretionary Share Option Plan (2004). 

As at 28 February 2015, the Directors were authorised to purchase up to a maximum in aggregate of 810.1 million (2014: 806.5 million) ordinary shares.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at general meetings  
of the Company.

Note 28 Related party transactions

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. 
Transactions between the Group and its joint ventures and associates are disclosed below: 

Trading transactions
Sales to  

related parties
Purchases from 
related parties

Amounts owed
 by related parties

Amounts owed
to related parties

 
2015

£m
2014

£m
2015

£m
2014

£m
2015

£m
2014

£m
2015

£m
2014

£m

Joint ventures 430 366 549 533 17 19 22 6

Associates – 7 14 18 26 – 1 17

Sales to related parties consists of services/management fees and loan interest. 

Purchases from related parties include £430m (2014: £412m) of rentals payable to the Group’s joint ventures (including those joint ventures formed as part  
of the sale and leaseback programme).

Note 26 Post-employment benefits continued
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Non-trading transactions
Sale and  

leaseback of assets
Loans to 

related parties
Loans from

 related parties
Injection of

equity funding

 
2015

£m
2014

£m
2015

£m
2014

£m
2015

£m
2014

£m
2015

£m
2014

£m

Joint ventures – – 207 218 16 16 14 3

Associates – 46 – 37 – – 10 7

Transactions between the Group and the Group’s pension plans are disclosed in Note 26. 

A number of the Group’s subsidiaries are members of one or more partnerships to whom the provisions of the Partnerships (Accounts) Regulations 2008 
(‘Regulations’) apply. The accounts for those partnerships have been consolidated into these accounts pursuant to Regulation 7 of the Regulations.

In the prior year, the Group completed one sale and leaseback transaction involving property assets in Thailand. On 24 January 2014, one trading mall was 
sold to the Tesco Lotus Growth Fund, an associated entity of the Group, for a consideration of £46m. There were no sale and leaseback transactions in the 
current year.

Transactions with key management personnel
Members of the Board of Directors and Executive Committee of Tesco PLC are deemed to be key management personnel. 

Key management personnel compensation for the financial year was as follows:
2015

£m
2014

£m

Salaries and short-term benefits 14 16

Pensions 3 3

Share-based payments 4 2

Joining costs and loss of office costs 8 1

29 22

Of the total remuneration to key management personnel, £16m (2014: £16m) relates to Executive Committee members who are not on the PLC Board.

Of the key management personnel who had transactions with Tesco Bank during the financial year, the following are the balances at the year end: 

Credit card and personal 
loan balances

 
Current and saving deposit 

accounts

 

Number of key 
management 

personnel £m

Number of key 
management 

personnel £m

At 28 February 2015 19 1 16 1

At 22 February 2014 12 – 4 –

Note 28 Related party transactions continued

133Tesco PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements 2015

O
ther inform

ation
G

overnance
Fin

an
cial statem

en
ts

Strategic report



2015
£m

2014 
£m

(Loss)/profit before tax (6,376) 2,259

Net finance costs (Note 5) 571 432

Share of post-tax losses/(profits) of joint ventures and associates (Note 13) 13 (60)

Operating (loss)/profit of continuing operations (5,792) 2,631

Operating loss of discontinued operations (10) (925)

Depreciation and amortisation 1,552 1,567

Losses/(profits) arising on one-off property-related items from continuing operations 805 (98)

Losses/(profits) arising on other property-related items from continuing operations 44 (134)

Losses/(profits) arising on property-related items from discontinued operations 5 162

Loss/(profit) arising on sale of non property-related items 46 (1)

Loss arising on sale of subsidiaries and other investments 41 1

Impairment of goodwill (Note 10) 116 540

Impairment of other investments – 42

Impairment of investments in/loans to joint ventures and associates 712 –

Net charge of impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets not included in property-related items 3,320 715

Adjustment for non-cash element of pensions charges 68 11

Additional contribution into pension scheme (13) (4)

Share-based payments 105 47

Tesco Bank non-cash items included in profit before tax 58 76

Decrease/(increase) in inventories 577 (115)

Decrease/(increase) in development stock 59 (8)

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 32 (33)

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (449) 509

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 926 (73)

Tesco Bank increase in loans and advances to customers (Note 17) (846) (1,432)

Tesco Bank increase in trade and other receivables (60) (31)

Tesco Bank increase in customer and bank deposits and trade and other payables 186 867

Tesco Bank (decrease)/increase in provisions (15) 2

Decrease/(increase) in working capital 410 (314)

Cash generated from operations 1,467 4,316

Decrease/(increase) in working capital includes the impact of translating foreign currency working capital movements at average exchange rates rather than 
year end exchange rates.

Losses/(profits) arising on property-related items from continuing operations shown above excludes movements in respect of provisions for onerous 
contracts of £136m (2014: continuing operations: £(46)m; discontinued operations: £(37)m). These are included in ‘(losses)/profits arising on property-related 
items’ as per the Group Income Statement.

Impact of one-off items on working capital movements
The decrease/(increase) in working capital shown above includes a £1,805m decrease (2014: £109m decrease) due to the impact of one-off items in the year. 
This decrease is made up of a £569m (2014: £60m) decrease in inventories due to inventory valuations and provisions, a £964m increase (2014: £7m 
decrease) in provisions due to onerous lease provisions and restructuring provisions, and a £272m (2014: £56m) decrease in working capital amounts  
for trade and other receivables and trade and other payables, with the 2015 decrease principally due to the £208m corrections of commercial income. 

Note 29 Reconciliation of (loss) profit before tax to cash generated from operations
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Note 30 Analysis of changes in net debt

At
22 February 

2014
£m

Cash flow
£m

Fair value and 
foreign 

exchange 
movements

£m

Interest 
(charge)/

income 
£m

Other
non-cash

movements
£m

Non-cash 
movements 

– China 
disposal 

£m

Reclassification 
of movements 

in net debt of 
disposal groups

£m

At
28 February 

2015
£m

Total Group

Cash and cash equivalents 2,506 (717) 78 – – – 298 2,165

Short-term investments 1,016 (423) – – – – – 593

Joint venture loans 252 (40) (5) – 2 (133) 131 207

Interest and other receivables 2 (14) – 16 (8) – 5 1

Bank and other borrowings (10,817) (1,704) 147 (34) (55) 385 (280) (12,358)

Interest payables (275) 613 – (506) 7 3 (2) (160)

Finance lease payables (121) 3 2 – (25) – – (141)

Net derivative financial instruments 618 6 (36) 22 – – – 610

Net derivative interest 89 (90) – 55 – – – 54

Net debt of the disposal groups 161 – – – – – (152) 9

Total Group (6,569) (2,366) 186 (447) (79) 255 – (9,020)

Tesco Bank

Cash and cash equivalents 485 131 – – – – – 616

Joint venture loans 34 – – – – – – 34

Bank and other borrowings (485) (643) (5) – – – – (1,133)

Interest payables (1) 4 – (4) – – – (1)

Net derivative financial instruments (5) – (50) – – – – (55)

Tesco Bank 28 (508) (55) (4) – – – (539)

Retail

Cash and cash equivalents 2,021 (848) 78 – – – 298 1,549

Short-term investments 1,016 (423) – – – – – 593

Joint venture loans 218 (40) (5) – 2 (133) 131 173

Interest and other receivables 2 (14) – 16 (8) – 5 1

Bank and other borrowings (10,332) (1,061) 152 (34) (55) 385 (280) (11,225)

Interest payables (274) 609 – (502) 7 3 (2) (159)

Finance lease payables (121) 3 2 – (25) – – (141)

Net derivative financial instruments 623 6 14 22 – – – 665

Net derivative interest 89 (90) – 55 – – – 54

Net debt of the disposal groups 161 – – – – – (152) 9

Net debt (6,597) (1,858) 241 (443) (79) 255 – (8,481)

Net debt excludes the net debt of Tesco Bank but includes that of discontinued operations. Balances and movements in respect of the total Group and Tesco 
Bank are presented to allow reconciliation between the Group Balance Sheet and the Group Cash Flow Statement.

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

2015
£m

2014 
£m

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (717)  387

Elimination of Tesco Bank movement in cash and cash equivalents (131)  570

Retail cash movement in other net debt items  

Net (decrease)/increase in short-term investments (423) 494

Net repayment of loans by joint ventures (40) (54)

Net increase in borrowings and lease financing (1,052) (1,183)

Net interest paid on components of net debt 505 369

Change in net debt resulting from cash flow (1,858)  583

Retail net interest charge on components of net debt (443)  (392)

Retail fair value and foreign exchange movements  241 (51)

Debt disposed on disposal of China operations 255 –

Retail other non-cash movements (79) (140)

Increase in net debt for the year (1,884) –

Opening net debt (6,597) (6,597)

Closing net debt (8,481) (6,597)
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Note 31 Business combinations and other acquisitions

On 3 April 2014 the Group, through its subsidiary dunnhumby Ltd, acquired Sociomantic Labs (‘Sociomantic’), a Berlin-based global leader in digital 
advertising solutions, for £124m which included £38m of deferred cash consideration. Sociomantic operates in 14 countries worldwide, with clients in retail, 
financial services and travel services.

The Sociomantic acquisition generated goodwill of £87m and other acquisitions generated goodwill of £11m. The goodwill represents synergies within  
the operating models and the economies of scale expected from incorporating the operations of the acquired entities within the Group.

Cash flows from acquisitions, net of cash acquired, were £(86)m (2014: £(52)m) and from disposals, net of cash disposed, were £(157)m (2014: £39m).

Note 32 Commitments and contingencies

Capital commitments
At 28 February 2015, there were commitments for capital expenditure contracted for, but not provided for of £182m (2014: £270m), principally relating  
to store development.

Contingent liabilities
The Group recognises provisions for liabilities when it is more likely than not that a settlement will be required and the value of such a payment can be  
reliably estimated. 

On 22 September 2014, the Group announced that it had identified an overstatement of its expected profit for the first half of the year, as contained in 
guidance it had issued in August. The Serious Fraud Office (‘SFO’) commenced an investigation into accounting practices at the Group on 29 October 2014.  
It is not possible to predict the timescale or outcome of the SFO investigation, but the SFO could decide to prosecute individuals and the Group, and there  
is the possibility of fines, or other consequences. The Group is cooperating with the SFO.

Class actions have been filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against the Group, its former Chairman, two former 
Directors and the former Managing Director of its UK business for alleged violations of US federal securities laws. The Court has appointed the lead plaintiff  
to take forward the claim on behalf of all investors and has ordered them to file their claim by the end of April 2015. The Group then intends to file a motion  
to dismiss the complaint. All of the plaintiffs dealt through the American Depository Receipts (‘ADR’) programme which represents approximately 2% of the 
Group’s issued share capital.

In addition, law firms in the UK have announced the intention of forming claimant groups to commence litigation against the Group for matters arising out  
of or in connection with its overstatement, and purport to have secured third party funding for such litigation. No such litigation has yet been formally 
threatened or commenced.

All such matters are periodically assessed with the assistance of external professional advisers, where appropriate, to determine the likelihood of the Group 
incurring a liability and to evaluate the extent to which a reliable estimate of any liability can be made. However, the likely outcome on the Group of the SFO 
investigation and any litigation relating to the above issues that either has been or may potentially be brought against the Group is subject to a number of 
significant uncertainties. These cannot currently be determined, although they could have a material and adverse impact on the Group’s financial condition 
and/or results. Accordingly, no provision has been made in respect of these matters. 

For details of assets held under finance leases, which are pledged as security for the finance lease liabilities, see Note 11. There are a number of contingent 
liabilities that arise in the normal course of business which if realised are not expected to result in a material liability to the Group.

Tesco PLC has irrevocably guaranteed the liabilities of the following Irish subsidiary undertakings, which undertakings have been exempted pursuant  
to section 17(1) of the Companies (Amendment) Act 1986 of Ireland from the provisions of section 7 (other than subsection (1)(b)) of that Act:

Monread Developments Limited; Edson Properties Limited; Edson Investments Limited; Cirrus Finance (2009) Limited; Commercial Investments Limited; 
Chirac Limited, Clondalkin Properties Limited; Golden Island Management Services Limited; Tesco Ireland Pension Trustees Limited; Orpingford; Tesco 
Trustee Company of Ireland Limited; WSC Properties Limited; Thundridge; Pharaway Properties Limited; R.J.D. Holdings; Nabola Development Limited; PEJ 
Property Investments Limited; Cirrus Finance Limited; Tesco Ireland Limited; Wanze Properties (Dundalk) Limited; Valiant Insurance Company; Tesco Ireland 
Holdings Limited.

Tesco Bank
At 28 February 2015, Tesco Bank had commitments of formal standby facilities, credit lines and other commitments to lend, totalling £11.5bn (2014: £9.7bn). 
The amount is intended to provide an indication of the potential volume of business and not of the underlying credit or other risks.

Note 33 Tesco Bank capital resources 

The following tables analyse the regulatory capital resources of Tesco Personal Finance PLC (‘TPF’), being the regulated entity at the balance sheet date:
2015

£m
2014

£m

Tier 1 capital: 

Shareholders’ funds and non-controlling interests, net of tier 1 regulatory adjustments 1,041 913

Tier 2 capital: 

Qualifying subordinated debt 235 235

Other interests 36 33

Total tier 2 regulatory adjustments (24) (21)

Total regulatory capital 1,288 1,160

On 27 June 2013 the final Capital Requirements Directive (‘CRD’) IV rules were published in the Official Journal of the European Union. Following the 
publication of the CRD IV rules the Prudential Regulation Authority (‘PRA’) issued a policy statement on 19 December 2013 detailing how the rules will  
be enacted within the UK with corresponding timeframes for implementation. The CRD IV rules will be phased in over the course of the next five years and, 
accordingly, the following tables analyse the regulatory capital resources of the Company (being the regulated entity) applicable as at the year end and also 
the “end point” position, once all of the rules contained within CRD IV have come into force.
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The movement of tier 1 capital during the financial year is analysed as follows:
2015

£m
2014

£m

At beginning of the year 913 705

Share capital and share premium – 140

Profit attributable to shareholders 131 115

Other reserves 14 1

Ordinary dividends (50) (100)

Movement in material holdings 3 11

Increase in intangible assets 25 (30)

Other – Tier 1 (1) –

At end of the year, excluding CRD IV adjustments 1,035 842

CRD IV adjustment – deferred tax liabilities related to intangible assets 6 –

CRD IV adjustment – movement in material holdings – 32

CRD IV adjustment – other – 39

At end of the year, including CRD IV adjustments 1,041 913

It is the Group’s policy to maintain a strong capital base, to expand it as appropriate and to utilise it efficiently throughout its activities to optimise the return  
to shareholders while maintaining a prudent relationship between the capital base and the underlying risks of the business. In carrying out this policy, the 
Group has regard to the supervisory requirements of the PRA.

Note 34 Lease commitments

Finance lease commitments – Group as lessee
The Group has finance leases for various items of plant, equipment, fixtures and fittings. There are also a small number of buildings which are held under 
finance leases. The fair value of the Group’s lease obligations approximate to their carrying value.

Future minimum lease payments under finance leases and hire purchase contracts, together with the present value of the net minimum lease payments,  
are as follows:

Minimum lease payments
Present value of net

minimum lease payments

2015
£m

2014
£m

2015
£m

2014
£m

Within one year 20 12 10 6

Greater than one year but less than five years 70 49 35 14

After five years 167 185 96 101

Total minimum lease payments 257 246 141 121

Less future finance charges (116) (125)

Present value of minimum lease payments 141 121

Analysed as:

Current finance lease payables 10 6

Non-current finance lease payables 131 115

 141 121

Operating lease commitments – Group as lessee
Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2015
£m

2014
£m

Within one year 1,324 1,334

Greater than one year but less than five years 4,686 4,676

After five years 9,697 9,911

Total minimum lease payments 15,707 15,921

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases after five years are analysed further as follows:
2015

£m
2014

£m

Greater than five years but less than ten years 4,243 4,250

Greater than ten years but less than fifteen years 2,853 2,894

After fifteen years 2,601 2,767

Total minimum lease payments – after five years 9,697 9,911

The Group has used operating lease commitments discounted at 7% (2014: 7%) of £9,353m (2014: £9,419m) in its calculation of total indebtedness.

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its retail, distribution and office properties and other assets such as motor 
vehicles. The leases have varying terms, purchase options, escalation clauses and renewal rights. Purchase options and renewal rights, where they occur,  
are at market value. Escalation clauses are in line with market practices and include inflation linked, fixed rates, resets to market rents and hybrids of these.

Note 33 Tesco Bank capital resources continued
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The Group has lease break options on certain sale and leaseback transactions. These options are exercisable if the Group exercises an existing option to buy 
back, at market value and at a specified date, either the leased asset or the equity of the other joint venture partner. No commitment has been included in 
respect of the buy-back option as the option is at the Group’s discretion. The Group is not obliged to pay lease rentals after that date, therefore minimum 
lease payments exclude those falling after the buy-back date. The current market value of these properties is £4.7bn (2014: £5.4bn) and the total lease 
rentals, if they were to be incurred following the option exercise date, would be £3.9bn (2014: £4.2bn) using current rent values. The lease break options  
are exercisable between 2015 and 2023.

The additional lease rentals if incurred following the option exercise date would be as follows:

2015
£m

2014
£m

Within one year 10 –

Greater than one year but less than five years 372 336

Greater than five years but less than ten years 1,095 1,045

Greater than ten years but less than fifteen years 1,084 1,257

After fifteen years 1,349 1,611

Total contingent additional lease rentals 3,910 4,249

Operating lease commitments with joint ventures and associates 
Since 1988 the Group has entered into several joint ventures and associates and sold and leased back properties to and from these joint ventures and associates. 
The terms of these sale and leasebacks vary, however, common factors include: the sale of the properties to the joint venture or associate at market value; 
options within the lease for the Group to repurchase the properties at market value; market rent reviews; and 20 to 30 full-year lease terms. The Group reviews 
the substance as well as the form of the arrangements when determining the classification of leases as operating or finance. All of the leases under these 
arrangements are operating leases.

Operating lease receivables – Group as lessor
The Group both rents out its properties and also sublets various leased buildings under operating leases. At the balance sheet date, the following future 
minimum lease payments are contractually receivable from tenants: 

2015
£m

2014
£m

Within one year 211 193

Greater than one year but less than five years 314 256

After five years 297 196

Total minimum lease receivables 822 645

Note 35 Events after the reporting period

On 20 March 2015 the Group regained sole ownership of 21 stores which were previously held in a joint venture with British Land Co PLC (‘British Land’). The 
Group received British Land’s share of the 21 stores and cash of £96m. In exchange, British Land took sole ownership of three shopping centres, three retail 
parks and three standalone stores which were held in two joint ventures between the two companies as at 28 February 2015. The Group will continue to lease 
the stores at these sites at market rents which are not subject to RPI-indexed increases.

Note 34 Lease commitments continued
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Notes

28 February
2015

£m

22 February
2014

£m

Non-current assets

Investments  5 13,504 13,691

Derivative financial instruments 10 1,439 1,430

 14,943 15,121

Current assets

Derivative financial instruments 10 19 64

Debtors  6 12,248 12,536

Short-term investments  7 593 1,016

Cash and cash equivalents  22 106

 12,882 13,722

Creditors – amounts falling due within one year

Borrowings  9 (632) (1,705)

Derivative financial instruments 10 (61) (130)

Other creditors  8 (6,607) (8,953)

 (7,300) (10,788)

Net current assets 5,582 2,934

Total assets less current liabilities 20,525 18,055

Creditors – amounts falling due after more than one year

Borrowings  9 (7,440) (7,953)

Derivative financial instruments  10 (635) (703)

 (8,075) (8,656)

Net assets  12,450 9,399

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 13 406 405

Share premium  14 5,094 5,080

Profit and loss reserve 14 6,950 3,914

Total equity 12,450 9,399

The notes on pages 140 to 144 form part of these financial statements.

Dave Lewis 
Alan Stewart
 
Directors 
The Parent Company financial statements on pages 139 to 144 were authorised for issue by the Directors on 5 May 2015 and are subject to the approval of 
the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 26 June 2015.

Tesco PLC 
Registered number 00445790

Tesco PLC – Parent Company balance sheet
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Note 1  Accounting policies

investing activities. The Company does not hold or issue derivative financial 
instruments for trading purposes.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised and stated at fair value. Where 
derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or losses on 
remeasurement are immediately recognised in the Company Profit and Loss 
Account. Where derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, recognition of any 
resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship and the  
items being hedged.

In order to qualify for hedge accounting, the Company is required to document 
from inception, the relationship between the item being hedged and the hedging 
instrument. The Company is also required to document and demonstrate an 
assessment of the relationship between the hedged item and the hedging 
instrument, which shows that the hedge will be highly effective on an on-going 
basis. This effectiveness testing is performed at each reporting date to ensure that 
the hedge remains highly effective.

Derivative financial instruments with maturity dates of more than one year from  
the balance sheet date are disclosed as falling due after more than one year.

Fair value hedging
Derivative financial instruments are classified as fair value hedges when they hedge 
the Company’s exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability. 
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value 
hedges are recorded in the Company Profit and Loss Account, together with any 
changes in the fair value of the hedged item that is attributable to the hedged risk.

Cash flow hedging
Derivative financial instruments are classified as cash flow hedges when they hedge 
the Company’s exposure to variability in cash flows that are either attributable to  
a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability, or a highly probable 
forecasted transaction. 

The effective element of any gain or loss from remeasuring the derivative 
instrument is recognised directly in equity.

The associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and recognised  
in the Company Profit and Loss Account in the same period during which the 
hedged transaction affects the Company Profit and Loss Account. The classification 
of the effective portion when recognised in the Company Profit and Loss Account  
is the same as the classification of the hedged transaction. Any element of the 
re-measurement criteria of the derivative instrument which does not meet the 
criteria for an effective hedge is recognised immediately in the Company Profit  
and Loss Account.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, 
terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting or is de-designated. 
At that point in time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument 
recognised in equity is retained in equity until the forecasted transaction occurs or the 
original hedged item affects the Company Profit and Loss Account. If a forecasted 
hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss 
recognised in equity is transferred to the Company Profit and Loss Account.

Pensions
The Company participates in the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme and cannot identify  
its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme. Accordingly, as 
permitted by FRS 17 ‘Retirement Benefits’, the Company has accounted for the 
scheme as a defined contribution scheme, and the charge for the period is based 
upon the cash contributions payable.

Taxation
Corporation tax payable is provided on the taxable profit for the year, using the tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

The Company may surrender Group relief to group companies and consequently 
there may be no tax charge in the Profit and Loss Account

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated 
but not reversed at the balance sheet date and would give rise to an obligation to 
pay more or less tax in the future. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent 
that they are recoverable. They are regarded as recoverable to the extent that on 
the basis of all available evidence, it is regarded as more likely than not that there  
will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying 
timing differences can be deducted. Deferred tax is measured on a non-discounted 
basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which the timing 
differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws that have been substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date.

Basis of preparation
The Parent Company financial statements have been prepared on a going concern 
basis using the historical cost convention modified for the revaluation of certain 
financial instruments and in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles (‘UK GAAP’) and the Companies Act 2006. The Parent Company’s 
principal accounting policies have been applied consistently during the year.

The financial year represents the 53 weeks to 28 February 2015 (prior financial year 
52 weeks to 22 February 2014).

A summary of the Company’s significant accounting policies is set out below.

Exemptions
The Directors have taken advantage of the exemption available under Section 408 
of the Companies Act 2006 and not presented a Profit and Loss Account for the 
Company alone.

The Company has taken advantage of the FRS 29 ‘Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures’ exemption and not provided derivative financial instrument disclosures 
of the Company alone.

The Company is also exempt under the terms of FRS 8 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ 
from disclosing related party transactions with wholly owned entities within the 
Tesco Group.

Short-term investments
Current asset investments relate to money market deposits which are recognised 
initially at fair value, and subsequently at amortised cost. All income from these 
investments is included in the Profit and Loss Account as interest receivable and 
similar income.

Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures
Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures are stated at cost less, where 
appropriate, provisions for impairment.

Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate on the date  
of transaction. At the balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the 
balance sheet date.

Share-based payments
The fair value of employee share option plans is calculated at the grant date using 
the Black-Scholes model. The resulting cost is charged to the Profit and Loss 
Account over the vesting period. The value of the charge is adjusted to reflect 
expected and actual levels of vesting.

Where the Company awards shares or options to employees of subsidiary entities, 
this is treated as a capital contribution.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Company’s 
Balance Sheet when the Company becomes party to the contractual  
provisions of the instrument.

Debtors
Debtors are recognised initially at fair value, and subsequently at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment. 

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance 
of the contractual arrangements entered into. An equity instrument is any contract 
that gives a residual interest in the assets of the Company after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded as the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.

Borrowings
Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially recognised at the value  
of the amount received, net of attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to  
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost  
with any differences between cost and redemption value being recognised  
in the Company Profit and Loss Account over the period of the borrowings  
on an effective interest basis.

Other creditors
Other creditors are recognised initially at fair value, and subsequently at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Company uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure  
to foreign exchange and interest rate risks arising from operating, financing and 
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Note 2 Auditor remuneration 

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company and Group financial statements are disclosed in Note 3 in the Group financial statements.

Note 3 Employment costs, including Directors’ remuneration

2015
£m

2014
£m

Wages and salaries* 22 21

Social security costs 3 2

Other pension costs 2 2

Share-based payment expense 4 1

31 26

*	 The wages and salaries expense includes a recharge from Tesco Stores Limited for Board-related functions. 

The average number of employees (all Directors of the Company) during the financial year was 10 (2014: 10). 

The Schedule 5 requirements of SI 2008/410 for Directors’ remuneration are included within the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 46 to 69. 

Note 4 Dividends

For details of dividends see Note 8 in the Group financial statements.

Note 5 Investments

Shares 
in Group

undertakings
£m

Shares in 
joint  

ventures
£m

Total
£m

Cost 

At 22 February 2014 15,740 16 15,756

Additions 1,111 16 1,127

Disposals (421) (6) (427)

At 28 February 2015 16,430 26 16,456

Impairment

At 22 February 2014 2,065 – 2,065

Impairment 887 – 887

At 28 February 2015 2,952 – 2,952

Net carrying value

At 28 February 2015 13,478 26 13,504

At 22 February 2014 13,675 16 13,691

For a list of the Company’s principal operating subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures see Note 13 in the Group financial statements.

Additions include £792m investments made as part of a restructuring exercise in preperation for the sale of the Chinese operations.

Impairment includes £783m relating to the Group’s disposal of the Chinese operations and subsequent impairment of the resulting China associate. 
Refer to Note 3 in the Group financial statements for further details.

Note 6 Debtors

2015
£m

2014
£m

Amounts owed by Group undertakings* 12,061 12,378

Amounts owed by joint ventures and associates** 120 127

Other debtors 12 11

Deferred tax asset*** 55 20

12,248 12,536

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are either interest-bearing or non-interest bearing depending on the type and duration of debtor relationship.

*	 Amounts owed by Group undertakings, £nil (2014: £65m) is due after more than one year.
**	 Of amounts owed by joint ventures and associates, £112m (2014: £125m) is due after more than one year. 
***	 The deferred tax asset recognised by the Company, and the movements thereon, during the financial year are as follows:

Financial 
instruments 

£m

Other timing 
differences 

£m
Total 

£m

At 22 February 2014 20 – 20

Charge to the Profit and Loss account for the year (1) 40 39

Movement in reserves for the year (4) – (4)

At 28 February 2015 15 40 55
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Note 7 Short-term investments

2015
£m

2014
£m

Short-term investments 593 1,016

Note 8 Other creditors

2015
£m

2014
£m

Amounts falling due within one year:

Amounts owed to Group undertakings 6,558 8,898

Other creditors 39 50

Taxation and social security 4 1

Accruals and deferred income 6 4

 6,607 8,953

Amounts owed to Group undertakings are either interest-bearing or non-interest bearing depending on the type and duration of creditor relationship.

Note 9 Borrowings

Par value
Maturity

year
2015

£m
2014

£m

Bank loans and overdrafts  – – 622 658

Loans from joint ventures  – – 10 10

5% MTN £600m 2014 – 628

2.0% MTN $500m 2014 – 300

5.125% MTN €600m 2015 – 528

4% RPI MTN*  £307m 2016 313 304

5.875% MTN €1,039m 2016 872 1,011

2.7% MTN $500m 2017 325 299

5.5% USD Bond  $850m 2017 625 595

3.375% MTN €750m 2018 548 620

5.5% MTN  £350m 2019 353 352

6.125% MTN £900m 2022 895 948

5% MTN £389m 2023 407 401

3.322% LPI MTN**  £315m 2025 318 310

6% MTN  £200m 2029 261 242

5.5% MTN  £200m 2033 262 241

1.982% RPI MTN*** £261m 2036 263 256

6.15% USD Bond $1,150m 2037 917 792

4.875% MTN  £173m 2042 175 174

5.125% MTN €600m 2047 631 605

5.2% MTN  £279m 2057 275 274

Other MTNs  – – – 110

  8,072 9,658

*	 The 4% RPI MTN is redeemable at par, including indexation for increases in the RPI over the life of the MTN.
**	 The 3.322% LPI MTN is redeemable at par, including indexation for increases in the RPI over the life of the MTN. The maximum indexation of the principal in any one year is 5%,  
	 with a minimum of 0%.
***	 The 1.982% RPI MTN is redeemable at par, including indexation for increases in the RPI over the life of the MTN.

2015
£m

2014
£m

Repayment analysis:

Amounts falling due within one year 632 1,705

632 1,705

 

Amounts falling due after more than one year:

Amounts falling due between one and two years 1,510 528

Amounts falling due between two and five years 1,526 2,829

Amounts falling due after more than five years 4,404 4,596

 7,440 7,953

 8,072 9,658
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Note 10 Derivative financial instruments

The fair value of derivative financial instruments has been disclosed in the Company’s Balance Sheet as:

2015 2014

 
Asset

£m
Liability

£m
Asset

£m
Liability

£m

Amounts falling due within one year 19 (61) 64 (130)

Amounts falling due after more than one year 1,439 (635) 1,430 (703)

Total 1,458 (696) 1,494 (833)

2015 2014

 Asset Liability Asset Liability

 
Fair value

£m
Notional

£m
Fair value

£m
Notional 

£m
Fair value

£m
Notional

£m
Fair value

£m
Notional 

£m

Fair value hedges

Interest rate swaps and similar instruments 15 65 – – 61 1,065 – –

Cross-currency swaps 561 1,201 (11) 817 583 2,055 (25) 551

Cash flow hedges

Interest rate swaps and similar instruments – – (199) 400 – – (110) 400

Cross-currency swaps 242 311 (8) 483 139 287 (103) 782

Index-linked swaps 113 882 – – 86 860 – –

Forward foreign currency contracts 2 99 (1) 474 2 486 (1) 196

Derivatives in cash flow hedge and not  
in a formal relationship*

Cross-currency swaps – – – – 10 308 – –

Derivatives not in a formal hedge relationship

Index-linked swaps 508 3,339 (417) 3,339 583 3,354 (499) 3,339

Forward foreign currency contracts 17 1,361 (60) 1,285 30 828 (95) 2,085

Total 1,458 7,258 (696) 6,798 1,494 9,243 (833) 7,353

*	 These are designated as cash flow hedges and net investment hedges at Group level but for PLC financial statements are classified as cash flow hedges and ‘not in a formal 	
	 hedge relationship’. 

Note 11 Share-based payments

The Company’s equity-settled share-based payment schemes comprise various share schemes designed to reward Executive Directors. For further 
information on these schemes, including the valuation models and assumptions used, see Note 25 in the Group financial statements.

Share option schemes 
The number of options and WAEP of share option schemes relating to the Company employees are:

For the year ended 28 February 2015 

Savings-related
Share Option Scheme

Approved
Share Option Scheme

Unapproved
Share Option Scheme

Nil cost
share options

Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP

Outstanding at 22 February 2014 9,108 332.59 19,008 315.65 9,475,594 374.24 10,714,937 0.00

Granted – – – – – – 2,771,506 0.00

Forfeited (9,108) 332.59 – – (1,954,751) 402.69 (9,229,019) 0.00

Exercised – – – – (1,368,026) 315.78 (1,436,186) 0.00

Outstanding at 28 February 2015 – – 19,008 315.65 6,152,817 378.20 2,821,238 0.00

Exercisable at 28 February 2015 – – 19,008 315.65 6,152,817 378.20 631,436 0.00

 
Exercise price range (pence) – – –

312.75 to 
318.60 –

312.75 to 
473.75 – 0.00

Weighted average remaining contractual life (years) – – – 0.66 – 2.71 – 8.71

For the year ended 22 February 2014 

Savings-related
Share Option Scheme

Approved
Share Option Scheme

Unapproved
Share Option Scheme

Nil cost
share options

Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP

Outstanding at 24 February 2013 17,390 346.61 57,184 367.22 13,988,866 384.66 14,317,776 0.00

Granted 1,862 322.00 – – – – 1,978,324 0.00

Forfeited (6,292) 378.28 (38,176) 392.90 (3,577,576) 424.36 (2,550,724) 0.00

Exercised (3,852) 316.15 – – (935,696) 338.40 (3,030,439) 0.00

Outstanding at 22 February 2014 9,108 332.59 19,008 315.65 9,475,594 374.24 10,714,937 0.00

Exercisable at 22 February 2014 – – 19,008 315.65 9,475,594 374.24 4,206,723 0.00

Exercise price range (pence) – – –
312.75 to 

318.60 –
312.75 to 

473.75 – 0.00

Weighted average remaining contractual life (years) – – – 1.68 – 3.57 – 4.18
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Share bonus schemes 
The number and WAFV of share bonuses awarded during the financial year relating to the Company employees are:

2015 2014

 
Shares

number
WAFV
pence

Shares
number

WAFV
pence

Shares In Success 1,302 307.15 847 383.55

Executive Incentive Scheme – – – –

Performance Share Plan – – – –

Note 12 Pensions

The total cost of the pension scheme to the Company was £2.5m (2014 £2.3m). Further disclosure relating to the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme can be found  
in Note 26 of the Group financial statements.

Note 13 Called up share capital

2015 2014

Ordinary shares of 5p each Ordinary shares of 5p each

 Number £m Number £m

Allotted, called up and fully paid:

At beginning of the year 8,095,821,091 405 8,054,054,930 403

Share options 5,080,408 – 19,662,145 1

Share bonus awards 22,090,000 1 22,104,016 1

At end of the year 8,122,991,499 406 8,095,821,091 405

During the financial year, 5 million (2014: 20 million) ordinary shares of 5p each were issued in relation to share options for an aggregate consideration  
of £14m (2014: £61m).

During the financial year, 22 million (2014: 22 million) ordinary shares of 5p each were issued in relation to share bonus awards for an aggregate consideration 
of £1.1m (2014: £1.1m).

Between 1 March 2015 and 17 April 2015, options over 5,533 ordinary shares were exercised under the terms of the Savings-related Share Option Scheme 
(1981) and the Irish Savings-related Share Option Scheme (2000). Between 1 March 2015 and 17 April 2015, no options have been exercised under the 
Discretionary Share Option Plan (2004).

As at 28 February 2015, the Directors were authorised to purchase up to a maximum in aggregate of 810.1 million (2014: 806.5 million) ordinary shares.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at general meetings  
of the Company. 

Note 14 Reserves

2015
£m

2014
£m

Share premium account

At beginning of the year 5,080 5,020

Premium on issue of shares less costs 14 60

At end of the year 5,094 5,080

Profit and loss reserve

At beginning of the year 3,914 5,041

Share-based payments 116 54

Dividends (914) (1,189)

Net movement on cash flow hedges 15 (78)

Profit after tax for the year 3,819 86

At end of the year 6,950 3,914

Note 15 Post balance sheet events

On 20 March 2015 the Company entered into an agreement to sell its wholly owned subsidiary Tesco (Partnership) Limited, which is the holding company of the 
joint venture Tesco British Land Property Partnership, and its investment in the joint venture Tesco BL Holdings Limited to British Land Co PLC (‘British Land’). 
This formed part of the transaction in which the Group regained sole ownership of 21 stores which were previously held in a joint venture with British Land. The 
Group received British Land’s share of 21 stores and cash of £96m. In exchange, British Land took sole ownership of three shopping centres, three retail parks and 
three standalone stores which were held in the above two joint ventures between the two companies as at 28 Febuary 2015. 

Note 11 Share-based payments continued
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Report on the parent company financial statements

Our opinion
In our opinion, Tesco PLC’s parent company financial statements (the 
‘financial statements’):

•	 �give a true and fair view of the state of the parent company’s affairs  
as at 28 February 2015;

•	 �have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

•	 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006.

What we have audited
Tesco PLC’s financial statements comprise:

•	 the parent company balance sheet as at 28 February 2015; and
•	 the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of 

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Certain required disclosures have been presented elsewhere in the Annual 
Report, rather than in the notes to the financial statements. These are 
cross-referenced from the financial statements and are identified as audited.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation 
of the financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Other required reporting

Consistency of other information

Companies Act 2006 opinion
In our opinion, the information given in the Strategic Report and the 
Directors’ Report for the financial period for which the financial statements 
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

ISAs (UK & Ireland) reporting
Under International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (‘ISAs (UK & 
Ireland)’) we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, information  
in the Annual Report is:

•	 materially inconsistent with the information in the audited financial 
statements; or

•	 apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, 
our knowledge of the company acquired in the course of performing our 
audit; or

•	 otherwise misleading.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Adequacy of accounting records and information and  
explanations received
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if,  
in our opinion:

•	 we have not received all the information and explanations we require  
for our audit; or

•	 adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, 
or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches 
not visited by us; or

•	 the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report to be audited are not in agreement with the accounting records 
and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Directors’ remuneration

Directors’ remuneration report – Companies Act 2006 opinion
In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited 
has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Other Companies Act 2006 reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our 
opinion, certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are 
not made. We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and  
the audit

Our responsibilities and those of the directors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the 
directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements  
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. 

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law and ISAs (UK & Ireland).  
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s 
Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the 
company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16  
of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving 
these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to 
any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may 
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

What an audit of financial statements involves
We conducted our audit in accordance with ISAs (UK & Ireland). An audit 
involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused 
by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:

•	 whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the parent company’s 
circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately 
disclosed;

•	 the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the 
directors; and 

•	 the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing the directors’ 
judgements against available evidence, forming our own judgements,  
and evaluating the disclosures in the financial statements.

We test and examine information, using sampling and other auditing 
techniques, to the extent we consider necessary to provide a reasonable 
basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtain audit evidence through testing 
the effectiveness of controls, substantive procedures or a combination  
of both. 

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the 
Annual Report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial 
statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially 
incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired 
by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any 
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the 
implications for our report.

Other matter

We have reported separately on the group financial statements of Tesco PLC 
for the period ended 28 February 2015. 

Mark Gill (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London
5 May 2015

Independent auditors’ report to the members of Tesco PLC
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Q1 
2014/15

Q2 
2014/15

Q3 
2014/15

Q4 
2014/15

H1 
2014/15

H2 
2014/15

FY 
2014/15

Including Fuel:

UK (2.0)% (3.2)% (1.7)% 0.2% (2.6)% (0.8)% (1.7)%

Asia (8.9)% (6.4)% (2.5)% 1.4% (8.4)% 0.3% (4.1)%

Europe (7.1)% (10.5)% (8.7)% (7.5)% (9.3)% (7.6)% (8.5)%

International (8.0)% (8.4)% (5.6)% (3.0)% (8.8)% (3.6)% (6.2)%

Tesco Bank 3.6% 5.8% 2.7% (3.5)% 4.6% (0.4)% 2.1%

Group (3.7)% (4.7)% (2.8)% (0.9)% (4.4)% (1.7)% (3.0)%

Excluding Fuel:

UK (1.7)% (3.3)% (2.6)% 0.6% (2.5)% (1.0)% (1.8)%

Asia (8.9)% (6.4)% (2.5)% 1.4% (8.4)% 0.3% (4.1)%

Europe (6.9)% (10.3)% (8.6)% (6.7)% (9.1)% (7.2)% (8.1)%

International (8.0)% (8.3)% (5.5)% (2.6)% (8.7)% (3.3)% (6.0)%

Tesco Bank 3.6% 5.8% 2.7% (3.5)% 4.6% (0.4)% 2.1%

Group (3.8)% (4.9)% (3.5)% (0.6)% (4.5)% (1.8)% (3.2)%

Total sales performance at constant rates (52 week year)*

Q1 
2014/15

Q2 
2014/15

Q3 
2014/15

Q4 
2014/15

H1 
2014/15

H2 
2014/15

FY 
2014/15

Including Fuel:

UK (2.0)% (3.2)% (1.7)% 0.2% (2.6)% (0.8)% (1.7)%

Asia 1.5% (0.9)% (1.7)% (2.4)% (0.5)% (1.3)% (0.9)%

Europe (0.7)% (1.9)% (0.6)% 0.6% (1.8)% 0.7% (0.6)%

International 0.5% (1.4)% (1.1)% (0.9)% (1.1)% (0.3)% (0.7)%

Tesco Bank 3.6% 5.8% 2.7% (3.5)% 4.6% (0.4)% 2.1%

Group (1.2)% (2.5)% (1.5)% (0.2)% (2.0)% (0.6)% (1.3)%

Excluding Fuel:

UK (1.7)% (3.3)% (2.6)% 0.6% (2.5)% (1.0)% (1.8)%

Asia 1.5% (0.9)% (1.7)% (2.4)% (0.5)% (1.3)% (0.9)%

Europe (0.6)% (1.6)% (0.3)% 1.4% (1.6)% 1.2% (0.2)%

International 0.5% (1.2)% (1.0)% (0.5)% (1.0)% (0.1)% (0.6)%

Tesco Bank 3.6% 5.8% 2.7% (3.5)% 4.6% (0.4)% 2.1%

Group (0.9)% (2.5)% (2.0)% 0.1% (1.9)% (0.7)% (1.3)%
*	� Growth rates are shown on a continuing operations basis. Quarterly growth rates are based on comparable days for the current year and the previous year comparison. Half 

1 growth rates are based on comparable days for the current year and the previous year comparison for the UK and the Republic of Ireland. All other countries are for 177 
days ended 24 August 2014 compared to 178 days ended 25 August 2013. Half 2 growth rates are based on comparable days for the current year and the previous year 
comparison for the UK and the Republic of Ireland. All other countries are for 188 days ended 28 February 2015 compared to 187 days ended 28 February 2014. Growth 
rates shown are on an excluding week 53 basis for the UK and Republic of Ireland and exclude the 7 days ended 28 February 2015. 

Total sales performance at actual rates (52 week year)*
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Q1 
2014/15

Q2 
2014/15

Q3 
2014/15

Q4 
2014/15

H1 
2014/15

H2 
2014/15

FY 
2014/15

UK (3.7)% (5.4)% (4.2)% (1.0)% (4.6)% (2.6)% (3.6)%

 inc. VAT, inc. fuel (3.8)% (5.0)% (3.2)% (1.3)% (4.4)% (2.2)% (3.3)%

 exc. VAT, exc. fuel (3.8)% (5.5)% (4.4)% (1.2)% (4.6)% (2.8)% (3.7)%

 exc. VAT, exc. fuel, IFRIC 13 compliant (4.0)% (5.5)% (5.1)% (1.7)% (4.8)% (3.4)% (4.1)%

Asia (3.2)% (4.9)% (5.0)% (4.7)% (4.1)% (4.8)% (4.4)%

 Malaysia (2.3)% (6.8)% (8.7)% (3.6)% (4.7)% (6.0)% (5.3)%

 South Korea (2.8)% (4.7)% (4.0)% (4.4)% (3.8)% (4.2)% (4.0)%

 Thailand (5.3)% (4.7)% (4.5)% (3.3)% (5.0)% (3.8)% (4.4)%

Europe (1.0)% (2.5)% (1.2)% 1.0% (1.8)% 0.0% (0.8)%

 Czech Republic 1.6% 1.3% 2.9% 6.5% 1.5% 4.9% 3.2%

 Hungary** 2.7% (0.6)% 1.4% 4.7% 1.0% 3.2% 2.1%

 Poland 0.5% (2.4)% (2.5)% (1.2)% (1.0)% (1.8)% (1.4)%

 Slovakia (5.8)% (4.6)% (2.1)% 0.6% (5.2)% (0.6)% (2.8)%

 Turkey 3.4% 3.6% 6.7% 13.8% 3.5% 10.9% 7.0%

 Republic of Ireland (5.5)% (7.3)% (6.2)% (6.3)% (6.4)% (6.3)% (6.3)%

International (2.2)% (3.7)% (3.1)% (1.9)% (3.0)% (2.4)% (2.7)%

Group (3.2)% (4.8)% (3.8)% (1.3)% (4.0)% (2.5)% (3.3)%
*	 Like-for-Like growth shown on a continuing operations basis.
**	 Following the introduction of legislation preventing large retailers from selling tobacco in mid-July 2013, Hungary Like-for-Like growth is shown on an excluding tobacco 	
	 basis. Including tobacco sales, in 2014/15, Q1 was 0.0%, Q2 was (2.0)%, H1 was (1.1)% and FY was 1.1%.

Sales performance (inc. fuel, exc. IFRIC 13)

Sales growth (inc. VAT) Revenue (exc. VAT)

Constant rates Actual rates

Continuing operations
Like-for-Like

%

Net new 
stores 

%
Total

%
Total

%

In local 
currency

 m £m

Average 
exchange 

rate

Closing 
exchange 

rate

Including Fuel:

UK* (3.3)% 1.6% (1.7)% (1.7)% 42,778 42,778 n/a n/a

Malaysia (5.3)% 2.4% (2.9)% (9.7)% 4,536 841 5.393 5.556

South Korea (4.0)% 2.2% (1.8)% (1.6)% 9,253,377 5,383 1,719 1,693

Thailand (4.4)% 5.8% 1.4% (5.8)% 190,944 3,615 52.82 49.83

Czech Republic 2.2% (1.0)% 1.2% (9.5)% 40,808 1,175 34.73 37.83

Hungary** 2.1% (0.8)% 1.3% (8.3)% 569,644 1,461 389.9 417.6

Poland (1.4)% 1.1% (0.3)% (6.4)% 11,162 2,114 5.280 5.720

Slovakia (3.1)% 1.4% (1.7)% (7.7)% 1,318 1,047 1.259 1.377

Turkey 4.3% 1.0% 5.3% (9.1)% 2,223 617 3.603 3.879

Republic of Ireland* (6.4)% 1.4% (5.0)% (10.8)% 2,556 2,030 1.259 1.377
*	 Total growth rates shown are on an exc. week 53 basis for the UK and Republic of Ireland and exclude the 7 days ended 28 February 2015. 
**	 Following the introduction of legislation preventing large retailers from selling tobacco in mid-July 2013, Hungary Like-for-Like growth is shown on an excluding tobacco basis.

Like-for-Like sales performance (inc. VAT, exc. Fuel)*
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UK sales area by size of store

Store size February 2015 February 2014

sq. ft. No. of stores Million sq. ft. % of total sq. ft. No. of stores Million sq. ft. % of total sq. ft.

0–3,000 2,557 5.3 12.5% 2,378 5.0 12.0%

3,001–20,000 321 4.0 9.5% 322 4.1 9.7%

20,001–40,000 306 9.1 21.5% 305 9.1 21.8%

40,001–60,000 195 10.4 24.5% 193 10.2 24.4%

60,001–80,000 123 7.9 18.7% 121 7.7 18.5%

80,001–100,000 45 4.1 9.6% 45 4.1 9.8%

Over 100,000 14 1.6 3.7% 14 1.6 3.8%

Total* 3,561 42.4 100.0% 3,378 41.8 100.0%
*	 Including franchise stores.
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Actual Group space – store numbers

2013/14
year end

2014/15
year end Net gain

Openings Closures /
Disposals

Repurposing /
Extensions(a)

% of Group
at year end(b)H1 H2

Extra 247 250 3 1 2 – 4 3.2%

Homeplus 12 11 (1) – – (1) – 0.1%

Superstore 482 487 5 2 6 (3) – 6.2%

Metro 195 191 (4) – – (4) – 2.5%

Express 1,672 1,735 63 38 28 (3) – 22.2%

Dotcom only 6 6 – – – – – 0.1%

Total Tesco(c) 2,614 2,680 66 41 36 (11) 4 34.3%

One Stop 722 770 48 26 28 (6) – 9.9%

Dobbies 34 35 1 – 1 – – 0.4%

Total UK(c) 3,370 3,485 115 67 65 (17) 4 44.6%

Malaysia 49 54 5 1 4 – 7 0.7%

South Korea 433 425 (8) – 2 (11) 8 5.4%

Thailand 1,737 1,759 22 53 4 (35) 4 22.5%

Asia(c) 2,219 2,238 19 54 10 (46) 19 28.6%

Czech Republic 211 209 (2) – – (2) 1 2.7%

Hungary 220 209 (11) 1 1 (13) – 2.7%

Poland 455 449 (6) 4 3 (13) 4 5.7%

Slovakia 150 155 5 4 1 – – 2.0%

Turkey 192 173 (19) 3 – (22) – 2.2%

Republic of Ireland 146 149 3 2 3 (2) – 1.9%

Europe(c) 1,374 1,344 (30) 14 8 (52) 5 17.2%

International(c) 3,593 3,582 (11) 68 18 (98) 24 45.8%

Group(c) 6,963 7,067 104 135 83 (115) 28 90.4%

South Korea Franchise 198 543 345 178 193 (25) (1) 6.9%

Czech Franchise 136 131 (5) – – (5) – 1.7%

One Stop (UK) Franchise 8 76 68 22 50 (4) – 1.0%

Total Franchise 342 750 408 200 243 (34) (1) 9.6%

Group(d) 7,305 7,817 512 335 326 (149) 27 100.0%
(a)	 Extensions/repurposed stores are not included in the net gain for ‘number of stores’, since they are expansions/reductions in the space of existing stores. South Korea and 	
	 South Korea Franchise totals include one store conversion that is therefore included in the net gain for ‘number of stores’.
(b)	 Based on Group including franchise stores.
(c)	 Excluding franchise stores.
(d)	 Including franchise stores.

Group space summary 

151Tesco PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements 2015

O
th

er in
fo

rm
atio

n
G

overnance
Financial statem

ents
Strategic report



Actual Group space – ‘000 sq. ft.
 

2013/14
year end

2014/15
year end Net gain

Openings Closures /
Disposals

Repurposing /
Extensions

% of Group
at year end*H1 H2

Extra 17,610 17,763 153 74 125 – (46) 16.1%

Homeplus 523 488 (35) – – (35) – 0.4%

Superstore 14,110 14,254 144 60 171 (87) – 12.9%

Metro 2,191 2,150 (41) – – (41) – 1.9%

Express 3,883 4,030 147 91 64 (8) – 3.7%

Dotcom only 716 716 – – – – – 0.7%

Total Tesco** 39,033 39,401 368 225 360 (171) (46) 35.7%

One Stop 1,142 1,235 93 51 52 (10) – 1.1%

Dobbies 1,638 1,648 10 – 10 – – 1.5%

Total UK** 41,813 42,284 471 276 422 (181) (46) 38.3%

Malaysia 4,029 4,025 (4) 43 121 – (168) 3.6%

South Korea 13,583 13,447 (136) – 70 (29) (177) 12.2%

Thailand 15,585 15,712 127 215 132 (78) (142) 14.2%

Asia** 33,197 33,184 (13) 258 323 (107) (487) 30.0%

Czech Republic 5,704 5,653 (51) – – (15) (36) 5.1%

Hungary 7,288 7,026 (262) 3 2 (267) – 6.4%

Poland 9,714 9,736 22 83 53 (76) (38) 8.8%

Slovakia 3,900 3,928 28 22 6 – – 3.6%

Turkey 3,984 3,663 (321) 67 – (388) – 3.3%

Republic of Ireland 3,477 3,560 83 72 44 (33) – 3.2%

Europe** 34,067 33,566 (501) 247 105 (779) (74) 30.4%

International** 67,264 66,750 (514) 505 428 (886) (561) 60.4%

Group** 109,077 109,034 (43) 781 850 (1,067) (607) 98.7%

South Korea Franchise 356 1,216 860 494 445 (78) (1) 1.1%

Czech Franchise 129 122 (7) – – (7) – 0.1%

One Stop (UK) Franchise 10 102 92 29 68 (5) – 0.1%

Total Franchise 495 1,440 945 523 513 (90) (1) 1.3%

Group*** 109,572 110,474 902 1,304 1,363 (1,157) (608) 100.0%
*	 Based on Group including franchise stores.
**	 Excluding franchise stores.
***	 Including franchise stores.

Group space summary continued
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Group space forecast to 27 February 2016 – ‘000 sq. ft.
 

2014/15
year end

2015/16
year end Net gain

Openings Closures /
Disposals

Repurposing /
Extensions

% of Group
at year end*H1 H2

Extra 17,763 17,890 127 – 127 – – 16.2%

Homeplus 488 297 (191) – – (191) – 0.3%

Superstore 14,254 14,067 (187) 16 – (203) – 12.7%

Metro 2,150 2,036 (114) – 20 (134) – 1.8%

Express 4,030 4,089 59 35 69 (45) – 3.7%

Dotcom only 716 716 – – – – – 0.6%

Total Tesco** 39,401 39,095 (306) 51 216 (573) – 35.3%

One Stop 1,235 1,298 63 43 28 (8) – 1.2%

Dobbies 1,648 1,678 30 30 – – – 1.5%

Total UK** 42,284 42,071 (213) 124 244 (581) – 38.0%

Malaysia 4,025 4,155 130 54 76 – – 3.8%

South Korea 13,447 13,065 (382) – 108 – (490) 11.8%

Thailand 15,712 15,916 204 165 39 – – 14.4%

Asia** 33,184 33,136 (48) 219 223 – (490) 30.0%

Czech Republic 5,653 5,572 (81) – – (81) – 5.0%

Hungary 7,026 7,026 – – – – – 6.3%

Poland 9,736 9,612 (124) – – (124) – 8.7%

Slovakia 3,928 3,973 45 28 17 – – 3.6%

Turkey 3,663 3,610 (53) – 5 (58) – 3.3%

Republic of Ireland 3,560 3,560 – – – – – 3.2%

Europe** 33,566 33,353 (213) 28 22 (263) – 30.1%

International** 66,750 66,489 (261) 247 245 (263) (490) 60.1%

Group** 109,034 108,560 (474) 371 489 (844) (490) 98.1%

South Korea Franchise 1,216 1,642 426 181 245 – – 1.5%

Czech Franchise 122 95 (27) – – (27) – 0.1%

One Stop (UK) Franchise 102 352 250 131 119 – – 0.3%

Total Franchise 1,440 2,089 649 312 364 (27) – 1.9%

Group*** 110,474 110,649 175 683 853 (871) (490) 100.0%
*	 Based on Group including franchise stores.
**	 Excluding franchise stores.
***	 Including franchise stores.

Group space summary continued
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Income Statement
2014/15*

£m
2013/14

£m

Revenue

Interest receivable and similar income 537 507 

Fees and commissions receivable 487 496 

1,024 1,003 

Direct Costs

Interest payable (153) (149)

Fees and commissions payable (29) (29)

(182) (178)

Gross profit 842 825 

Other expenses:

Staff costs (152) (146)

Premises and equipment (90) (87)

Other administrative expenses (272) (266)

Depreciation and amortisation (excluding amortisation of intangibles arising on acquisition) (81) (71)

(595) (570)

Trading profit before provisions for bad and doubtful debts 247 255 

Provisions for bad and doubtful debts (53) (61)

Trading profit 194 194 

Deduct: Tesco Bank intangibles** (5) (12)

Restructuring and other one-off items*** (35) (63)

Deduct: management charges (1) (1)

Deduct: IAS 17 Leasing charge (1) –

Operating profit 152 118 

Net finance costs: Movements on derivatives and hedge accounting (19) 6 

Net finance costs: interest (4) (6)

Share of profit of joint ventures and associates 5 2 

Profit before tax 134 120 
*	 These results are for the 12 months ended 28 February 2015 and the previous year comparison is made with the 12 months ended 28 February 2014.
**	 Tesco Bank intangibles relate to the non-cash amortisation of intangible assets that were recognised on acquisition. 
***	 �Restructuring and other one-off items in 2014/15 includes an increase on PPI provision of £27m and restructure costs of £8m.

The above is not a primary statement, nor a note to the financial statements and does not form part of the Group Income Statement. It is supplementary information to aid 
understanding of our non retail business. 

Tesco Bank income statement 
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Financial year end 2014/15 28 February 2015

Annual General Meeting/1Q interim management statement 26 June 2015

Half-year end 2015/16 29 August 2015

Interim results 7 October 2015

3Q and Christmas interim management statement 14 January 2016

Financial year end 2015/16 27 February 2016

Please note that these dates are provisional and subject to change, with the exception of the financial year end.

Capex % of sales
Capital expenditure as defined below, divided by Group sales including  
VAT and excluding IFRIC 13. 

Capital expenditure
The additions to property, plant and equipment, investment property and 
intangible assets (excluding assets acquired under business combinations).

Constant tax rate  
Using the prior year’s effective tax rate.

EBITDAR
Operating profit before depreciation, amortisation, rent and movements  
in impairments of property, plant and equipment, investment property and 
intangible assets.

Fixed charge cover
The ratio of EBITDAR (excluding Tesco Bank EBITDAR) divided by financing 
costs (net interest including capitalised interest and excluding IAS 32 and 39 
impacts and pension finance costs) plus operating lease expenses.

Free cash flow
Free cash flow is net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities less 
capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment, investment property 
and intangible assets.

Gearing
Net debt divided by total equity.

Growth in sales
The YoY% movement in sales for continuing operations excluding VAT 
excluding PFS and excluding IFRIC 13 for 52 weeks at constant fx rates.

Growth in trading profit
The YoY% movement in trading profit for continuing operations for 52 weeks 
at constant fx rates.

Loyal customers
Loyal customers are defined based on their frequency of spend and average 
weekly spend in our stores and online shopping over eight weeks.

Net debt
Net debt excludes the net debt of Tesco Bank but includes that of the 
discontinued operations. Net debt comprises bank and other borrowings, 
finance lease payables, net derivative financial instruments, joint venture 
loans and other receivables and net interest receivables/payables, offset by 
cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments.

Net indebtedness
The ratio of total indebtedness divided by EBITDAR (excluding Tesco Bank 
EBITDAR) from continuing operations.

Retail cash flow
Cash generated from/(used in) operations for retail activities.

Return on capital employed
Return divided by the average of opening and closing capital employed. 

Return
Profit (excluding the impact of one-off items) before interest after tax 
(applied at effective rate of tax).

Capital employed
Net assets (excluding the impact of one-off items) plus net debt plus 
dividend creditor less net assets held for resale and discontinued operations.

Total indebtedness
Net debt plus the IAS19 deficit in the pension schemes (net of associated 
deferred tax) plus the present value of future minimum rentals payable under 
non-cancellable operating leases.

Total shareholder return
The notional annualised return from a share, measured as the percentage 
change in the share price, plus the dividends paid with the gross dividends 
reinvested in Tesco shares. This is measured over both a one and five-year 
period. For example, five-year total shareholder return for 2013/14 is the 
annualised growth in the share price from 2008/09 and dividends paid and 
reinvested in Tesco shares, as a percentage of the 2008/09 share price.

Trading profit
Trading profit is an adjusted measure of operating profit and measures the 
performance of each segment before profits/losses arising on property-related 
items, the impact on leases of annual uplifts in rent and rent-free periods, 
intangible asset amortisation charges and costs arising from acquisitions, and 
goodwill impairment and restructuring and other one-off costs. The IAS 19 
pension charge is replaced with the ‘normal’ cash contributions for pensions. 
An adjustment is also made for the fair value of customer loyalty awards.

Underlying diluted earnings per share
Underlying profit less tax at the effective tax rate and non-controlling interest 
divided by the diluted weighted average number of shares in issue during  
the year.

Underlying net interest
Underlying net interest, as included in underlying profit, excludes net pension 
finance costs and IAS 39 ‘Finance Instruments’ – fair value measurements. 

Underlying profit before tax
Underlying profit before tax excludes the impact of non-cash elements of IAS 
17, 19, 32 and 39 (principally the impact of annual uplifts in rents and rent-free 
periods, pension costs, and the marking to market of financial instruments); 
the amortisation charge on intangible assets arising on acquisition and 
acquisition costs, and the non-cash impact of IFRIC 13. It also excludes profits/
losses on property-related items and restructuring and other one-off costs.

Glossary
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2011(b) 2012(a) 2013 2014 2015(q)

Financial statistics (£m)

Sales including VAT excluding IFRIC 13 67,074 71,402 70,712 70,894 69,654

Revenue excluding IFRIC 13

UK 40,766 42,803 43,582 43,570 43,573

Europe 9,192 9,866 9,319 9,267 8,515

Asia 9,802 10,828 10,045 10,309 9,884

US 495 – – – –

Tesco Bank 919 1,044 1,021 1,003 1,024

Group revenue excluding IFRIC 13 61,174 64,541 63,967 64,149 62,996

Trading profit

UK 2,504 2,478 2,272 2,191 467

Europe 527 529 329 238 164

Asia 605 737 733 692 565

US (186) – – – –

Tesco Bank 264 225 191 194 194

Group trading profit 3,714 3,969 3,525 3,315 1,390

Operating profit(c) 3,917 4,182 2,382 2,631 (5,792)

Operating profit margin(c) 6.4% 6.5% 3.7% 4.1% (9.2%)

Share of post-tax profits/(losses) of joint ventures and associates 57 91 72 60 (13)

Net finance costs (333) (235) (397) (432) (571)

Profit/(loss) before tax 3,641 4,038 2,057 2,259 (6,376)

Taxation (864) (874) (529) (347) 657

Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations 2,777 3,164 1,528 1,912 (5,719)

Discontinued operations (106) (350) (1,504) (942) (47)

Profit/(loss) for the year 2,671 2,814 24 970 (5,766)

Attributable to:

�Owners of the parent 2,655 2,806 28 974 (5,741)

Non-controlling interests 16 8 (4) (4) (25)

Underlying profit before tax – continuing operations(d) 3,853(o) 4,149(o) 3,280 3,054 961

Other financial statistics

Diluted earnings/(losses) per share – continuing operations 34.25p 39.23p 19.06p 23.72p (70.24)p

Underlying diluted earnings per share – continuing operations 36.26p 40.31p 33.74p 32.05p 9.42p

Dividend per share(e) 14.46p 14.76p 14.76p 14.76p 1.16p

Return on capital employed (‘ROCE’)(f) 12.9%(h) 14.7%(i) 14.5%(p) 13.6%(p) 4.1%

Total shareholder return(g) 6.7%  (3.0)% 2.1% 3.7% (9.5)%

Net debt (£m) 6,790 6,838 6,597 6,597 8,481

Enterprise value (£m)(j) 39,462 32,324 36,578 33,597 28,415

Group retail statistics

Number of stores 5,265(k) 6,049 6,653 7,305 7,817

Total sales area – 000 sq. ft.(l) 103,172(k) 110,563 106,040 109,572 110,474

Average employees 488,347 514,615 506,856 510,444 506,984

Average full-time equivalent employees 382,049 401,791 388,375 391,868 386,086

UK retail statistics

Number of stores 2,715 2,979 3,146 3,378 3,561

Total sales area – 000 sq. ft.(l) 36,722 39,082 40,495 41,823 42,236

Average full-time equivalent employees 200,966 205,852 213,304 217,158 215,747

Revenue per employee – £(m) 202,850 207,931 204,319 200,637 201,963

Weekly sales per sq. ft. – £(n) 24.95 24.86 24.15 23.33 22.41
(a)	 �Excludes Japan and the US.
(b)�	 Excludes Japan.
(c)	 �Operating profit includes restructuring costs and profit arising on sale of fixed assets. Operating margin is based upon revenue excluding IFRIC 13.
(d)�	 See glossary for definitions. 
(e)�	 Dividend per share relating to the interim and proposed final dividend.
(f)�	 See glossary for definitions. 
(g)��	 See glossary for definitions. Measured over a 5 year period.
(h)	 Includes Japan and the US.
(i)	 Includes the US.
(j)	 Market capitalisation plus net debt.
(k)	 Includes franchise stores but excludes Japan.
(l)	 Store sizes exclude lobby and restaurant areas.	
(m)	 Based on average number of full-time equivalent employees in the UK and revenue excluding IFRIC 13.
(n)	 Based on weighted average sales area and average weekly sales, excluding Dobbies stores.
(o)	 Includes profits/losses on property-related items.
(p)	 Excludes China.
(q)	 53 weeks.

Five-year record
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